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AGENDA
1. Call to Order: Reminder to turn off your cell phones
2. Invocation: For those who wish to join, please rise for the invocation.
3. Pledge of Allegiance
4. Roll Call
5. Citizen’s Input: Anyone wishing to address the Board during this portion should state their name
for the record. Each citizen is allowed up to two minutes to express their opinion.
6. Additions and/or Deletions to the Agenda
7. Consent Agenda: All matters listed under this item are considered routine and action will be
accomplished by one motion without separate discussion of each item. If discussion is desired by a
Commissioner, item(s) will be removed from the Consent Agenda and considered separately.
Secretary/Treasurer
Minutes Workshop – February 03, 2021
Minutes Regular Meeting – February 18, 2021
Minutes Emergency Meeting – February 22, 2021
CEO
Tie-Down Agreement – The Tie-Down Agreement has been updated by Staff and
Attorney Carr.
Staff Recommended Action: Board approve updated Tie-Down Agreement as
presented.
8. Secretary/Treasurer’s Report
a. Accounts Receivables
b. Income Statement
c. Balance Sheet

Mr. Hancik
Mr. Parish
Mr. Parish
Mr. Parish

9. Liaison Reports
a. Punta Gorda City Council
b. Board of County Commissioners
c. Metropolitan Planning Organization/Economic Development
d. Community
e. State Legislation

Mr. Hancik
Mr. Andrews
Chair Herston
Mrs. Coppola
Mrs. Oliver

10. Attorney’s Report
a. Update on Ethics Training
b. Vasey Aviation Group, LLC

Attorney Carr

11. CEO’s Report
a. Development Update
b. Marketing Update (provided in packet)
c. Aviation Report

Mr. Parish
Mr. Ridenour
Mrs. Miller
Mr. Mallard

12. Old Business
a. Service Plaza Site

Mr. Parish

13. New Business
a. Audit Presentation
b. 2021, 2022 and 2023 Air Show Agreement
c. EG Solutions Agreement Amendment – Wetland Mitigation Phase 2
d. Change Order for New General Aviation Center
e. Diversification of Revenue Streams
14. Commissioner’s Comments
15. Adjournment

Mr. Parish
Mr. Parish
Mr. Parish
Mr. Parish
Mrs. Oliver

Agenda items for March 18, 2021 Meeting
A copy of all the attachments are at www.flypgd.com/airport-authority/meeting-minutes-and-agendas/
12. Old Business
a. Service Plaza Site – A proposal has been received for the site location located at the corner of
Piper Road and Viking Avenue.
Staff Recommended Action: Board approve use of a Request for Proposals for the service plaza
site.
13. New Business
a. Audit Presentation – Presented by Tuscan & Company.
Staff Recommended Action: Board approve Audit report.
b. 2021, 2022 and 2023 Air Show Agreement – An agreement has been created with the Florida
International Air Show (FIAS) for 2021, 2022, and 2023.
Staff Recommended Action: Board approve FIAS agreement as presented.
c. EG Solutions Agreement Amendment – Wetland Mitigation Phase 2 - This amendment
includes design, permitting, bidding, construction and closeout engineering services for Phase 2 of
the Wetland Mitigation project. Phase 1 has been completed filling approximately 14 acres of
wetlands. This phase will fill approximately 35 acres of wetlands.
Staff Recommended Action: Board approve CEO Parish to execute the contract with EG
Solutions.
d. Changer Order for New General Aviation Center - This change order addresses an unforeseen
condition of an existing utility force main that conflicts new drainage culvert installations. It was
found that the existing force main is ductile iron material, has been in place for several years and
cannot be supported with traditional bracing so it must be replaced.
In addition, this change order addresses SWFWMD permitting conditions to add side drains,
revisions to drainage structures and adding inlets from the Phase 2 General Aviation Terminal
project that need to be included as part of Phase 1 General Aviation Ramp and Taxiway.
Details of the negotiations are on file at the Airport Administration Office.
Staff Recommended Action: Board allow CEO Parish to execute change order with Ajax Paving
Industries FL, LLC in the amount of $108,425.14.
e. Diversification of Revenue Streams – It was requested that this item be added to the Agenda by
Commissioner Oliver.
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1. Call to Order
2.
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Invocation
Chair Herston gave the invocation.

3. Pledge of Allegiance
4. Roll Call

15

20

Present: Chair Herston; Commissioners Andrews, Hancik and Oliver; Attorney Carr; CEO
Parish; Mrs. Paglialunga; Mr. Mallard; Mrs. Miller; Mr. Laroche; Mrs. Cauley (via video); Mr.
Ridenour (via video); Ms. Desguin (via video), and Mr. Laliberte (via video). Others present:
Mike Nelson; Joe Makray; Jim Lyons; Stan Smith; Richard Pitz; Allan Stern; Jim Kaletta (via
video); Gary Duncan (via video); Sarah Beaver (via video), others from the private sector, and
a member of the press. Absent: Commissioner Coppola.
5. Citizen’s Input
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6. Gulf Contours Lease
Mr. Parish commented that lease terminates on August 31, 2021 and information was provided to
the Board yesterday on the current status of the building, rent, and taxes. Commissioner Hancik
inquired if a decision can be made at this meeting. Attorney Carr commented that within the Board’s
Bylaws, paragraph 4c say that the Board cannot take any action that affects policy or general
procedure at this meeting as it has been noticed as a Workshop. Commissioner Hancik commented
that the Board received letters from Gulf Contours, that he understands the history, and opined that
an appropriate response should be given to Mr. Goin in response to his letter. He commented that
he is interested in finding out what the intention is for the Gulf Contours building once it is vacated.
Mr. Parish commented that it is a high traffic area as the building is next to the fuel farm, where
there are currently six to eight fuel loads being delivered and 12 to 14 Airport tankers being filled
daily. He commented that the building was originally built to be a maintenance facility for the
Airport and that as Staff is transferred to the new FBO, there is not a location to stage fuel trucks
as they cannot be moved across the runways and are not street legal. He commented that the current
Gulf Contours lease was signed with the intention to use that facility at the end of the lease for the
fuelers and that in the absence of the ability to use that building, something will need to be built in
the general vicinity for Staff to work out of. Commissioner Hancik commented that at one time it
was proposed to use the building as an airfield maintenance building. Mr. Parish commented that
the remainder of the building not being used by the fuelers will be used for airfield maintenance.
Commissioner Hancik commented that within the master plan there is a new airfield maintenance
facility, that he has been inside of the Gulf Contours building and opined that it is not much of a
building. Mr. Parish commented that the building was purposely built as an Airport maintenance
facility. Commissioner Hancik commented that at some point a new Airport maintenance facility
will be built and opined that it should be reviewed to speed up the project to build an appropriate
facility. He opined that if any Commissioner has not visited the existing maintenance building, he
suggests they do so as it is an eye opener to what is needed. Mr. Parish commented that he does
agree with Commissioner Hancik although there are currently 18 projects underway before two
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new hangars are added to the list. He commented that even if the maintenance facility project is
sped up, it is at least three years down the road. Chair Herston inquired what the required square
footage is that is needed. Mr. Parish commented that a true study would need to be completed to
answer that. He commented that one thing that the Airport does not benefit from is a snow removal
storage area that airports in the north get to utilize, that mowing grass is not equal to snow removal,
that the Airport cannot receive AIP grants for tractors as they are not used to remove snow, and that
tractors are not meant to be stored inside for the same reason. He opined that the issue now is really
a fuel issue as the fuel farm needs to be expanded, which Allegiant has agreed to pay for, and that
it will have to happen in the next few years, if not sooner if air travel returns to normal. He
commented that four years ago when the fuel farm plans began, it was assumed that at the end of
the Gulf Contours lease it would revert back to the Airport. He commented that at the time of the
last lease, Mr. Goin requested a two-year lease, but Staff provided a two-year lease with a two-year
extension option instead to ensure there was enough time if necessary. Chair Herston confirmed
with Mr. Parish that the expiration of the current lease, which is the end of the two-year option, is
August 31, 2021. Chair Herston inquired if Mr. Goin is current on his rent. Mr. Parish commented
that he is not. Chair Herston inquired if Mr. Goin is in violation of his lease. Attorney Carr
commented that he is in three ways, and has been notified of such, as he is delinquent on his rent,
delinquent on his taxes, and has failed and refused to fix the fire damage that occurred in October.
Chair Herston inquired if there is any remedy in the lease for violation of any of the terms. Attorney
Carr commented that there is always remedy of declaring default and moving for eviction and
opined that with the lease ending in a few months, it may not be feasible or necessary. He
commented that he has tried desperately to keep Mr. Goin current and on notice associated with the
termination as he reminds Mr. Goin in every email of when his lease ends. Chair Herston
commented that for clarity purposes, August 31, 2021 is the end of Gulf Contours two-year option.
Attorney Carr commented that Mr. Goin had an original lease that terminated about five-years ago,
that a year was spend in debate with the Board and Mr. Parish to renew the lease, and that at that
time, Mr. Parish wanted to use the facility for the same purposes stated today. He commented that
he was engaged to aid Ms. Desguin in dealing with Mr. Goin and that a two-year lease was
negotiated as it is all Mr. Goin stated he needed to sell his business. He commented that almost at
the conclusion of that negotiation Mr. Goin requested a two-year option to be added as he wanted
to have additional time if needed, and that it was agreed upon that the option was at the Airport’s
discretion, not Mr. Goin’s. He commented that Mr. Goin then came to the Board requesting the
optional renewal period with the same reasons as today in which the Board agreed and advised Mr.
Goin that absolutely under no circumstances would the lease be renewed at the end. He commented
that it does say that in the lease that he signed. Chair Herston inquired if the premise is vacated on
August 31 if the building will be moved forward as described. Mr. Parish commented that the
building would be used for fuel truck staging as soon as it is vacated. He commented that as soon
as the new FBO is open, the jet trucks that service Allegiant need a new home. Chair Herston
inquired what the current square footage of the building is. Mr. Parish commented 8,400 square
feet, that all buildings are appraised at the termination of a lease, that the building has been
appraised, that the new rent on a new agreement for the building would be $6,700 per month, and
that the rent is currently $3,983 per month. Commissioner Hancik opined that since Mr. Goin sent
a letter concerning his lease that a response should be sent. Chair Herston commented that no
actions can be taken today and that if a letter is desired to be sent, Attorney Carr should be provided
direction as to how the Board would like to respond. Commissioner Andrews opined that Mr. Goin
has known for quite a while. Attorney Carr commented that Mr. Goin has been aware of the lease
termination for five-years. Commissioner Andrews opined that based upon everything he has seen
including the violations, he would like to move on as planned to not renew the lease after the
expiration. Chair Herston requested that Attorney Carr discuss the situation of a potential stay over
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where a lease expires, and the tenant does not vacate. Attorney Carr opined that it is possible that
Mr. Goin could attempt to hold over, meaning that he could try to continue occupying the building
after the lease expiration, resulting in legal action being required to remove Mr. Goin and his
equipment. Chair Herston inquired if there are any term in the lease that would escalate the rent at
that point. Mr. Parish and Attorney Carr commented that there is a default rate of 1.5 times. Chair
Herston inquired how a decision of that nature would affect Airport operations and what the ideal
situation would be. Mr. Parish opined that the ideal situation would be to proceed with the planning
that was started four years ago when it was decided to extend Mr. Goin’s lease and that if the Board
goes a different direction, Staff will proceed as needed. Chair Herston inquired if during the one
year previously spent negotiating for the current lease the same issues were discussed that are
currently being discussed. Attorney Carr commented that he was not present when Mr. Parish spoke
to Mr. Goin, that when he spoke to Mr. Goin with Ms. Desguin that there were discussions of the
same issues, and that he and Ms. Desguin had to meet Mr. Goin onsite to explain the lease terms.
Chair Herston confirmed with Attorney Carr that what he discussed was prior to the first two-year
term. Commissioner Oliver inquired as to how far delinquent Mr. Goin is. Attorney Carr
commented that he is one month behind with another bill outstanding. Commissioner Oliver
confirmed with Attorney Carr that Mr. Goin has not paid January or February’s rent. Commissioner
Oliver opined that if there is an actual need for the property and building in addition to the tenant
being behind on his rent, delinquent in taxes, and failing to repair the premises as required, she is
not inclined to make a special exception at this point. She opined that she would have a different
opinion if it were a tenant up to date on rent that was making an effort to be a good tenant and that
it is not fair to the remainder of the tenants if bad behavior is rewarded in this instance. She
commented that she is fine with letting the lease end. Chair Herston inquired which years taxes are
delinquent. Attorney Carr commented that Mr. Goin is delinquent in 2019 taxes by approximately
$3,500 and 2020 taxes by approximately $6,000. He commented that Mr. Goin made an agreement
with the Tax Collector in October, where the email said Mr. Goin would pay $2,000 per month on
taxes although he has only been paying $1,000 per month and that Mr. Goin is behind for 2019 and
2020. He commented that he is unsure if the taxes can be declared delinquent but are certainly
owed. Chair Herston commented that payments are being made on the 2019 taxes and that the 2020
taxes are not due yet. Commissioner Andrews commented that he would like to move on as planned.
Commissioner Hancik opined that unless a Board member wants to place the subject on the
February Agenda for other action that Staff proceed with a response to Mr. Goin’s letter. Mr. Parish
inquired if he could receive a copy of Mr. Goin’s letter as it was not sent to Staff. Chair Herston
inquired if Attorney Carr feels a response should be held off on until the February meeting or if it
should be done immediately. Attorney Carr opined that the letter did not ask for action and that it
only said Mr. Goin had an intention to renew the lease or something to that effect. Commissioner
Hancik retrieved a copy of the letter from his vehicle and opined that Mr. Goin asked for a lease
extension. Chair Herston inquired if in the photos received of the building, if the units within the
Gulf Contours building is divided into any sections. Mr. Parish commented that the dust collection
closet caught on fire, which is what is shown in the email. He commented that directly behind the
dust collection closet is a mechanical room, which is separated with a four-hour firewall. He
commented that at some point since the wall was built, a fan has been installed breaching the
firewall and that due to that, the dust has been settling between the firewall, which is what caused
the fire to continue to smolder after the fire was put out. He commented that the firewall had to be
broken through to completely put the fire out. Commissioner Hancik returned with the letter from
Mr. Goin. Mr. Parish opined that it was fortunate that the fire department went on a call and saw
the smoke coming from the building. Chair Herston inquired if the fire went all the way through
the wall to the other side. Mr. Parish commented that it penetrated the four-hour separation. Chair
Herston confirmed with Mr. Parish that the buildup was inside of the wall. Mr. Parish commented
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that the letter says Gulf Contours desires to renew their lease upon expiration in September of this
year, that the request was previously voiced, and that the letter is a formal notification of intent. He
commented that based upon the letter, he and Attorney Carr will complete a response.
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7. Vasey Aviation Group LLC Agreement
Mr. Parish commented that he reached out to Mr. Vasey last week requesting a settlement
agreement to keep the matter civil although no response has not been received. He commented that
Mr. Vasey’s attorney contacted Staff through a public record request for several documents and
opined that due to that, he does not believe Mr. Vasey will respond to the request. Commissioner
Hancik commented that at the last Board Meeting he stated his position that he feels the agreement
should be terminated with Mr. Vasey and there was some subsequent conversation between
Attorney Carr and Commissioner Oliver as to if the agreement could be terminated. He commented
that he still has the same opinion, and that the Airport has spent about $15,000 in investigating the
matter already. Commissioner Oliver opined that at this stage there is not a clear breach and that
she is unsure of how the Airport could file a breach of contract action in court. She opined that
defending a breach of contract action could be lengthy and expensive and potentially involve
deposing every member of City Council and the Airport Board. She commented that she does not
love the way the agreement was drafted, that it was approved before her term, so she is unsure of
what the process was, and that she typically likes to see a clause of termination without cause upon
90 days’ notice. She commented that she is concerned that the Airport is not allowed to hire any
other economic development consultant during the term of Mr. Vasey’s agreement although Mr.
Vasey can represent anyone as there is no restriction and opined that Mr. Vasey being able to
represent anyone makes the breach of action for the Board that much more difficult. She
commented that the agreement is signed by the former Chair, that there is no section for the CEO
or Attorney to sign off as to form and opined that it is a good lesson for the Board to pursue a more
formalized process when entering into contracts so that the Board is in a better position in the future.
She commented that as far as Mr. Vasey’s contract, she is unsure of if there was a breach or if he
did anything and opined that the Board was upset with the City of Punta Gorda for pursuing the
option. She commented that the City put the matter on the Agenda and took the vote, that Mr. Vasey
does not have the ability to do that regardless of if he provided the opportunity and opined that it is
not clear that Mr. Vasey did provide the opportunity to the City. She commented that she has yet
to see anywhere that Mr. Vasey provided a confidential record and opined that she is unsure of
what record could possibly be confidential as the Airport is a public body. Mr. Parish commented
that he was a consultant for 20 years and that during that time, the information he produced
belonged to the client. He commented that Mr. Vasey taking the information and providing it to
another body without notifying the Airport is a breach of 7A in the Agreement which says that such
confidential information belongs to the Airport. He commented that once the information becomes
the Airports that the Airport is responsible for distributing it as requested and that it is known that
Mr. Vasey presented the information to the City as opposed to Staff. Commissioner Hancik opined
that the principle was violated by Mr. Vasey as the Airport’s consultant and that pursuing the
violation could be very expensive and time consuming. He opined that the Board could also pay
Mr. Vasey the remainder of what is owed and move on, which he believes is $40,000. Mr. Parish
commented that he does not disagree and commented that 7B of the Agreement says that the
developer agrees to take all reasonable and necessary steps to maintain the secrecy and prevent the
disclosure and improper use of confidential and proprietary information. Commissioner Hancik
commented that the Board can go after Mr. Vasey although it will be expensive. He opined that he
would like to have a motion at the February Board meeting not to cancel the contract but instead to
pay off the remainder to get out of the contract. Mr. Parish opined that the matter will not need to
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be brought back up if paying the remainder of the contract off is the concurrence of the Board as
there is already a contract in place that he can pay on. Commissioner Oliver opined that at the
February Board meeting the Board can say that the contract will not be renewed and inquired if the
Agreement is renewable every year unless a letter is appropriately sent. Commissioner Hancik
commented that he would like to defer to Council although it might be easier to utilize the existing
provisions of the contract with the intention not to renew. Mr. Parish commented that he will
prepare the letter. Chair Herston inquired if a release would be included with the letter and proposed
payoff. Attorney Carr commented that if it is desired to pay Mr. Vasey, he recommends paying the
monthly fee and terminating the contract at its end as opposed to paying a lumpsum. He commented
that if the Board decides to terminate Mr. Vasey for breach of fiduciary duty that a letter should be
sent stating that with nothing further being done unless Mr. Vasey then responds, which can prompt
a response from the Board. Mr. Parish commented that he will send a notice that the contract is not
being renewed pursuant to the contract’s 90-day notice, and that monthly payments will continue
to be made unless the Board brings the matter back. Commissioner Oliver inquired if parameters
can be provided to Mr. Vasey if the Board is going to continue with the agreement seeing as the
Airport cannot hire any other economic development consultant as she would not like to see a halt
in progression regarding economic development for the next 10 months. She opined that a
progression could be to develop the Airport Park. Mr. Parish opined that the contract does not limit
the Airport as the agreement was specific to Public-Private Partnerships (P3). He opined that he
could hire AECOM to work on something while he works with Dave Gammon to further economic
development. Commissioner Oliver commented that she will defer to the other Board members as
she was not a part of the decision for Mr. Vasey’s hiring and inquired if the agreement was just for
the Airport Investment Partnership Program (AIPP). Mr. Parish commented that the agreement was
only for P3’s whether it be a hotel or FBO. Commissioner Oliver inquired if there is any interest in
pursuing a hotel or anything of that nature. Mr. Parish commented that he has not heard from any
Board member that there is interest in a hotel as a P3. He commented that Staff is pursuing hotel
deals independently as straight leases, not P3’s. Chair Herston commented that Commissioner
Oliver had mentioned an exit clause or procedure and opined that it might be good to review an
exit clause for all contracts. Commissioner Oliver commented that her personal preference is to
always have a way out of contracts upon notice regardless of breach. She commented that it is a
personal preference and compared to 10- years ago, it is desirable for others to enter into contracts
with the Airport, resulting in the Airport having more bargaining power. Commissioner Andrews
commented that he agrees with Commissioner Oliver and opined that the Board should move on as
discussed to continue the contract and issue a Notice of Nonrenewal. Commissioner Hancik
commented that Commissioner Oliver raised an interesting question as to how leases are completed
and inquired if on the last page of every lease it should be approved as to form. Mr. Parish
commented that it is completed on all lease documents. Commissioner Hancik opined that Council
should review all leases. Commissioner Oliver opined that it should be specifically on those coming
to the Board that have been drafted by someone else. Attorney Carr commented that the contract
has a termination for cause provision, which is paragraph 13. Commissioner Oliver commented
that her preference in termination clause is the ability to terminate without cause upon a 90-day
notice. Attorney Carr commented that Mr. Vasey declined that clause as he did not want the Board
to have an easy out. Commissioner Andrews commented that his understanding is that there is cause
to terminate based upon previous discussion and inquired if that is correct. Attorney Carr
commented that based upon the documents and public statements that there is probably prima facia
evidence that Mr. Vasey breached his fiduciary duty to the Airport associated with the matter. He
commented that he believes it will be flushed out further should the subpoena power of the court
be available to acquire additional documents and other information. He commented that he has not
been told directly, but he has read in the newspaper, that Mr. Vasey told the newspaper that he is
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receiving a percentage of the transaction. He commented that he is unsure if that was disclosed to
anyone else although it seems a breach of fiduciary duty when he brings something to the Board
that he will be receiving profit from without telling anyone from the Airport. He commented that
the downside of not paying Mr. Vasey is that he can sue and potentially receive his $60,000, which
is what it sounds like the Board is agreeing to pay anyway. He commented that it should be noted
that there is no fee provision in the contract and venue and jurisdiction is in Charlotte County. He
commented that he is not in favor of litigation, that he provided a proposal to Mr. Vasey as a result
of Commissioner Oliver’s inquiry, that Mr. Parish made a subsequent follow up and that both offers
of settlement were ignored. He commented that he believes there is prima facia evidence of a breach
of fiduciary duty based upon the documents received and public statements made by any public
officials associated with what Mr. Vasey did and said and by the public statement that Mr. Vasey
made directly to the press that he was to be paid on the backside by whoever was proposing the
deal. He commented that he had never heard the comment made to the paper, that he is unsure if
any member of the Board has and opined that if you have a fiduciary duty to the Airport to bring a
transaction that it should not be negotiated to be paid by the person the transaction is being brought
for without full disclosure. Commissioner Hancik commented that he believes he asked if there was
a finder’s fee involved during a one-on-one meeting with Mr. Vasey and that the question went
unanswered. He opined that the problem with meeting one-on-one is that there are no witnesses
and no one else can hear what is happening. He opined that it would not be in Mr. Vasey’s interest
as a consultant to sue the Airport. Chair Herston inquired if it is Commissioner Hancik’s opinion
to send out a termination letter. Commissioner Hancik opined that Mr. Parish has what he needs
within the existing contract to terminate. Commissioner Oliver commented that she thought the
letter was for nonrenewal. Chair Herston commented that there are two options which are to
terminate the contract or simply not renew it. Commissioner Hancik commented that the decision
to terminate the contract must be made at a Board meeting and that Mr. Parish has authority to do
something right now. Commissioner Oliver commented that as far as confidential documents, the
standard definition specifically excludes the documents on the public record meaning that if there
was a presentation of a PowerPoint made and then the PowerPoint was transmitted, it cannot be
considered confidential information. Mr. Parish commented that there was no proof the document
was transmitted as it was requested to be sent to a personal email address although the document
in question was one that even the Board has not seen. Commissioner Hancik inquired if the
investment package provided to possible investors that explained everything was provided publicly.
Commissioner Oliver opined that if the document is something that a member of the public could
request as a public document that it is excluded from the definition of confidential as confidential
is trade secrets or things that would be responded to as exempt in a public records request. Mr.
Parish commented that he can agree with Commissioner Oliver and that he thinks it is bad form for
a consultant to give away Airport documents without notice. Commissioner Oliver commented that
she does not disagree and that she does not feel it is a clear-cut prima facia breach of the agreement
which will result in a long lawsuit. Attorney Carr commented that those documents are defined as
any document used or disclosure that would be damaging to the Airport Authority and opined that
the purpose of convincing the City to attempt to take over the Airport would fit that definition.
Commissioner Oliver opined that it would be a discussion of fact as it is not evidence that both
sides agree to. Commissioner Hancik inquired if a bigger deal is being made of the matter than
what should be. Mr. Parish opined that more money will be spent in a lawsuit than what will be
saved and that sometimes one must cut their losses and write a check. Commissioner Andrews
opined that cutting the losses and moving on is not necessarily a bad thing. Mr. Parish commented
that unless the Board request, he will continue as directed by the contract and terminate the contract
at the end of the current cycle.
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Mr. Parish commented that the Board approved modification to the T-hangar lease a few months
ago and that since then, a few complaints have been received about some of the changes with the
majority having to do with the insurance requirement. He commented that one tenant that said they
could not receive the insurance has since received it. Commissioner Hancik commented that he
asked this item be placed on the Workshop Agenda as he noticed there was a lot of concern over
the new lease related to the insurance clause. He commented that there was a lot of angst he could
not answer and opined that if a venue were provided for those with a concern to speak, it would
help. Mr. Parish commented that he would like to note that the insurance clause in section 6.1 is
almost identical to Page Field and Sarasota’s requirements. He commented that Staff looked at
requirements of all surrounding airports including Arcadia, who requires insurance, and that Venice
is one of the few airports that does not require insurance. Chair Herston inquired as to how many
are included in those with a lot of angst. Commissioner Hancik commented that he has been
approached by ten or 11 people and that he tried to get the word out that the Workshop was a forum
for those that would like to speak to the lease document although no one has come forward. Chair
Herston confirmed with the Board that it would be acceptable for the public to speak and invited
anyone that would like to speak to do so.
Jim Lyons – Commented that he spoke at the last Workshop regarding insurance requirements.
He commented that through his aviation broker, he has the availability to put insurance on the
T-hangar itself as opposed to being tied to an aircraft so that if there is a fire when his aircraft
is not in the hangar, the coverage is still on the hangar. He commented that if his aircraft moves
to Arcadia or Tennessee on a vacation, his hangar premise insurance moves with his aircraft.
He commented that for about $42 per month he can have T-hangar insurance on the Airport’s
hangars, which would cover any aircraft that sits in the hangar as he has ten aircraft that he
owns. He commented that he would prefer to have insurance on the T-hangar itself as opposed
to being tied directly to an aircraft. Chair Herston confirmed with Mr. Lyons that when he flies
out of the Airport, his insurance follows him to wherever he is going. Chair Herston inquired
as to what the condition of Mr. Lyon’s hangar at the Airport is. Mr. Lyon’s commented that he
has one T-hangar at the Airport in the 200 series and that the insurance policy on the T-hangar
itself is available through an aviation broker that works with the EAA. He commented that if
he wanted to go on vacation in his aircraft that he could park his vehicle in the hangar, close
the door, fly away, and still have insurance on the hangar itself even though his aircraft has left
the Airport. He commented that if he were to make the Airport a named policy holder on his
aircraft insurance, when his aircraft leaves the hangar, there would no longer be insurance on
the hangar. Chair Herston inquired if Mr. Lyon’s feels his insurance policy is different than
what the lease states. Mr. Lyon’s commented that the lease says the insurance must be tied
specifically to an aircraft with the Airport Authority as a named insured. He opined that the
Airport would be covered more by the hangar premise policy as opposed to having the insurance
tied specifically to an aircraft. Chair Herston opined that the insurance policy would be similar
to renter’s insurance for any small business and inquired with Mr. Parish how the lease is
currently written. Mr. Parish commented that the lease is currently written as an aircraft liability
policy. Mr. Lyon’s commented that he knows at least a half a dozen of people that are age
restricted and can no longer receive insurance. He opined that those individuals could receive
insurance if put on the hangar and that the hangar liability policy would be more protection for
the Airport. Chair Herston confirmed that Mr. Lyon’s has an aircraft liability policy as his
aircraft is onsite at the Airport and inquired if Mr. Lyon’s has additional insurance to cover his
hangar in his absence. He commented that for example, if someone else’s hangar burns down
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and it spreads to Mr. Lyon’s unit. Mr. Lyon’s commented that he does carry insurance to cover
occurrences like that through his separate T-hangar policy. Chair Herston opined that Mr.
Lyon’s policies are consistent with what is trying to be implemented. Attorney Carr opined that
the type of insurance that Mr. Lyon is discussing is hangar insurance, which insures only the
contents of the hangar and does not have anything to do with liability associated with anything
that occurs inside of the building. He commented that for example, if Mr. Lyon’s had a juryrigged compressor in the hangar while the aircraft was absent and a fire started that burnt down
multiple hangars and aircraft, the insurance being referred to would only cover Mr. Lyon’s
contents of his hangar. Chair Herston inquired if the Airport has insurance on the building. Mr.
Parish commented that the Airport does cover the building but not contents. Commissioner
Hancik inquired as to what is trying to be insured against and if he slips on oil on the floor of a
hangar and injures himself who he would sue. Mr. Parish commented that the Airport is insuring
against incidents like the one that occurred eight or nine years ago when a gentleman hand
propped his aircraft that was not chocked correctly, resulting in the aircraft taking off and
running into a hangar, damaging the contents on the inside of that hangar. He commented that
is the type of liability that is looking to be covered. Attorney Carr commented that he provided
the Commissioners a liability coverage format that is commonly used in the aviation industry,
known as coverage D, that is single limit bodily injury and property damage associated with
anything related to the aircraft, including ownership, maintenance, or use. He commented that
the type of coverage being referred to in the lease is not hangar insurance as it only goes to the
individual and their contents, not liability associated with anything that would occur as a result.
Commissioner Hancik commented that he added the item to the Agenda for clarification
purposes for the tenants and opined that the insurance requirement may not be as big of a
problem as it has been reported to him as. Mr. Parish opined that he believes Attorney Carr
indicated that the required policy is about $500 annually. Chair Herston opined that the policy
does sound expensive although it sounds like tenants are receiving coverage that is needed by
the requirements of the lease. Mr. Parish commented that he would like to note that if there are
extenuating circumstances that Attorney Carr can review to see if the matter can be worked
through. He commented that Staff has been working with one gentleman who could not receive
insurance through his broker due to age and that the gentleman as of this morning had received
insurance as he opined the broker realized it was a bad forum to deny based on age.
Commissioner Hancik opined that the document provides Mr. Parish the ability to review
individual situations and make determinations on what is occurring. Mr. Parish commented that
he does not want to put it on Staff to make those determinations, but he would bring those
decisions to the Board if it were not a simple matter. Commissioner Oliver inquired if
someone’s aircraft is out and there is a slip and fall on the premises associated with a guest of
the tenant out in their aircraft, who’s insurance would be the primary as there is no requirement
for each tenant to have liability insurance. Attorney Carr commented that each tenant is required
to have liability insurance, and that he provided liability coverages under an endorsement from
Starr Insurance Company, which is coverage D. Chair Herston opined that no matter what the
case is, the individual would be responsible to contact their insurance company. Attorney Carr
opined that the aircraft owner would be primary and that coverage D insurance pays for
occurrences arising out of the maintenance or use in the premises in or upon in which the aircraft
is stored. He commented that he slipped and fell in someone’s hangar, he would suspect that
the coverage would apply. Chair Herston inquired if the conversation has aided Mr. Lyons
concerns. Mr. Lyons opine that he is not sure and commented that he can provide the phone
number to his aviation broker. He commented that he called AOPA as they have a section on
their website that talks about the insurance but there is no one on staff to complete the process
or provide additional resources. He commented that AOPA referred him to the EAA, that the
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hangar premise insurance covers anyone who walks into the hangar, and that he was provided
a 52-page document of covered items. He commented that he would rather pay for the separate
policy for the hangar rather than name anyone as additionally insured on his aircraft. Attorney
Carr commented that Mr. Lyon’s is free to provide any policy he would like to have reviewed
and opined that he does not believe the policy that has been discussed has the type of coverage
required. Mr. Lyon’s commented that his insurance broker said everyone has been asking for
the policy across the United States as at the last airport aviator conference, a guest speaker from
an insurance company discussed the coverage, resulting in there being a big push to put
insurance requirements on tenants. He commented that his broker said the hangar premise
insurance would cover everything the same as if the coverage was put on his aircraft policy.
Chair Herston commented that Attorney Carr recommends suggesting the policy for review.
Mike Nelson – A Through the Fence hangar owner and T-hangar tenant, commented that his
objection with the lease is the way it was brought to the tenants. He commented that as he said
last meeting, he found the information through the PGD Buzz Newsletter, and that he called to
get information. He opined that he would have preferred that something be released to the
tenants prior to the change as there was not only a change to insurance but also other rules and
regulations. He commented that the badging is also changing, which is not a large
inconvenience, but the badges will now renew at the lease renewal date instead of on the
individual’s birthday. He commented that when he called the Badging Office, Staff was not
sure if he needed to redo the driving test or whether his badge would still be valid after February.
He commented that he wishes there would have been more time before the new requirements
took affect and that more information would have been released to allow input from tenants.
He commented that there are aircraft in the hangars that are registered but have not flown for
years, that there is one aircraft across from him that he does not think has flown in 15 years,
and that he does not believe that aircraft is insured. Chair Herston thanked Mr. Nelson. Mr.
Parish commented that the information was released in the Agenda packets with a marked-up
lease that was posted on the Airport’s website and went out to everyone previously requested
to be on the email list. He commented that the badging requirement was one of the main reasons
Staff started looking at the change, that there is a TSA requirement that all badges be audited,
and that to get around the required audit, which involves each badge holder coming into the
office, everyone is rebadged annually through the same process. He commented that this allows
Staff to not have to produce a secondary set of documents that confirms requirements have been
met. He commented that the only change is that badges are now reissued as opposed to being
audited. He commented that the FAA has also started cracking down on driving on Airport’s
and the driving test requirements and that annual badging requirement forces each tenant to
take the drivers test annually. He commented that the matter of non-airworthy aircraft has
always been in the lease, that the FAA is now cracking down on that, and that you cannot store
non-airworthy aircraft unless it is an active project. Chair Herston inquired as to what nonairworthy is defined as. Mr. Parish commented if the aircraft does not have a current
airworthiness certificate. Chair Herston inquired as to who conducts the testing for driving. Mr.
Parish commented that the test is on the Airport’s website and that you read information prior
to taking the test. Chair Herston inquired if the comments made by Mr. Parish aid Mr. Nelson.
Mr. Nelson commented that it did answer his questions although there are some tenants that do
not utilize email and have yet to receive the information about new lease requirements. Chair
Herston opined that there is some responsibility on the individual to follow changes. Mr. Parish
commented that changes take effect upon renewal. Mr. Nelson opined that there are a lot of
changes and inquired if Mr. Parish said there is an annual audit on badging. Mr. Parish
commented that Staff is completing an annual renewal on badging. Mr. Nelson inquired if the
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badges were previously valid for two years. Mr. Parish commented that they were valid two
years with an annual audit, that all tenants had to go into the FBO or Badging Office to present
their badges, and that it was an impossible task as not everyone is local. He commented that if
a badge expires and it is not renewed for six months, it is not a violation and that if the badge
is due for audit and it is not presented for six months, that is a violation. He commented that the
solution is that instead of auditing every other year, badges are renewed every year. Mr. Nelson
confirmed with Mr. Parish that badging is moving to a yearly requirement. Mr. Nelson
commented that Through the Fence tenants have one-year badges. Mr. Parish commented that
Through the Fence tenants have always had one-year badges as there is no way for Staff to
efficiently audit those badges.
Stan Smith – A T-hangar tenant, commented that he does not know what caused the change in
requirement that you no longer have six months, but instead three months, between selling your
aircraft and purchasing a new one. He commented that he and his wife have been looking for
aircraft for quite a while, that it took five years to find an aircraft, that they found a 50-year-old
aircraft and that it is desired to have a hangar immediately upon taking possession of the aircraft.
He commented that luckily, they were able to get a hangar in Venice quickly as Venice had just
built new hangars, that they currently have three hangars, and that they keep that aircraft at the
Airport sometimes. He commented that he has invested in other aircraft where he is not the
registered owner, that he is looking at possibly investing in a warbird aircraft, and that he
recently invested in a Mooney aircraft that he wishes to house in the Airport’s hangar. He
commented that he did not bring this matter to Mr. Parish or Staff and that he has basically
accepted that if an individual is not the registered owner of an aircraft, there is no right to put
an aircraft in the hangar at the Airport. Mr. Parish commented that you either have to be a
registered owner or a partner on the aircraft to hangar it at almost any airport. Mr. Smith
inquired if one must have a written document that states they are part owner. Mr. Parish
commented that you must. Mr. Smith inquired if that written document with suffice as opposed
to being a registered owner. Mr. Parish commented that if you have a partnership deal with the
registered owner that is signed and approved, that document is collected and attached to the
lease. He commented that the three-month requirement is to help the many people on the waitlist
although there is discretion for Staff to extend that time frame on a case-by-case scenario. Mr.
Smith opined that finding an aircraft within three months after selling one can be tough to do.
Mr. Mallard commented that it is in the lease that Staff can extend the three-month time frame.
Allan Stern – A T-hangar tenant leasing two separate hangars, commented that he is on the
email list but is not receiving email, so he is unsure of what is going on and when either of his
leases end. He commented that people cannot follow him into the hangar, that the individuals
going to the hangar with him must be in his vehicle, and that he is building a new aircraft that
will have parts delivered to the Airport in April by tractor trailer. He inquired as to how he
should handle that situation. Mr. Parish commented that Mr. Stern must contact the FBO to
have the trailer escorted in. He commented that the issue is that if there is an untested driver
driving on the Airport and they end up on the runway, the Airport has not done its due diligence
to prevent that occurrence. He commented that the driving test is a requirement that the FAA
has put on the Airport to ensure every person driving on the Airport has taken the test and that
the only way to do that is to say that every person driving on the Airport has been badged. Mr.
Stern confirmed with Mr. Parish that he should contact the FBO. Mr. Parish commented that it
is best to provide at least a days’ notice. Chair Herston commented that he would like Mr. Stern
to resend his email to ensure it is correctly typed into the database.
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Jim Lyons – Inquired if insurance is going to be required on aircraft that are stored as longterm tie downs on the ramp as there are several aircraft that have no insurance and likely could
never get insurance. He opined that if insurance is required on the stored aircraft, there should
be requirement on the aircraft stored outdoor as well. He commented that aircraft insurance will
likely not cover an event if the aircraft is unairworthy or having an annual completed. Mr. Parish
commented that insurance is not required on tie-downs as there is less of a possibility of
structural damage to other entities through fire or accident. He commented that there are always
exceptions to that rule and that insurance is not required on transient tenants, although there
have been transient tenants run into other aircraft. Chair Herston opined that the owner of the
aircraft being tied down would want some form of liability insurance. Mr. Lyon’s commented
that he has witnessed several incidents on the ramp as he has been at the Airport since 1981.
He opined that you would think Allegiant would have insurance although they are mostly selfinsured. He opined that there should be equal treatment of customers and that as tenants, those
who store their aircraft indoors and outdoors should have the same requirements.
9. Adjournment
Meeting adjourned at 10:18 a.m.
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____________________________________
James W. Herston, Chair
___________________________________
Robert D. Hancik, Secretary/Treasurer

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING – FEBRUARY 18, 2021 – 9:00 A.M.
5

1. Call to Order
2.

Invocation
Chair Herston gave the invocation.

10
3. Pledge of Allegiance
4. Roll Call
15

20

Present: Chair Herston; Commissioners Andrews, Coppola, Hancik and Oliver; Attorney Carr;
CEO Parish; Mrs. Paglialunga; Mr. Laroche; Mrs. Miller; Mr. Mallard; Mrs. Straw; Mrs.
Cauley (via video); Mr. Ridenour (via video); Mr. Liliberte (via video); Ms. Pedigo (via video),
and Ms. Desguin (via video). Others present: Stephen Nowell, Justin Edwards,
Councilmember Miller; Joe Makray; Steven Henriquez; Mark Kistler; Gary Bayne; Richard
Pitz; Stan Smith; Commissioner Deutsch; Larry Hofmeister; Al Boynton; Ron Kot; Glen Kus;
Gurram Lakshmi (via video); Blake Swafford (via video); Eric Menger (via video); Sarah
Beaver (via video); Gary Harrell (via video); Tim Shea (via video); Sarah Thomas (via video);
Jim Kaletta (via video);John Doner (via video); Jerry Paul (via video); David Oliver (via video);
others from the private sector, and a member of the press.
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5. Citizen’s Input
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John Miller – Speaking as a private citizen, commented that the City has not had a chance to
review the proposed legislation but will. He commented that he is always suspicious when the
state decides to look into local issues and change local rules as it often does not bode well for
what is happening locally. He commented that he does not see any need to amend Chapter 98508 as he sees the Authority and Airport working very well right now and that he does not see
what the impetus is with the matter.
Stan Smith – Speaking as a concerned citizen, commented that he would like to speak on the
change to Legislation 98-508. He commented that he hopes the Board will ask questions such
as what the motive behind the change is, who is behind it, and for what reason. He commented
that the Board, Mr. Parish and Staff are doing a phenomenal job. He opined that it is not
necessary to make a change where it would be possible to allow three or more Board members
to live within 500 feet of each other as it does not represent the people of Charlotte County. He
commented that the United States Army gave the Airport to the people of Charlotte County and
opined that the current methodology of representation that is taking place should continue as is.
Larry Hofmeister – A T-hangar tenant, commented that he first flew his aircraft into the
Airport on September 13, 2001 and that he chose Punta Gorda for the Airport. He commented
that he has watched the Airport grow from a little Airport to the bustling Airport it is today
thanks to the Commissioners on the Board. He commented that he really appreciates what the
Board has done. He opined that the legislation denies the people of Charlotte County the
representation of the Board by the district they live in. He commented that the Board would be
controlled by one small community or area or a group of people that get together to decide to
take over the Board. He inquired why if the legislation change is such a good idea, it does not
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also cover the County Commissioner or City Council. He opined that the state should not be
able to control the votes of communities within the state and that the Board should be highly
critical in looking into the matter. He commented that he finds the change a betrayal by someone
who was previously on the Board by going against the citizens of Charlotte County, the Airport,
and the Board. He opined that the Airport’s lobbyist has betrayed the Board and is still being
paid. He opined that he would like to see the lobbyist fired and that the Board should find a new
lobbyist that would represent the Airport and community.
Al Boynton – A T-hangar tenant, commented that he concurs with everything the previous two
speakers said. He commented that last meeting there was phase one of the Airport privatization
issue, which was defeated by the current Board at the time. He commented that phase two is
about to be entered. He commented that packing the Board, unlike the Electoral College, will
not give equal representation around the County. He commented that once the Board is packed,
the Airport privatization matter will come back and inquired as to what the motive is. He opined
that the Board should be against the change in legislation. He commented that there will be
several investors looking for profit and that the money from the privatization will go to projects
that the Board will not have control over. He opined that the Board should fight the legislation
change, not let it happen, and not support it.

20

Ron Kot – A Through the Fence hangar tenant, commented that when he moved to Charlotte
County the Airport was a very valuable asset and it still is. He commented that the main
attraction of the Airport is that it is run by the people for the people of Charlotte County. He
commented that changing the legislation is defeating that and taking it away from the residence.

25

Glenn Kus – A Through the Fence hangar tenant, commented that he moved to the area last
year. He commented that he has been informed of a move to change the way the Board operates,
is structured, and where the members are from. He commented that he would like to express
his concern to have the change not affect his cost of operation or price of his hangar. He
commented that he is very happy with the way things currently are and opined that the Board
should not change anything that would affect the operation and the way it has been historically
done. He commented that the Airport is wonderful.

30
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Ron Kot (written Citizens Input read aloud by Mrs. Paglialunga) - I am against changing
the residency requirements for election of commissioners. The Charlotte County airport is a
valuable asset to the residence of Charlotte county and should be controlled by all areas of
Charlotte County. The proposed change says certain areas do not have anyone qualified in the
area to represent them. The present system helps local areas maintain local control. I support
maintaining local control of the Charlotte County airport by Charlotte County residence for the
benefit of Charlotte County residence. I know this is late for the 2/18/2021 meeting but please
keep on file for future meetings.
6. Additions and/or Deletions to the Agenda
Mr. Parish commented that Agenda Item 13(f) was added to the Agenda.

45
7. Consent Agenda
Commissioner Andrews motioned to approve the Consent Agenda. Commissioner Oliver
seconded. Motion passed unanimously.
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8. Secretary/Treasurer’s Report

5

10

Commissioner Hancik reported that revenue year to date is $3.1 million, budget year to date is
$3.2 million, and the variance is under budget by about $120,000. He reported that expenses
year to date are $2.3 million, budget year to date is $2.6 million, and the variance is under
budget by about $270,000. He reported that the operating gain and profit year to date is about
$807,000, budget year to date is about $655,000, and the variance is positive about $152,000.
He commented that cash year to date is slightly over $23 million. Mr. Parish commented that
Staff is still waiting on the Hertz bankruptcy to determine what is happening with their
remaining balance. He commented that Allegiant has paid all expect a few dollars in badging
fees, that there are three other people on the list that have paid in full since the list was released,
and that receivables is doing well. He opined that the Airport currently looks better than most
airports.

15
9. Liaison Reports
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25

a) Punta Gorda City Council – Commissioner Hancik commented that the City met
yesterday and is in the process of rewriting their comprehensive plan and forming their base
land development codes, which is a continuing process. He commented that
Councilmember Miller spoke earlier, that he passed the pending legislation attempt on to
the other City Council members, and that no action was able to be taken at that point in
time. He opined that the City may be waiting to see how the Airport responds and
commented that the City’s last meeting was five-hours long. Commissioner Coppola
inquired if the City’s meetings are televised. Mr. Parish commented that they are streamed
to Facebook live.
b) Board of County Commissioners – Commissioner Andrews had nothing to report.
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c) Metropolitan Planning Organization/Economic Development – Chair Herston
commented that he missed his first MPOAC meeting in Orlando and apologized to the
Board. He commented that he did attend a joint MPO meeting with Sarasota/Manatee MPO
and opined that the biggest discussions were possible new interchanges and the effects of
the gas tax for electric cars. He commented that he has been sending out the MPOAC weekly
legislative update to the Board. He commented that he has a joint meeting with Lee County
and the City of Cape Coral.
d) Community – Commissioner Coppola commented that Covid has cancelled a lot of
meetings although she did attend a Republican Executive Club meeting where a new Board
was elected. She commented that her other meetings have been by phone as the Cultural
Center where they normally meet has been closed. She commented that the Women’s
Luncheon was cancelled this month. She opined that there is not much happening due to
Covid and commented that if anyone has any suggestions for her, she will be happy to
entertain them.

45
e) State Legislation – Commissioner Oliver commented that on February 23 at 9:00 a.m. the
Legislative Delegation will be holding a Zoom meeting to discuss whether to change the
way Airport Commissioners are elected from individual districts to at-large within Charlotte
County. She opined that the citizens who spoke today should attend that meeting to make
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their thoughts heard before the Legislative Delegation as they are the ones who vote and
decide how the Board is elected, much like the Charter Review Commission determines
how the County Commissioners are elected and their districts. She commented that she
believes the link may have been included in the packets and that she does not want to go
too far into the matter as she feels it will be discussed later. She commented that Cynthia
Beckett can be emailed with questions or for the direct link. She commented that she would
like to defer to Mr. Parish for any statewide, aviation, or Airport Council updates. Mr. Parish
commented that he missed the Florida Airport Council (FAC) meeting this week due to
another meeting and that he was provided updates. He commented that one big push is to
try to get transportation workers in the next round of vaccinations and that the federal mask
mandate is impacting employees, specifically ones on the curb and in the field that are in
the heat all day. He commented that there is very little wiggle room in the mandate based
upon the TSA’s requirements as it says if you are on Airport, not in the terminal or on the
airfield, but on Airport, which is defined as any property the Authority owns, you must be
wearing a mask unless actively drinking or eating. He commented that you must also wear
the mask between sips and bites. He commented that the Airport is passing out mask and is
not in the enforcement area but instead the information area to inform passengers to wear
them. He commented that the TSA is actively pursuing violators and has not had any active
pursuits or cases within the Airport’s Federal Security Director’s area. He commented that
other airports in the local vicinity are taking a relatively soft approach on the matter. He
commented that he was on a call with about 150 other airport directors, that it was asked if
the mandate has solved the issue with people wearing mask in the terminal, and that
everyone who spoke to answer said there was not a problem as it was already required, and
individuals were previously complying. He opined that the mask mandate is a solution
without a problem and that the mandate says you must wear your mask even when social
distancing. He commented that it was asked if one must wear a mask when 4,000 feet from
the terminal, inside of their office with the door shut, and that the answer was of course. He
commented that the issue is not a state legislative issue but an issue with the state that is
resulting in trying to get Airport workers immunized as soon as possible. Commissioner
Hancik commented that he noticed Commissioner Deutsch appears to want to talk.
Commissioner Deutsch commented that the County Commission held their annual strategic
planning meeting and that the brief feeling on it is that the County is doing amazingly well.
He commented that the Commission had an unrealistic goal to try to provide 3,000
workforce affordable housing units within the community, that the housing must be
subsidized somehow, and that the numbers will not work with the inflation that is taking
place within the construction and real estate industries. He commented that new housing is
going up every week or two in price by $5,000 to $10,000, realtors are selling most of their
listing within two weeks, and that the County has decided 1,000 units might be a more
realistic goal. He commented that he believes today was the last day of the County’s Request
for Proposals for housing on the Barkman property and that the MPO has a coordinated
effort to put a new interchange between Kings Highway and Toledo Blade, potentially using
part of the Barkman property for the project. He commented that the interchange is about
10 years out although the County’s population increase may speed the process up. He
commented that the County was surprised to hear that the Airport made a request to the
legislator to change any legislation as they did not hear anything about it, and they were not
included on the decision. Commissioner Hancik commented that the Board did not request
the change. Commissioner Deutsch commented that there was disappointment expressed
that the legislator invites people to participate but the meeting will be held at the same time
as the County Commission meeting. Chair Herston commented that the Board did not
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propose to change any legislation pertaining to the Airport Authority and that it has
originated elsewhere. Commissioner Deutsch commented that there was a question raised
as to why it was being proposed and who did so. Chair Herston commented that it was not
the Board who requested or proposed the change. Commissioner Coppola commented that
it was a surprise. Commissioner Deutsch opined that the County and Airport work well
together and that it serves the County well. Chair Herston inquired if Commissioner Deutsch
would like to add anything to the mask conversation. Commissioner Deutsch commented
that the County is doing everything they can to get the shots out, that it is going well, and it
is being accelerated. He commented that about 20% have received shots, that some are
receiving reactions, that the positive case numbers are reducing, and that he wanted to make
it known that the problem in the County was not the amount of hospital beds but instead the
amount of hospital staff to care for those admitted patients. He commented that the County’s
hurricane preparation work allowed the County to have a distribution center with water,
mask, and gowns within 24 hours of the emergency Covid situation starting. He commented
that the County is working to get back to as close to normal as possible by late spring or
early summer. Mr. Parish commented that regarding the state legislative agenda, the
aviation work program appears to be off the table for budget cuts or increases as the
Governor’s proposal keeps it flat over the next year and that there is an increase in the
allocation of space versus air, which FAC is working to get back into airports. He
commented that there is not currently an attack on the fuel tax and that FAC’s
Environmental Committee has had legislation filed for best management practices (BMP)
for the use of diesel exhaust fluid which will be a counter bill to the bill filed last year that
does not do anything to eliminate the potential contamination, just puts the liability on the
airport instead of the fueler. He commented that the Airport is also the fueler although in
most cases the airport and fueler are separate and that it is a BMP instead of a statutory fine.
He commented that there are a couple of County’s that have decided that the way the
Government sets up exemptions for aviation uses in property taxes does not apply to them
and have begun taxing aviation users. He commented that Hillsborough County Airport
Authority has been fighting the matter, that they won their fast case but lost their appeal and
that they are on their second appeal now. He commented that FAC is trying to have a few
words changed in state law that would eliminate any confusion with the tax office and that
if you are a tenant in a long-term lease you do not pay property tax if you are an aviation
user. He commented that outside of the fence, property taxes are still due and that changing
the law would be a significant increase to a lot of aviation tenants. He commented that there
is PFAS legislation that would provide for third-party cleanup for PFAS claims, that the
FAA is required to come up with a solution or alternate to the PFAS that is used in airport
firefighting foam, that the FAA has indicated that they will not meet the legislative deadline
this year, and that the FAA is about eight months behind on their testing. He commented
that there is no alternative to the PFAS foam at this point so the Airport will continue using
it and that FAC is continuing to support some Covid liability laws so that if someone feels
they received Covid from the terminal, the Airport would not be liable. He commented that
there are some other professional occupation reviews that are being monitored and that the
aircraft sales tax is not likely to go away this year. He commented that he will send the
Board weekly updates once things really start to move. Commissioner Coppola commented
that she has read the PFAS firefighting foam is not a good thing to be using and inquired if
the formula is supposed to be changed. Mr. Parish commented that there is a long-chain and
short-chain PFAS, that the long-chain is bad, that it has not been used for years at the
Airport, and that the Airport currently uses the short-chain PFAS. He commented that the
short-chain PFAS is still a forever chemical meaning that once it gets into the water or in
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your body, it is there permanently and is hard to get rid of. He commented that the idea is
to get rid of it in aircraft firefighting foam although it is still in Styrofoam, Teflon, and a lot
of other everyday items. He commented that getting PFAS out of the firefighting foam is
only one topic, that the Airport is a point source meaning that when an aircraft is sprayed
down, it becomes a contamination. He commented that the Airport now requires that all soil
be removed and tested for PFAS and then moved to a landfill, which does not really get rid
of it. He opined that it is a great idea to get rid of PFAS and commented that it is not used
in Europe as there is an approved alternative. Chair Herston opined that maybe the Airport
should pay to take the soil to a hazardous waste dump. Mr. Parish commented that the
person who caused the fire would be responsible for moving the soil. He commented that
the problem will be what to do with the PFAS that is sitting around as it is impossible to get
rid of.
10. Attorney’s Report

15

20

Attorney Carr commented that he was requested to work on a new ramp lease to match the new Thangar lease, that some work has been done on the residual land acquisition, that he has not heard
anything from Gulf Contours after the last meeting, and that he is unsure of what, if anything, they
intend to do. He opined that it was a surprise to everyone to find a small notice in the newspaper
on Tuesday that the Legislation Delegation is attempting to change the Authority’s Enabling
Legislation. He commented that no one has indicated to him that there was any pre-knowledge that
the meeting would be happening as a Commissioner or Airport lobbyist. He commented that he has
spent the last two days answering many questions and researching issues related to local bills as to
how the matter is occurring in case there are questions today regarding the matter.
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11. CEO’s Report
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a) CTC Update – Mr. Parish commented that Ms. Bennett is stuck in Nashville due to the
snow and sleet and instead sent another representative to provide an update. Mr. Nowell,
the Program Manager for the A&P program, commented that the School Board is currently
in the final stages of moving into the hangar, that the parking lot has been completed, and
that he would like to thank his District Staff and the Airport Staff, especially Kaley, for their
support and help. He commented that the parking lot and modular are finished, the two
classrooms are fully furnished, and that he is waiting on the Smart Board’s and the
associated training to come in. He commented that he would like to thank the FBO for
assisting with moving the School Board’s aircraft from the T-hangars to the current location
and that Mr. Hafenbreidel was instrumental with the process. He commented that a soft
walkthrough is scheduled for March 8th with the Superintendent and School Board, that the
hangar floors are being painted today, and that the electricians have completed all the
electrical updates and are now waiting for their Staff to move equipment into specific
locations so that the equipment can be connected electrically and be ready for the
walkthrough. He commented that the FAA is scheduled for their final walkthrough shortly
after March 8th. He commented that once everything is moved into the painted area, he will
be able to move the rest of the equipment from the school and into the hangar to be ready
for the grand opening, which has been postponed until later in the year to involve the
students and their parents. He commented that they are currently marketing to the students
in the high schools and that a feeder program will be implemented, which is an aviation
maintenance assemblers’ program for the 10th and 11th graders to be introduced to the
aviation industry and spark their interest in becoming A&P mechanics in their senior year.
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He commented that he is finalizing a contract with a local marketing firm to do some digital
marketing for the program, which is in the final stages. He commented that he is also
working with Dr. Rath at Florida SouthWestern State College (FSW) to acquire an
articulation agreement, which will provide 60-hours of college credit from FSW to the A&P
students when they complete their certificate. He commented that there has been a lot of
input received from the Advisory Board Members, which are aviation companies in
Charlotte County, that has been superlative in providing guidance, suggestions, and
assistance with any marketing needs. He commented that donations have been received
which include a Pratt & Whitney high-bypass turbo fan engine coming from Brazil and two
R-1820 radial engines from Miami that have already been acquired. He commented that he
has hired two A&P instructors, both of which hold inspection authorization (IA)
certifications, and that he is interviewing another instructor on Monday for the assembly
classes that will be to the 10th and 11th graders. He commented that he would like to thank
the Board for allowing the program to happen and become established at the Airport and
that the School Board is looking forward to providing the needed employment opportunities
for the students. Commissioner Coppola opined that it was an excellent presentation.
Commissioner Oliver thanked Mr. Nowell for coming and inquired as to what the
anticipated enrollment will be for the first year and moving forward. Mr. Nowell
commented that he anticipates approximately 100 students in the program due to the limit
by the FAA due to the application process and requirements and that as the program grows
and the powerplant certification is added, which is expected this summer, another 50
students can be added for a potential total of 150 students. Commissioner Oliver opined that
the school will be transformative for the community and the students. Mr. Nowell
commented that the School Board is really excited about it as well.
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b) Development Update – Mr. Parish reported that there is a scope and fee in the Agenda
packet today to add the box hangars to the T-hangar design. He commented that an inline
baggage system scope and fee will be on the Agenda next month, that the Airport will do
the design with TSA paying 95% and the Airport paying 5%, that it will allow the design
of the next phase of the terminal for the inline baggage system, and that the second part will
be the actual construction, which would be a combination of TSA and PFC funds, which is
in the PFC application. He commented that a design-build package is currently being
assembled for the FBO hangar, which Staff hopes to have out soon. He commented that
PFC application three is on today’s Agenda as a Resolution to approve and submit the
application to the FAA, that Staff has had multiple meetings with the FAA and the
consultant, and that it follows the Master Plan almost identically. He commented that
runway 4-22 is currently in design but on hold pending some runway safety area (RSA)
grading issues, which was brought up by Staff at the beginning of the project with a received
response from the FAA not to worry about it, and that the FAA is now asking for the Airport
to submit a modification to standards and a benefit cost analysis on the alternative. He
commented that the design will still be completed this year, the grant will still be received
this year, and that it will stay on schedule. He commented that the construction for the
replacement and expansion of hangar 207 and the new 600 series hangar is in design and
scheduled for advertising in March. He commented that the roadway network
improvements are still on hold, that they are designed, and Staff is looking for funding
through PFC application three. He commented that the RPZ fencing on runway 4-22 is close
to completion, the long-term parking lot is under construction and expected to be completed
by the end of next month, the new general aviation center taxiway and taxilanes are under
construction with clearing and grubbing, and the building for the general aviation center
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itself is in permitting with the County with construction scheduled to begin next month and
be complete in November. He commented that the administration building expansion is
being reviewed by the building department and that Woodlawn Drive is on the new road,
with the old road being taken out and drainage improvements being completed before the
final asphalt course is added. He commented that he finalization of Woodlawn Drive will
join the close out activities of runway 15-33. Chair Herston inquired if pertaining to the
grading issue on runway 4-22, if the Airport is in FEMA flood zone x. Mr. Parish
commented that the majority of the Airport is in zone x and that the problem is the FAA
requires a specific grade maximum and minimum within the RSA. Chair Herston inquired
as to what the grade is related to. Mr. Parish commented the centerline of the runway and
that the centerline of the runway goes down, the edges go out, and that from that point, the
RSA has to be graded at a certain percentage. He commented that the problem is if the RSA
is graded to that percentage, about two feet will have to be cut, which will affect the water
table that is six inches below existing grade and downstream piping. He commented that if
the ditch is lowered two feet, none of the inverts work downstream. He commented that
raising the runway one foot is about $22 million additional as it effects the runway 15-33
tie in and all the taxiway tie ins. He commented that the Airport has had its current grading
for 72 years with no issues, that it is flatter than the FAA requires, and that the FAA’s
concern is that the water is not removed fast enough although it is not really an issue at the
Airport as the water cannot be removed fast enough regardless of what is done. Chair
Herston inquired as to what the approximate centerline elevation is. Mr. Parish commented
that it is about 23 feet. Chair Herston opined that the runway is approximately one of the
highest elevations in the County. Mr. Parish commented that except for the landfill, the
Airport is the highest elevation in the County. Chair Herston inquired as to Mr. Parish’s
opinion to the solution to the argument. Mr. Parish commented that the solution is for the
Airport to make the argument that it is expensive to meet the standard without raising the
runway and with raising the runway and that the Airport has been operating for 76 years
without any problems with a less than 1% grade. He commented that the FAA decided a
few years ago that they will not issue modifications to standards for RSA grading. He
commented that Staff went to the FAA with the information on the RSA, in which they said
they will not issue a modification and asked for the plans. He commented that when Staff
presented the plans, the FAA said to complete a modification to standards request and that
the FAA has indicated that they will review and approve the modification quickly.
c) Marketing Update – Mrs. Miller commented that she is working with a consultant from
Gravina, Smith, Matte & Arnold to create an annual summary in conjunction with the State
of the Airport report to serve as a pictorial narrative that recaps the last year that can be
shared with the public and stakeholders. She commented that the title will be View from
the Tower, which was a suggestion made by Chair Herston, and that it is a great way to
have a high-level perspective to review the highlights from the past year. She commented
that she will provide the Board with the final version before it is shared publicly, that there
will be a column in the Charlotte Sun newspaper from Chair Herston to introduce it to the
public, and that she will take printed request. Chair Herston commented that from a phone
call two weeks ago to today, it is amazing. Commissioner Oliver commented that it is
phenomenal and thanked Mrs. Miller for putting the summary together as it will be a tool
to use to publicize the Airport and the great things that are happening. Commissioner
Andrews commented that it is fantastic, and a job well done. Commissioner Coppola
inquired as to who does the photography. Mrs. Miller commented that a lot of the photos
were taken by Mrs. Paglialunga.
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Mr. Parish commented that he did forget to announce that the FDOT, through the FAA, has
come out with a second round of Covid relief for airports, with a third round expected. He
commented that earlier this week he received two prepopulated grant applications that he
signed, that once the grants are received the Board will have to approve them, and that the
first grant was for a little over $4 million for continued expenses with the second one for a
little under $200,000 for terminal tenant relief. He commented that a program or process
will have to be put together to determine how the money is distributed and that he is still
awaiting rules from the FAA for that portion of the funds. He commented that the $4 million
that he mentioned will go into an expense reimbursement account like the existing grant
and that if the Airport can continue to be profitable through the pandemic, the money will
eventually go into the reserve account to be used on other projects. He commented that one
of the reasons Staff is pushing forward with the five-unit hangars and FBO gang hanger is
the additional funding being received to cover expenses. He commented that he is working
with the Federal Affairs Committee with FAC and ACI on the third phase to ensure airports
are not left out. He commented that the next package currently has $8 billion for airports
within it.
d) Aviation Report – Mr. Mallard commented that January was the Airports third highest
month since the pandemic started in April, that there is still a decline in the northeast and
Canadian border cities, and that the Midwest remains strong. He commented that
Baltimore/Washington service will begin on May 27th every Thursday through Sunday and
that Allegiant just announced their Rapid City, South Dakota flights will start June 4th
through August 16th on Friday’s and Tuesday’s. He reported on passenger counts, fuel sales
and gallons pumped, aircraft ops, and hangar vacancies. He commented that Allegiant is
expecting their system to have a 20% increase through 2021 and opined that they are one
of the best airlines to be involved with this year and next year. Mr. Parish commented that
he received a 2020 review this morning by Slack Johnston & Magenheimer of commercial
airports and aviation in Florida, which he will send to the Board. He commented that the
report shows how the Airport was minimally impacted compared to other airports, that there
is a table that shows the percentage of passengers per month from the previous year, and
that the Airport is the highest every month with the exception of two months. He commented
that there is a lot of bad news in the aviation market, that the Airport continues to be slightly
better than most, and that he has to thank commercial and general aviation traffic. He
inquired if Mr. Mallard has the number of jet traffic by Allegiant versus general aviation.
Mr. Mallard commented that as of last week, from the first of the year, there have been
1,333 total operations from Allegiant and 690 business aircraft. Mr. Parish opined that
Charlotte County is again seeing the boom that was seen after Hurricane Charley and that
he hopes it continues more than a few years this time before pulling back.

40
12. Old Business
13. New Business
45

a) Resolution 2021-01 for Continuation of a Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) – Mr. Parish
commented that this Resolution is for PFC application number three, which will amend
application two and submit application three, and is a continuation of the $4.50 level. He
commented that all projects were included within the pre-application that was sent out and
that they follow the master plan. Commissioner Andrews motioned to approve
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Resolution 2021-01 as presented. Commissioner Hancik seconded. Motion passed
unanimously.
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b) Board Room Audiovisual Contract – Mr. Parish commented that this contract will update
all the audiovisual in the Board Room, that it was part of the budgetary process as part of
the capital improvements for this year, and that he would like to have the Board’s approval.
He commented that the audio will be upgraded and visual will be added to the facility and
that the quote came in slightly under the proposed fiscal budget for the year. Commissioner
Oliver confirmed with Mr. Parish that the update will allow the Board Meeting’s to be
livestreamed for the public. Commissioner Oliver motioned to approve the audiovisual
contract with DB Sound System, LLC as presented. Commissioner Andrews seconded.
Motion passed unanimously.
c) Outdoor LED Monument Signs & Installation Contract Award – Mr. Parish
commented that the pricing is on the yellow sheet of the Agenda and that it is for two signs
with one at the four-way stop outside of the Administration Building and the other at the
new general aviation center. He commented that they will be monument signs with the LED
signs included in the sign itself and that i2 Visual, Inc. was the low bidder at $48,125. He
commented that this project was included within the annual budget as part of capital
improvements for this year and that it came in slightly under budget. Chair Herston inquired
if the LED monument is a television screen. Mr. Parish commented that it is a large
television screen, but the pieces come out for easy replacement of old pixels.
Commissioner Hancik motioned to approve CEO Parish to enter into an agreement
with i2 Visual, Inc. in the amount of $48, 125. Commissioner Oliver seconded. Motion
passed unanimously.
d) Amendment to Agreement for Design of 50’ x 50’ Hangars – Mr. Parish commented that
this will be amendment two to the AECOM supplemental agreement three, which was for
the design of new T-hangars and box hangars. He commented that he would like to add the
50’ by 50’ hangars to that as they are across the taxilane from the other two. He commented
that AECOM believes they can meet the time frame and that a lot of the preliminary work
has already been completed. He opined that the most efficient way to complete the task
would be to let AECOM finish out the addition as part of their initial project. Chair Herston
inquired if the $75,000 provides the building plans for submission to the Building
Department. Mr. Parish commented that it provides the site development plans as the
buildings are bid with contractor design. Chair Herston commented that within Mr. Bayne’s
proposal, FDEP permitting is listed if necessary and that on the last page, it says that FDEP
is not included in his contract. Mr. Parish commented that FDEP permitting should not be
needed on this project. Commissioner Hancik inquired if these hangars are part of the
design-build project. Mr. Parish commented that this part was decided not to go designbuild on as it is faster to do design-bid-build as AECOM is already in the process.
Commissioner Hancik opined that it was a good idea to move the hangars north of the Thangars to reduce the cost and inquired if there is any flexibility in the size. Mr. Parish
commented that there is flexibility. Mr. Mallard commented that there are 13 total
individuals from the hangar waitlist requesting larger hangars. Mr. Parish commented that
all aircraft on the waitlist requesting larger hangars will fit in the 50’ by 50’ hangars and
that there will still be four 60’ by 60’ hangars available. He commented that Staff will work
with the potential tenants once pricing is worked out. Commissioner Hancik commented
that he cannot recall the standard on certain aircraft and opined that the Airport does not
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want to cut itself short. Mr. Parish commented that the hangars will fit all the ADG Class 1
aircraft that are currently on the hangar waitlist. Commissioner Hancik opined that the
tenants with RV aircraft will likely double or triple up in the larger hangars. He commented
that he is unsure if there is any cost benefit in relation to the doors as it is the most expensive
part of the building. Mr. Parish commented that there is room in the project sketch for 10
units and that if there is a need to have 60’ by 50’ units, four of those size units can be added
instead of five 50’ by 50’ units. Commissioner Hancik commented that it was a long time
coming and great to see them getting done. Mr. Parish commented that the CARES Grant
funding provided the additional capital necessary within reserve accounts to move the
projects up. Commissioner Hancik commented that he knows it would have been difficult
to receive funding for the hangars. Commissioner Hancik motioned to approve
Amendment number two to Supplemental Agreement number three as presented.
Commissioner Andrews seconded. Motion passed unanimously.
e) Board Packets – Commissioner Oliver commented that she understands that she is the first
new Commissioner in several years, that she has a slightly different background as she is
served on state and local government Boards, and that she has seen things done in different
ways. She commented that she made a recommendation and request to Mr. Parish pursuant
to Article 5, Section 3 of the Authority’s Bylaws to include additional information within
the Board packets that had been emailed to the Commissioners directly that she found very
helpful and was the basis for a lot of her decisions. She opined that it would help to have
the information within the Board packets for transparency and Board organization. She
commented that she is the only Board member who brings her own computer and that she
has no problem going back and looking through her emails although it is easier and more
efficient when all materials are included within the Board packet. She commented that she
sent an email to Mr. Parish making the recommendation, that she understands Mr. Parish
approved of the recommendation, and opined that since it is administrative in nature, there
is not anything for the Board to vote on, but she wanted to put it out there for everyone’s
knowledge that she had made the request. She opined that she usually has a pretty good idea
when something is going to be controversial and that she was taken aback by some emails
received, not from Mr. Parish. She commented that she received an email that said her
individual preference was noted not to receive direct email from the individual and that the
individual would discontinue emailing information to her directly. She commented that she
would like to clarify that she never requested to not receive direct emails from anyone but
rather requested to include the information within the Board packet for the sake of the
public. She commented that she would just like to ensure that she will still be receiving all
information as a dually elected official that every other Board member gets and that it will
not be withheld. She commented that Staff works hard, that the Board packets are really
good and in depth, and that it was just a suggestion to add a little more for transparencies
sake. Chair Herston commented that within the string of emails his name was mentioned
and that he did not realize he was creating a firestorm. He commented that he is usually a
little late at reading his Agenda packet due to his workload, that he requested Attorney Carr
provide additional information, which he did and copied everyone. He commented that he
will take the blame for the late request and that within the email Commissioner Oliver
commented that if there is disagreement with her request that Attorney and independent
contractor materials be included in the Board Agenda rather than emailed to the Board
directly, that the matter should be addressed as a Board at the next meeting. He commented
that the comment made by Commissioner Oliver is the subject matter for what is being said.
Commissioner Hancik commented that when he came on the Board six years ago, the
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Agenda was one page with one yellow page and that since Mr. Parish became CEO, the
Board packets and information has been extensive. He commented that he also previously
complained about the status of the Airports website, which was awful, and that Mrs. Miller
has corrected it and made it professional. He commented that he is having trouble
understanding what Commissioner Oliver is asking for. Commissioner Oliver commented
that she agrees that the Board packets have become more thorough and helpful and that she
can provide an example from the Board Workshop. She commented that at one point the
Board was addressing the changes in the insurance policies and Attorney Carr was reading
from a piece of paper that was an example that had been sent to the Board. She commented
that she is not trying to put anyone on the spot or accuse anyone of anything, which is why
she left it very generic as it is not as it applies to one person or not and that it is Mr. Parish’s
purview. She commented that as far as the Workshop, when Attorney Carr was reading
from the policy, she found the information super helpful, that the document was sent as an
email, and that she felt it would have been helpful if it had been included in the packet for
the Workshop. She commented that she understands that Workshops are completely Board
driven, resulting in a packet not usually given, and that she felt it would be very helpful to
have that document on the record and available for the public to see in addition to Attorney
Carr having the ability to say what he is referring to is on page 4 of the packet instead of
just saying that he sent the document to the Board. She commented that she is not trying to
accuse anyone of anything, that everyone does a great job, and that she just made a request
for a little tweak. She commented that she was surprised by what happened thereafter as it
was not her intent to accuse anyone of anything or to say that anyone was being
unprofessional or not comprehensive as that could not be further from the truth.
Commissioner Hancik opined that a Workshop is a little different as he views it as an open
forum to discuss anything which means a lot of times there will not be advanced information
available on a particular subject. He opined that there may need to be a definition as to how
the Chair would like to handle a Workshop. Mr. Parish commented that he will do his best
and that Workshops are difficult for Staff as there is not a lot of direction as most Board
Agenda items are developed by Staff for the Board or are provided by Commissioners with
a specific request. He commented that he understands and knows what to add, that there
will always be times when supplemental information is requested and provided to the Board,
and that Staff will do their best to supplement the Agenda packets on the Airport’s website
as that information goes out. Chair Herston opined that Mr. Parish and Staff do a great job
and that it is difficult to cover everything although he is convinced that the Airport has one
of the greatest Staff groups in the state. He commented that Commissioner Coppola likely
remembers the previous Agenda packets that were received, and that the previous Attorney
had no report for two years. Commissioner Coppola commented that when she has a
question with the Agenda, she will call Mr. Parish to ask him for further information. Mr.
Parish commented that as he did with this item, if he responds to a Board member, he will
supplement that with a response to all Board members, so everyone is aware of the same
information. He commented that he heard more information was requested during his time
as Assistant Director, that he made supplementing the packets with as much information as
possible one of his priorities, and that he will continue to do so as directed. Chair Herston
commented that he is very appreciative that as the Agenda items are considered the Board
can contact Attorney Carr as needed for his legal opinion. Commissioner Coppola
commented that Attorney Carr also does a great job at answering questions and that she
appreciates that. Commissioner Oliver commented that she believes this matter is taken care
of as long as any information provided to the other Board members is also provided to her
as she did not request to not receive emails. Attorney Carr commented that the reference is
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made to the email received on February 5th from Commissioner Oliver where she says she
does not want to receive material piece-meal and that he took that as Commissioner Oliver
did not want to receive the material directly. He commented that if Commissioner Oliver is
now of the opinion that she would like to receive his emails directly, he will include her on
the emails. Commissioner Oliver opined that what she wants is for all the information that
she needs, as a Board member, to make a decision on an Agenda item to be included in the
Board packets. She commented that to the extent that the information is not being included
in the Board packets, she would like Mr. Parish to ensure the information is included. She
commented that when her dad was on the Airport Authority, the Board Attorney reported
directed to the Board and that a change was made as Attorney Carr has informed her that
he reports to Mr. Parish as the Authority Attorney. She commented that according to the
Authority’s Bylaws, she must go through Mr. Parish, which is where her confusion lies in
who to contact regarding different matters. She commented that if there’s background
information needed to make a decision as a dually elected representative from Charlotte
County, she would prefer to have that information in the Board packet. She commented that
the preference is up to Mr. Parish to implement at his discretion as the Executive. Chair
Herston commented that in reference to piece-meal, it would be wonderful if all information
is received at the start however, as related to leases and sometimes proposals, materials do
sometimes come in within the seven-day window period that the packets are released. He
inquired if Commissioner Oliver would prefer to not have any type of piece-meal
information. Commissioner Oliver commented that it is not what she would like. She
commented that for example, with the Golf Contours lease, Attorney Carr did a great job of
emailing her all the background information, and she simply requested that the information
provided be included in the Board packet next time. She commented that if last minute items
occur, like the photos of Gulf Contours that were not able to be taken until the last minute,
that the information should be supplemented. She opined that if the Board is making
decisions based upon the information provided by Attorney Carr, independent contractors,
and engineers are providing, her preference is to include that information within the Board
packet so that every member of the public has access to the same information without
having to make a public records request. Attorney Carr commented that the specific
document that Commissioner Oliver objected to receiving just before the meeting was a
document requested just before the meeting. Commissioner Hancik opined that it is
important to understand as far as the public is concerned that everything in the Board packet
is available on the Airport’s website so that anyone can view the documents available to the
Board to aid in making a policy decision as opposed to a micromanagement or
administrative decision. Chair Herston commented that in the past, if one Board member is
insecure with the decision about to be made or if they feel that there is not enough
information, the Board has always continued the conversation in honor of the one Board
member request. He opined that he hopes the Board can continue that so that there is always
transparency to the public. Mr. Parish commented that the matter can be continued if needed
however Mr. Paul is on the phone and has an 11 AM meeting and would like to speak on
the next Agenda item to provide a little explanation before the Board makes a decision.
Chair Herston inquired if Commissioner Oliver is satisfied with this item. Commissioner
Oliver commented that she is if she is assured that she is getting all the information that
every other Board member is getting. Mr. Parish commented that Commissioner Oliver is
receiving all the same information that he sends the rest of the Board. Chair Herston
commented that he is aware of previous issues where some Commissioners will hit reply
all to emails, which should not be occurring. Commissioner Andrews commented that he is
very careful to ensure he is replying directly to the sender.
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f) CCAA 98-508 Legislative Change – Mr. Parish commented that it was brought to his
attention on Tuesday that on Monday a legal notice was published for a local Legislative
Delegation meeting through Zoom with the only subject being an amendment to the
Airport’s Enabling Legislation. He commented that he was unaware of the Delegation
meeting, so he sent the information to the Board and through Attorney Carr’s research, the
meeting items were received. He commented that he has been in contact with the Airport’s
lobbyist who was also unaware of the meeting and that he would like to have Mr. Paul, who
is in Tallahassee, speak for a moment. Mr. Paul commented that he is remotely monitoring
and confirmed with Mr. Parish that he is broadcasting to the public. Mr. Paul commented
that he reached out to Mr. Parish and wanted to be available in case there were any questions
that he can answer although he opined that Mr. Parish has covered everything that he
currently knows. Mr. Parish commented that he will let the Board lead the discussion as it
is a political matter and not an administrative item. Mr. Paul commented that he was able
to get his 10 a.m. meeting pushed to 11 a.m. for the Board meeting and that he will need to
get off the call at that time. Mr. Parish commented that it is an attempt to change the
Authority’s Enabling Legislation and that as it is in the political realm, he would prefer
direction from the elected officials instead of Staff providing or presenting direction. He
commented that Staff is ready to prepare any documents to send to the Legislative
Delegation at the Board’s direction. Commissioner Hancik opined that it is interesting that
it is a specific change to how the Airport Authority members are elected and that there is a
greater concern or question as a state legislator is interfering with local government. He
commented that he looks at the meeting as an end run to take another shot at the Airport
Investment Partnership Program (AIPP). He commented that the change is very specific
and will go into effect with the next election which is his and Commissioner Coppola’s term
end. He opined that if the change goes into effect, certain organization can get their members
to run while securing thousands of dollars of Republican dark money from Tallahassee to
ensure those individuals are elected to hold a majority on the Board, resulting in the
privatization question coming back up. He opined that he believes that is the reason for the
proposed change, that the timing is interesting, that few from the public know of a Zoom
meeting, and that the meeting date misses the City Council meetings and the County
Commission meeting. He commented that neither organization has an opportunity to
respond to the matter or create a formal resolution in response. He commented that he is in
a position to put forward a Resolution to be delivered to the Legislative Delegation by Chair
Herston objecting to the change while listing several reasons why to attempt to stop the
change. He opined that it is interesting that there is continual pushing to privatize the Airport
even though the Board voted it down, that it is not healthy, and that the proposed change
was sneaky as no one came to the Board to ask an opinion. He opined that it is important
for representation in Charlotte County to be via the districts so the Board cannot be stacked,
and each district has a representative to give a cross section of the County. He commented
that within his district there is a lot of aviation experience and retirees, more so than in
Englewood. He commented that it could be an asset, but another asset is what it means to
Charlotte County to have representation to the voters. He commented that if the people of
Charlotte County are not happy with the way Airport Authority members or County
Commissioners are elected with the residency required in the district, they should make the
effort to pursue legislation through voting to have it changed. Mr. Parish commented that if
it is desired to pass a Resolution that a document can be prepared, and an Emergency
Meeting can be held on Monday, but it will need to be scheduled. Commissioner Hancik
commented that if it is the Board’s direction to file an objective Resolution prior to the
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meeting, he would like each Board member to look at the Resolution to add individual
comments to it, although he feels Staff and Council have adequate capabilities.
Commissioner Coppola opined that something is very wrong, that a full investigation needs
to take place, and inquired if there is a state agency that can be hired to review the matter.
She commented that she has heard from the community that a recall may be coming for
Representative Grant as the community did not send him to Tallahassee to take the Airport
away from the individuals elected to the Board. She commented that she would like to know
why Representative Grant would like to change things and how it started. She commented
that Representative Grant did not ask his constituents if they wanted to make the change
and inquired who asked him to make the change. She commented that she would like all
correspondence that Mr. Parish had with Representative Grant regarding the change. Mr.
Parish commented that he has had no correspondence and that the first time he was aware
of the matter was Tuesday when a Staff member provided him with the legal ad section of
the paper, which he immediately took a photo of and sent to the Board. Commissioner
Coppola opined that her impression of what is happening is that when the pandemic hit and
the stock market started to sink, investors were losing money, and that those investors
looked towards the Airport who was still profitable through the pandemic. She commented
that she objected to the privatization proposal on several issues and that people come up to
her when she displays her FlyPGD gear to tell her how great their experience was at the
Airport. She commented that the Airport has survived many things through great
management, phenomenal employees, and a great relationship with the FAA. She opined
that the proposed change is awful and that she hopes everyone within the community stands
up and tells Representative Grant no. She commented that Representative Grant was not
sent to Tallahassee to destroy the Airport through a hostile takeover and that she is very
disappointed with Representative Grant. Commissioner Andrews commented that he is
opposed to the change in the Enabling Legislation and that he cannot improve on what
everyone has already said about the Airport pertaining to how its run, its value to the
community, and how far it has come. He opined that to change the legislation would be a
terrible mistake and that he opposes it completely. Commissioner Oliver opined that she
has no issue with the change and that she is unaware of any other elected body who gets to
choose how they are elected. She commented that the County Commissioner does not get
to say what their districts look like as they must go through a revision committee and that
the School Board is the same way. She commented that it is very much within the
Legislation Delegation’s purview to bring the change up and opined that there has not been
any accusation that the meeting has not gone through the proper channels. She opined that
it is self-serving for Board members to say that they do not want to have to face anyone
outside of their current district as individuals should be able to run for a position regardless
of the district and that she is unsure of why the Board should be limited in terms of
individuals with an interest and expertise in the Airport. She opined that all Airport Board
members should be elected at-large as the only asset is the Airport which does not involved
special projects across the County. She commented that if anyone feels there needs to be
representation from all areas of the County it should be brought up and opined that it could
be three large districts with one being west county, one mid-county, and one south/east
county with two at-large. She opined that it is not within her purview to decide how she is
elected. Commissioner Hancik commented that as he understands it, the School Board
members must reside within their district, which is the same as County Commissioners. He
commented that everyone in the County gets to vote on those members and that the
residency requirement within the district provides the representation across the Board.
Commissioner Oliver commented that she agrees. Commissioner Hancik inquired why
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anyone should be able to run at-large. Commissioner Oliver opined that you would not want
to have a County Commission elected totally at-large as they get to vote on matters that
affect projects within their district. She commented that in the case of the Airport the Board
is not particularly voting on things that affect different portions of the County as things like
flight patterns are determined by the FAA. Commissioner Hancik opined that the Airport’s
physical location does not matter as it is the impact that the Airport has not only on Charlotte
County but the air service area around the Airport. He opined that there is more to the
proposed change as he feels it is an end run to go around to try to privatize the Airport to
take the asset value and distribute it to wherever it is desired. Commissioner Coppola opined
that is the investor thing where someone said let’s look for businesses that are making a
profit because the stock market is tanking and that it was offered to six other airports in the
state that decided not to look at the matter. Commissioner Hancik motioned to develop a
Resolution in opposition of the legislative change and schedule and Emergency
Meeting for Monday to approve the drafted Resolution. Commissioner Coppola
seconded. Chair Herston commented that he would like to speak in defense of
Representative Grant as he received a call from Representative Grant about a week and a
half ago who asked him how he felt about voting at-large for the Airport Authority. He
commented that he told Representative Grant that he had no opinion at the time as he wanted
to review the facts. He opined that it is the people’s Airport and that it’s more of a legislative
or voting matter for the citizens. He opined that he believes all major voting districts fall
under the County’s five districts. Attorney Carr commented that he would like to note that
the Airport’s legislation says specifically that Airport’s districts mimic exactly what the
County Commission districts are and that he is unsure of the School Board. He commented
that the purpose of the change is to make elections an at-large selection process.
Commissioner Coppola opined that she does not think that is right as each individual was
elected by the people from their district to serve the people in their district and the whole
community. She commented that if someone would like to call a Commissioner and ask
what is happening at the Airport, they should have a representative to call. She opined that
equal representation is needed in each district for the Airport, County Commission, and the
School Board. She commented that she does not understand the reason for the proposed
change other than a profit motive for investors. Commissioner Andrews commented that
when he sees things like this matter, he immediately starts researching. He commented that
there are problems with voting at-large and that based on his research, he is not certain that
the change is the right move. Commissioner Hancik requested a roll call vote. Motion
passed 4-1 with Commissioner Oliver voting no. Attorney Carr commented that a time
needs to be set for the meeting to publish proper notices. Chair Herston commented that the
earlier the better for his schedule. Mrs. Paglialunga commented that the time frame desired
for scheduling is a start time between 8:30 AM and 9:00 AM. Commissioner Andrews
commented that he is fine with any time. Commissioner Oliver commented that she would
prefer 9:00 AM as she has children to get to school. Commissioner Coppola inquired as to
what the day is on Monday. Mr. Parish commented that it is February 22nd. Attorney Carr
confirmed with the Board that an Emergency Meeting is being set for February 22nd at 9:00
AM. Attorney Carr inquired if the drafted Resolution is to be circulated to the best ability
prior to the meeting or if the Board would prefer to have it at the meeting. The Board agreed
to have the drafted Resolution circulated prior to the meeting. Commissioner Hancik opined
that he is surprised that Commissioner Oliver did not recuse herself from the vote due to
her relationship with the author of the change. Commissioner Oliver opined that she is
surprised anyone of the Board can vote on the matter as it directly affects the Board and the
way it is voted in. She opined that if she is conflicted off the vote, that all Board members
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are conflicted off as it involved the Board's own self-preservation in restricting the districts
to make it easier for Board members to stay in office. Commissioner Coppola commented
that she objects to Commissioner Oliver's remark.
5

14. Commissioner’s Comments
Commissioner Andrews opined that everyone needs a break after the meeting.

10

Commissioner Oliver commented that since the last Board meeting, Don Lee, a long time
Commissioner, passed away. She opined that the Board would be remise not to note the fact
and that Mr. Parish sent the notice about a week after the last meeting. She commented that she
appreciates his long service to the community and the Airport and opined that he did a lot to
bring things to where they are now. She commented that she hopes he rest in peace.

15

Commissioner Coppola commented that Don Lee was a good friend of hers and that she is very
sad that he has passed. She commented that he was very instrumental during Hurricane Charley
to get everyone back on track and rebuild the Airport. She commented that he was a wonderful
man and that she hopes he rest in peace.

20

Commissioner Hancik commented that during a previous Workshop an item of discussion was
Mr. Vasey’s contract, which had no action taken on it, and that he would like the contract put
on the next meeting Agenda for consideration as to what can be done with the contract. He
commented that he brings that up as he was signing checks and came across a $5,000 payment
to Mr. Vasey. Chair Herston commented that the item can easily be added to Old Business.
Commissioner Oliver requested that a memorandum be prepared with different choices that are
available for Mr. Vasey’s contract with the pros and cons of each approach. She commented
that she would like the information as part of the Board packet to accompany the Agenda item.

25

30

Chair Herston thanked Commissioner Oliver for bringing up Don Lee, commented that he was
so instrumental and that it is sad to think about. He commented that Staff does a great job and
thanked Attorney Carr for his great expertise.
15. Adjournment

35

Meeting adjourned at 11:07 a.m.

____________________________________
James W. Herston, Chair
40
___________________________________
Robert D. Hancik, Secretary/Treasurer

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
MINUTES OF EMERGENCY MEETING – FEBRUARY 22, 2021 – 9:00 A.M.
5

1. Call to Order
2.

10

Invocation
Commissioner Andrews gave the invocation.

3. Pledge of Allegiance
4. Roll Call
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Present: Chair Herston (arrived at 9:02 A.M.); Commissioners Andrews, Coppola, Hancik and
Oliver; Attorney Carr; CEO Parish; Mrs. Paglialunga; Mr. Mallard; Mrs. Miller; Mr. Laroche;
Mrs. Cauley (via video); Mr. Ridenour (via video); Mrs. Pardal (via video); Ms. Pedigo (via
video); Mrs. Delph (via video); Mrs. Harper (via video); Mrs. Straw (via video); Mr. Thames
(via video); Ms. Desguin (via video), and Mr. Laliberte (via video). Others present: Richard
Pitz; Stan Smith; Jerry O’Halloran; Morgan Cook (via video); Gary Duncan (via video);
Richard Jahnke (via video); Sarah Beaver (via video); Jim Druyor (via video); others from the
private sector, and a member of the press.
5. Citizen’s Input
Vice-Chair Andrews passed the gavel to Chair Herston at 9:02 A.M.
Stan Smith – Commented that he is speaking as a concerned citizen of District Four. He
commented that this past weekend he has had an amazing number of calls as most individuals
know he is at the Airport six to seven days a week and that 23 of those people would like him
to start a petition to recall Commissioner Oliver and Representative Grant. He commented that
he is not going to start the petition. He commented that individuals are very upset about what
is going on and that they asked that he appear before the Board to request that Resolution 202102 is passed.
Jerry O’Halloran – A T-hangar tenant, commented that he read the paper this morning where
Representative Grant had a letter to the Editor. He opined that the letter is flawed as it says the
Airport is stifling competition by not doing what Representative Grant desires, which is
elections at-large. He opined that the bottom line is the change has the potential of restricting
major areas of voters and that the change can be compared to eliminating the electoral college.
He commented that if the electoral college was eliminated, New York, Chicago, and California
would control the Country and that example is the result of having people vote at-large. He
commented that he was glad to hear that the Board voted 4-1 to not support the change to the
bill that was proposed by Representative Grant. He commented that Representative Grant
denies any involvement with the change although he has been busy defending his position and
opined that it is wrong. He commented that there has been a lot of money involved in
conversations and that at the last meeting he attended Mr. Vasey discussed how a contract was
signed and a check was written for $400 million in addition to $8 million per year for the next
40 years for the duration of the lease. He commented that it is a lot of money and that the matter
with Mr. Vasey should be investigated as the public has a right to know what started the
conspiracy. He commented that Rush Limbaugh said that there is always something good to be
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found in every event and opined that what has happened in the last month or two is that major
interest has been expressed about the Airport all over the County. He thanked the Board for
their support and their vote today.
5

Chair Herston commented that written Citizen’s Input was received from Ron Kot and Mary
Ann Kot in opposition of the legislative change (see attached).
6. Resolution 2021-02 in Opposition of Amending Chapter 98-508, Laws of Florida
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Mr. Parish commented that the Resolution was drafted by Attorney Carr with some guidance
from Staff and the Airport’s Lobbyist team in Tallahassee. Commissioner Hancik motioned
to adopt Resolution 2021-02 as presented. Commissioner Andrews seconded.
Commissioner Oliver commented that she understands Mr. O’Halloran believes it will be a 41 vote however she could be convinced to support the Resolution with an amendment. She
commented that she’d like to strike paragraph three in its entirety and replace it with a paragraph
that states the Charlotte County Airport Authority supports modifying Chapter 98-508, Laws
of Florida, to allow Airport Commissioners to serve a maximum of two terms in office. She
opined that the Heritage Foundation said it best when they said the only serious opponents of
term limits are incumbent politicians and the special interest that serve them. She opined that if
it is the will of the Board to have single member districts that are elected by the entirety of the
County that she thinks it’s a good idea to pursue term limits as it keeps individuals accountable
to the citizens and allows for greater competition. Commissioner Hancik opined that the
proposed amendment is interesting because if you look at mechanically what would happen, he
and Commissioner Coppola are up for reelection in 2022, so if the change was adopted, it would
eliminate both Commissioners from running for office again, which then presents the
opportunity to stack the Board. He opined that the proposed amendment changes the direction
of the Resolution and places it back into controversy at the last minute, which isn’t appropriate.
He commented that the Board has not had the opportunity to research the proposed change and
that the Board is only addressing the proposal Representative Grant is trying to pass. He
commented that he understands term limits and opined that if particular Commissioners get
reelected from time to time, one might argue that the voters of Charlotte County are happy with
the elected official’s performance. Commissioner Oliver commented that she doesn’t believe
the Legislative Delegation is limited to the exact proposal that has been submitted and opined
that they may be taking into consideration the many comments received from across the
community to amend their suggested changes to how the Airport is elected. She commented
that she has done research on airports and special districts in Florida and that in 2017 there were
only 25 special districts with two being dissolved since then. She commented that out of the 23
remaining, only Charlotte County and one other special district has elected airport
Commissioners and that the rest are Gubernatorial, Board of County Commissioner, or City
Council appointments. She commented that most do not have geographic limitations with Saint
Augustine being the only other elected Board that requires their Commissioners reside in the
area. She opined that the Board needs to be cognizant of the way that things seem to be done
and the trends across the state, which are not necessarily the way things are done at the Airport.
She opined that the Board should keep in mind that the only subject matter being addressed by
the Legislative Delegation is the way that the Airport Board is elected and that nothing should
be taken off of the table. Commissioner Hancik opined that it should be considered why electing
County Commissioners or School Board members at-large wasn’t included in the proposal and
why the Airport is being targeted. He commented that in the 2010 and 2015 Charter Review,
the election of County Commissioners at-large was addressed but didn’t go anywhere and that
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if you look at the record, Representative Grant was on the 2010 Charter Review Commission,
although he isn’t sure who voted which way. He opined that he believes the Airport is being
targeted. Commissioner Oliver commented that the County and School Board elections are
determined by the Charter Review Committee and that the legislator has no say in the matter.
She commented that the State Constitution governs the residency requirements, which only
requires that a Commissioner reside within the district at the time of qualification. She
commented that the body was created by the legislator and that the legislator completely
controls. She commented that in 2013 the Airport Board made a request to the state legislators,
which was passed, to amend the way Airport Commissioners are elected. She opined that the
Board made it more difficult for challengers to come forward by imposing a six-month
residency requirement and commented that all other representatives do not need to reside within
their elected district until qualified or elected to office. She opined that it will be a challenge if
the borders ever change and someone wants to run for reelection after being drawn outside of
their district. She commented that in that situation, you cannot move out of your district while
continuing to represent it and you also cannot run for reelection as you won’t have resided in
the new district for six-months prior to seeking office. She opined that the change made it really
difficult for challengers. She commented that she’d like to note that in paragraph three of the
Resolution it says approved by a majority of the voters of Charlotte County by referendum
during a general election, that there is no basis for that request, and the Board certainly did not
make that request when it decided that it would be harder for opponents to come forward and
challenge the status quo and incumbents. Commissioner Coppola commented that not many, if
any, of the airports Commissioner Oliver mentioned are doing as well as the Airport. She opined
that things should be kept the way they are as the Board members know and value the Airport.
She commented that pertaining to term limits, she’s been a Commissioner the longest and has
seen the Airport through the good and bad times and decisions. She opined that Commissioners
learn and grow each year and each term and that if one is only interested in making what’s being
done successful, that’s all that is needed to know as other people have other motives. She
commented that she’d like to see the Airport successful for the community, passengers, and
economic development. Commissioner Oliver motioned to amend the original motion by
revising the Resolution to strike paragraph three in its entirety while replacing it with a
paragraph that the Charlotte County Airport Authority supports modifying Chapter 98508, Laws of Florida, to allow Airport Commissioners to serve a maximum of two terms
in office. Motion to amend the initial motion failed. Commissioner Oliver commented that
she would suggest revising the Resolution to strike the second Whereas clause on page two that
says no input was sought from the CCAA Board or Administration as to any need to change the
single member district requirement. She opined that it is slightly misleading as she understands
from last meeting that Chair Herston spoke with Representative Grant about the proposed
changes, that she also spoke with Representative Grant about the proposed changes, and that
she believes Administration has discussed potential changes with Representative Grant in the
past year. Chair Herston opined that Commissioner Oliver has a good point and opined that it
may need to be changed to Board or corporate input. Attorney Carr commented that the
Resolution is drafted based upon the information at the last meeting where Chair Herston stated
that an inquiry was made and that he said he’d be willing to discuss although no indication was
given that it had been discussed with Representative Grant. He commented that Administration
has not told him that they have been in communication with Representative Grant and opined
that it’s interesting to know that Commissioner Oliver was in communication but as the
Legislative Liaison, did not disclose the matter to the Board or mention what was discussed
with Representative Grant. He opined that he would have no way of knowing what to put in the
Resolution relative to Commissioner Oliver’s conversation and that if she would prefer to
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disclose the conversation, it can be discussed. Commissioner Oliver commented that she has
had discussions with Representative Grant about proposed changes to the way the Airport
Authority Board is elected. Commissioner Coppola commented that she’d like dates of when
the conversations took place. Attorney Carr inquired as to when those conversations took place
and why the Board or Administration wasn’t told of the conversations. Commissioner Oliver
inquired if she’s required to disclose every conversation that she has with other elected officials.
Commissioner Coppola commented that as the Legislative Liaison she should. Commissioner
Oliver commented that at the last meeting she told the Board about it by mentioning the
upcoming Legislative Delegation meeting including the date, time, and how it can be accessed.
She inquired when else she was supposed to mention that as there are Sunshine Laws in place
limiting her communication with other Board members. Commissioner Coppola opined that the
Legislative Liaison may need to be changed. Chair Herston inquired if Commissioner Oliver’s
request was a motion. Commissioner Oliver commented that it wasn’t a motion as she won’t be
supporting the Resolution and that it was brought up for the rest of the Board to decide and
discuss. Commissioner Hancik commented that he would like to see how the Board feels about
directing the Chair to deliver the Resolution by email and by voice that it exist in tomorrow’s
Zoom meeting. Chair Herston confirmed that Commissioner Hancik feels that whatever is
adopted should be deliver by both email and voice by the Chair. Commissioner Coppola
inquired if the Board would like a response back that it was received. Chair Herston opined that
it couldn’t hurt. Commissioner Hancik opined that the public needs to be made aware of the
Resolution if adopted. Chair Herston opined that the request can be a condition of adoption of
the Resolution. Attorney Carr commented that what normally happens with a Resolution in
support or opposition of a matter would be to submit the Resolution to the Delegation, which
will then attach to the legislation, and follow it all of the way to the Governor’s desk. He
commented that the Resolution would be part of the overall package and that it should be sent
with a transmittal letter and asked to be included with part of that information. He commented
that he would recommend that it be sent to the entire Legislative Delegation and their
Legislative Aides to make certain the request be that it follow the bill through. Commissioner
Hancik confirmed with Attorney Carr that the Resolution would become part of the permanent
record associated with the adoption. Chair Herston opined that the word adamantly refers to
great insistence of what’s being stated in the Resolution and that there are additional subjects
that are beyond the scope of the Resolution. Attorney Carr commented that the Board does not
live and die by the Legislator, that the Legislator can choose to abolish the Authority although
it’s subject to approval by the entire electorate of Charlotte County. He commented that it is
subject to Resolution and opined that the same Statute would apply for the purposes of any type
of Resolution relative to the change one could ask for. He commented that the Board lives and
dies by the electorate of Charlotte County. Commissioner Hancik requested a roll call vote.
Motion passed 4-1 with Commissioner Oliver voting no. Attorney Carr confirmed with
Commissioner Hancik that the direction was to transmit the Resolution to the Legislative
Delegation by cover correspondence, signed by Chair Herston, indicating that the Resolution
was adopted today.
7. Adjournment

45

Meeting adjourned at 9:31 a.m.
___________________________________
Robert D. Hancik, Secretary/Treasurer

____________________________________
James W. Herston, Chair

Amy Paglialunga
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

MARY ANN KOT <mamkot@aol.com>
Sunday, February 21, 2021 8:40 PM
Amy Paglialunga
Citizens Input

I strongly oppose the change to the way the people of Charlotte County elect their Airport Authority representatives.
This change is detrimental to the long term success of the airport and Charlotte County
Mary Ann Kot
2526 Rio Grande Drive
Punta Gorda
Sent from my iPad
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Amy Paglialunga
From:
Sent:
To:
Cc:
Subject:

ron kot <kozykot@yahoo.com>
Sunday, February 21, 2021 8:29 PM
Amy Paglialunga
ron kot
Election Of Charlotte County Airport Authority Commissioners

I am against changing the Charlotte County Airport By Laws to elect the commissioners at large
instead of by districts. The change would deprive Charlotte County residence representation by
someone who lives, works and plays in their district. Local people vote for local needs. If this is such
a good idea and not about power and money where is the draft to elect the county commissioners at
large and the draft to elect the Charlotte County School Board members at large?
Ron Kot
400 Caicos Dr
Punta Gorda FL
kozykot@yahoo.com
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TIE-DOWN TENANT AGREEMENT
THIS TIE-DOWN TENANT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into on this
day of
, 20
by and between
,
(“Tenant”) and CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY (“Authority”). The parties hereto
agree as follows:
1.
LEASE OF SPACE. Authority will lease to Tenant a tie-down space to be used and
occupied by Tenant solely for the tie-down of an aircraft (the “Aircraft”).
AIRCRAFT MAKE & MODEL:

FAA Registration No:

.

2.
TERM. The Term of this Agreement begins on _____________________ and shall
terminate on
.
3.
RENT. In consideration for the use of a tie down space, Tenant shall pay to Authority
the monthly rent (the “Rent”) of
Dollars ($
) (sales tax not
included). All subsequent rent payments shall be payable on or before the first day of each month
thereafter.
4.
USE OF SITE. Tenant shall have the right and privilege to use a non-specified tiedown space and not a specific tie-down site location, together with the necessary rights of ingress and
egress, for the sole purpose of tie-down/storing the Aircraft. The space may not be used for any other
purpose. No commercial activity of any kind whatsoever shall be conducted by Tenant in, from, or
around the space including, but not limited to, maintenance, training, vending and/or catering, without
prior written approval of Authority. No other unlawful, improper, or offensive use of the site shall be
permitted. On termination of the Agreement, by expiration or otherwise, Tenant shall immediately
surrender possession of space and shall immediately remove Aircraft and all other property therefrom,
leaving the site free of any residual damage. Tenant shall be responsible to clean up any contamination
of tie down space. The Authority has the absolute right to move the aircraft to another space at any
time. Tenant shall maintain the aircraft so it may be moved including but not limited to inflated tires
and tie-downs that can be undone. Tie-downs shall otherwise be at all time adequately affixed to secure
the aircraft but not in a form or manner that precludes movement of the aircraft.
5.
CONDITION OF THE AIRCRAFT. A copy of the FAA registration of the Aircraft
must be provided to Authority before occupying the space. The Aircraft shall not be derelict or in an
unsightly appearance. The Aircraft must be maintained as airworthy in accordance with FAA
regulations.
6.
PARKING. Tenant may drive a vehicle to tie-down space only to load or unload, after
being inspected. No vehicle shall be left unattended at any time. Any unattended vehicle may be towed
at Tenant’s expense.
7.
INDEMNIFICATION. The Tenant shall indemnify and save harmless the Authority
and the persons herein above designated from any judgment recovered by anyone for personal injury
or property damage sustained or claimed to have been sustained by reason of the activities of the Tenant
and the Tenant shall pay all expenses in defending against any such claim made against the Authority.
8.
ASSIGNMENT. Tenant may not assign this Agreement, or otherwise sublet, or grant
any license to use the space.

9.
TERMINATION. The Authority may terminate this Agreement at any time with or
without cause.
10.
NOTICE. Any notice by either party to the other shall be in writing and shall be deemed
to have been duly given only if delivered personally or sent by registered or certified mail in a postpaid
envelope addressed, if to the Tenant, at the following address:
Name
Street Address
City/ State/Zip
Phone
Email
or if to the Authority, at:
CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, FL 33982
or, to such other address as maybe designated in writing. Notice shall be deemed to have been duly
given, if delivered personally or e-mail upon delivery thereof, and if by regular mail, on the third day
after postmark.
11.
ENFORCEMENT. In the event that it becomes necessary to enforce collection of
rent or performance of the terms under which the Tenant is permitted to rent and occupy the site as set
forth herein, the Tenant shall be responsible for all costs of collection, enforcement or eviction or
aircraft removal including reasonable attorney's fees. This agreement shall be interpreted by the laws
of Florida and jurisdiction and venue for any litigation arising from this Agreement shall be exclusively
in the Florida courts in and for Charlotte County Florida
12. RULES AND REGULATIONS. The Tenant shall abide by the provisions of this Agreement
between Authority and Tenant. Tenant specifically acknowledges receipt of and agrees to abide by the
attached Tie-Down Rules and Regulations. The Tenant acknowledges it is subject to all provisions of
the Agreement and attached Tie-Down Rules and Regulations including right of aircraft inspection and
termination in the event the use of the site is determined not in conformance. Tenant’s failure to comply
with these Rules and Regulations or to immediately cease and desist any activity upon request may
result in immediate termination of this Agreement.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have affixed their hands and seals on
.
WITNESS:

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
By:
By:

FBO Manager / Administrator
Tenant

TIE-DOWN
RULES AND REGULATIONS
1. All vehicle drivers must be badged by Charlotte County Airport Authority “CCAA”.
2. All vehicles shall not block TAXIWAYS or restrict movement of aircraft while
loading/unloading. No parking is allowed on airfield.
3. Speed limit on ramp will not exceed 10 M.P.H. for vehicular traffic.
4. All aircraft will observe prudent taxi speeds in accordance with current FAA guidelines or
directives.
5. Vehicles and Pedestrians may not enter any RUNWAY, TAXIWAY or SAFETY AREA.
Please be aware of your location always and limit the amount of driving you must do on the
aprons and ramp areas to an absolute minimum.
6. Aircraft repairs and/or maintenance may be completed upon request and approval by the
Authority by a provider FAA certified pursuant to Federal Air Regulations, Part 43. All aircraft
maintenance performed must be completed by an Authority approved aircraft mechanic.
7. The following items, including but not limited to, are strictly prohibited and may result in
immediate termination of this site Agreement:
a. Spray painting.
b. Power sanding or the generation of any nuisance (dust, etc.) or other hazard.
c. Welding.
d. Major engine overhauls & fuel system drainage.
e. Major aircraft repairs.
f. Kerosene or gas fired heaters or any type of open flame heater or apparatus.
g. Airport facilities and resources are for aircraft use only. Washing or maintenance of cars,
trucks, boats, or other mechanical apparatus is prohibited.
h. The creation of any environmentally hazardous condition is prohibited.
i. No washing of aircraft.
8. Tenant’s failure to comply with these Rules and Regulations or to immediately cease and desist
any activity upon request may result in immediate termination of this Agreement.
I hereby acknowledge receipt of these rules and regulation, have read and understand Rule
and Regulations and agree to adhere to each at all times.

Tenant
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Charlotte County Airport Authority
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (Balance Sheet)
1/31/2021

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Net Receivables
Inventories
Prepaid Expenses
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
CAPITAL ASSETS
Land
Buildings
CCAA Master Plan
Capital Improvements
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment
Donated Surplus
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Construction in Progress
TOTAL CAPITAL ASSETS, NET
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCESPENSIONS
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITES
Accounts and Contracts Payable
Accrued Expenses
Deferred Revenue
Client Deposits
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Estimated Liability for Compensated Absences
State Infrastructure Bank Loan
Net OPEB Obligation
Net Pension Liability
TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES-PENSIONS
NET POSITION
RESERVES
Non Catastrophic Exp Reserve
Contaminated/Pollutant Reserve
Insurance Escrow Reserve
Building Reserve
Parking Lot Reserve
Air Traffic/Navigation/Safety Reserve
Rental Car Improvement Reserve
T-Hangar Reserve
TOTAL RESERVES
Retained Earnings
NET PROFIT / LOSS
TOTAL NET POSITION
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

$22,546,286
4,417,567
146,165
248,684
27,358,701
5,533,331
53,113,985
1,727,490
42,906,127
6,235,923
67,300
(52,088,325)
20,038,422
77,534,253
1,255,154
$106,148,108

$753,191
1,374,514
196,396
270,263
2,594,364
90,895
1,860,771
36,293
3,661,524
5,649,483
8,243,846
225,257
34,529
107,500
237,850
2,526,483
1,482,570
208,038
46,522
182,235
$4,825,727
87,505,130
5,348,147
97,679,004
$106,148,108
3/3/2021
9:50 AM
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2021 State Legislative Priorities
(last updated March 8, 2021)
State Affairs Committee Call
Monday, March 8, 2021 – 3:30 p.m. EST/ 2:30 p.m. CST
https://zoom.us/j/98408030702?pwd=ZDMyekVjVm1OSCtoY1ZYbmwzOHJzdz09
Call In: 646-876-9923
Meeting ID: 984 0803 0702
Passcode: 414685
(New information is shown in red)
a. Welcome - Roy Sieger, State Affairs Committee Chair, Flagler Exec. Airport
b. 2021 Legislative Points of Interest – JB Lobby Team (Darrick McGhee & Eric Prutsman)
c. FAC Priorities - Updates following Committee Weeks (Darrick McGhee & Eric Prutsman)
High Priority:
1. Aviation Work Program State Funding for Airport Development Grant Program - FAC SUPPORTS state
funding for airport development that is no less than that which is proposed by FDOT in the Tentative
Work Plan for 2021/22. The Governor’s budget is not proposing an increase nor a decrease for aviation
but proposes a repeat of the current aviation funding of this fiscal year (20-21) for next fiscal year (2122).
2. Aviation Fuel Taxes - FAC OPPOSES further reductions in the Aviation Fuel Tax.
3. Certified Engineering Inspection (CEI) Services required in addition to design Engineer of Record (EOR)
- FAC SUPPORTS an exemption from this provision. HB57 Favorable with CS by Tourism,
Infrastructure & Energy Subcommittee; 18 Yeas, 0 Nays and references to Ways & Means Committee,
Infrastructure & Tourism Appropriations Subcommittee removed; remaining reference: Commerce
Committee. SB 1194 was referred to Transportation; Appropriations Subcommittee on Transportation,
Tourism, and Economic Development; Appropriations.
4. Diesel Exhaust Fluid - FAC has developed Best Management Practices for the prevention of fuel
contamination. FAC OPPOSES legislative action that interferes with airport management and FBO
contracts regarding the use of DEF. HB 77 was heard in the house Tourism, Infrastructure & Energy
subcommittee on February 3, where it passed favorably receiving 14 yays and 3 nays. The bill’s next
committee stop will be the Infrastructure & Tourism Appropriations Subcommittee. SB 1082 was
temporarily postponed by Chair Harrell last week in the Transportation committee.
5. Ad Valorem Tax Exemptions for airport leases (added 1/5/2021) - FAC SUPPORTS clarification of FS
196.012 regarding the exemption of airport leases associated with aviation related services from local ad
valorem tax assessments, consistent with historical precedent. SB 1702 was filed February 25, 2021 and
Representative Harding filed HB 1555 last Monday, it was Referred to Tourism, Infrastructure & Energy
Subcommittee; Ways & Means Committee; Commerce Committee.
6. Commercial Service Airports - Transparency in governing airports, FAC SUPPORTS greater flexibility
on the procurement thresholds for commodities and contractual services identified under FS 287. FAC is
working with the 2020 bill sponsor (Rep Avila/R-111/Hialeah) to address an increase in the thresholds
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for contracts and procurement and clarification of other conflicts in the 2020 bill. Also, Sen. Diez (R36/Hialeah) has submitted SB 154, relating to local government transparency and it has been referred to
Community Affairs; Finance and Tax; Appropriations.
7. PFAS - FAC SUPPORTS legislation that provides exemptions to liability from the costs associated
with any investigation or clean-up and any 3 rd party claims as the FAA requires airports to use these
substances for Aircraft Firefighting purposes. PFAS is a family of several thousand chemicals that are
used in a wide variety of products and processes, including firefighting foams (AFFF). FAC
participates on a panel of stakeholders facilitated by the Florida League of Cities and is clo sely
monitoring draft legislation. Text is provided on the State Affairs committee page on the FAC website.
SB 1054, Brownfield Site Rehabilitation, was filed and has been referred to Environment and Natural
Resources; Appropriations Subcommittee on Agriculture, Environment, and General Government;
Appropriations. HB 705, Soil and Groundwater Contamination was Referred to Environment,
Agriculture & Flooding Subcommittee; Civil Justice & Property Rights Subcommittee; State Affairs
Committee.
8. Turo/Peer-to-peer vehicle transactions - FAC will work with industry stakeholders to seek legislation that
ensures parity for this line of business. FAC and the Ports Council are looking for synergy on this issue.
HB 365, SB 566, HB 708 and HB 785 have all been filed and referenced to their respective committees.
Support:
9. COVID-19 Liability (moved to support 1/19/2021) – FAC will monitor the progression of the house and
senate bills regarding COVID Liability for businesses. HB 7 Passed (Vote: 83 Yeas / 31 Nays). SB 72
passed the Commerce and Tourism committee with 7 yeas and 4 nays.
10.

Enterprise/Visit Florida - FAC SUPPORTS the continued funding of Enterprise Florida and Visit Florida,
which is vital to the sustainability of tourism and its economic contribution to the state’s economy. Added
as a priority 12/15/2020. HB 675 was referred to Infrastructure & Tourism Appropriations
Subcommittee; Tourism, Infrastructure & Energy Subcommittee; Appropriations Committee. SB 778 on
Committee agenda - Appropriations Subcommittee on Transportation, Tourism, and Economic
Development, 03/10/21, 1:00 pm.

Monitor
11. Concealed Weapons or Open Carry of Weapons in Airport Terminals - FAC OPPOSES any legislation
related to concealed weapons and firearms that would allow an individual to openly or concealed carry a
handgun on airport property.
12. Transportation Network Companies - FAC SUPPORTS the removal of for-hire vehicles from the list of
those exempt from airport regulations.
13. Real-ID - FAC SUPPORTS airport efforts to educate the traveling public regarding Real-ID.
14. Legislative Review of Professions and Occupations - FAC will monitor proposals regarding deregulation
of professions and occupations, focusing on those that might impact Florida Airports and Businesses HB
471 and its companion, SB 344 have both been filed. SB 344 has been referred to the Governmental
Oversight and Accountability; Appropriations; and Rules committees and HB 471 Referred to Regulatory
Reform Subcommittee; Children, Families & Seniors Subcommittee; Appropriations Committee;
Commerce Committee.
15. Legislation related to Special Districts - FAC will monitor proposals that might impact special districts.
Page 2 of 4

16. Aircraft Sales and Lease Tax - FAC supports the repeal of the tax on the sale or lease of aircraft. HB 6047
and SB 842 have been filed to exempt all aircraft sales & leases from sales & use tax. The house bill was
Referred to Ways & Means Committee; Commerce Committee; Appropriations Committee and the Senate
bill to Referred to Commerce and Tourism; Finance and Tax; Appropriations. SB 842 was Referred to
Commerce and Tourism; Finance and Tax; Appropriations.
17. Drones - FAC will monitor the bills regarding the Use of Drones by Government Agencies. Expanding
the authorized uses of drones by law enforcement agencies, by a state agency or political subdivision, or
by certified fire department personnel for specified purposes, etc. SB 44 was Placed on Calendar, on 2nd
reading and SB 518 placed on Committee agenda - Military and Veterans Affairs, Space, and Domestic
Security, 03/09/21, 9:00 am.
18. Public Works Projects – FAC will monitor the progression of these bills. Revises prohibition relating to
any solicitation for construction services paid for with state or locally appropriated funds, or any
combination thereof; prohibits state or any political subdivision that contracts for public works project
from taking specified action against certain persons that are engaged in public works project or have
submitted bid for such project. HB 53 and SB 1076 have both been filed. HB 53 was found Favorable
with CS by Government Operations Subcommittee; 10 Yeas, 6 Nays. SB 1076 On Committee agenda Governmental Oversight and Accountability, 03/10/21, 10:30 am
19. Electric Vehicles – FAC will monitor SB 138, HB 817, HB 819 and SB 140. Revising the Department of
Transportation's goals relating to mobility; requiring the department to establish the Electric Vehicle
Infrastructure Grant Program; providing for the distribution of grants to certain entities to install electric
vehicle charging infrastructure; specifying that certain rules adopted by the Department of Agriculture
and Consumer Services may not require specific methods of sale for electric vehicle charging equipment
used in, and services provided in, this state, etc.
20. State Preemption of Seaport Regulations – FAC will monitor SB 426 and HB 267. Preempting to the state
the regulation of commerce in state seaports; providing exceptions, etc. SB 426 placed On Committee
agenda - Transportation, 03/10/21, 8:00 am.
21. Transportation Projects – FAC will monitor HB 729 and SB 1364. Limits amount of State Transportation
Trust Fund revenues to be committed for certain public transportation projects; revises amount of funding
allocated by DOT to transportation construction projects for purchase of plant materials; revises types of
projects receiving allocation; removes requirement that certain amount of allocation be for purchase of
large plant materials; requires purchased plant materials to be grown in this state; authorizes DOT to enter
into certain contracts without advertising & receiving competitive bids; authorizes DOT to combine
certain work phases
22. Department of Transportation – FAC will monitor SB 1126 and HB 1385. Clarifying that the Department
of Revenue is responsible for a certain transfer from the State Treasury to the General Revenue Fund of
a portion of documentary stamp tax distributions credited to the State Transportation Trust Fund; deleting
a requirement that the department provide space and video conference capability at each of the
department’s district offices as an alternative to physical appearance by a person requesting a hearing
before the Commercial Motor Vehicle Review Board within the department; requiring the department,
when proposing any project on the State Highway System which will close or modify an existing access
to an abutting property owner, to provide notice to affected property owners, municipalities, and counties
at least 180 days before the design phase of the project is completed, etc. SB 1126 placed On Committee
agenda - Transportation, 03/10/21, 8:00 am.
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23. Attorney General Designation of Matters of Great Governmental Concern – FAC will monitor HB 1053
and SB 1874. Authorizes AG to declare that matter is matter of great governmental concern; provides
AG has sole authority to file certain civil proceedings; authorizes AG to institute or intervene in civil
proceedings; provides declaration by AG abates or stays certain civil proceedings; provides certain
settlements & resolutions are void.
24. Funding of Aviation Development Projects – FAC will monitor HB 1143 and SB 1466. Provides that
specified funding of aviation development projects is limited to general aviation airports or commercial
service airports under certain circumstances. SB 1466 referred to Transportation; Appropriations
Subcommittee on Transportation, Tourism, and Economic Development; Appropriations.
25. Zephyrhills Municipal Airport Improvements – FAC will monitor HB 2343. Provides an appropriation
for the Zephyrhills Municipal Airport Improvements.
26. Weekly calls begin – Every Monday at 3:30 PM – Session Ends April 30, 2021
• March 8th
• April 12th
• March 15th
• April 19th
• March 22nd
• April 26th
• March 29th
• May 3rd – Session Wrap Up
th
• April 5

Page 4 of 4

Memorandum
To:
From:
Date:
Re:

James Parish CEO CCAA
Darol H.M. Carr, Esq.
March 10, 2021
Termination options Vasey Aviation Group, LLC

Per direction I provide this memorandum reference termination options relative to Vasey
Aviation Group, LLC’s Development Agreement (hereinafter Agreement) dated December 19,
2019. A copy of the Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit 1.

Current Term and Status: The Agreement was entered into under date of December 19, 2019
with a term of December 1, 2019 through November 30, 2020. Paragraph 2 of the Agreement
provides for an automatic renewal with two successive twelve-month terms unless a party provides
written notice of at least thirty days prior to the automatic renewal date. Therefore, the Agreement
runs currently through November 30, 2021. Monthly payments are $5,000.00. The payments for
December and January payments are made. This leaves a total of $50,000.00 payable under the
Agreement for the balance of the term.

Termination: Paragraph 13 governs the termination of the subject contract. Paragraph 13(a)
provides:
“CCAA may immediately terminate this Agreement upon written
notice to Developer for “cause” if: (a) Developer commits any act
of fraud, material misrepresentation, gross dishonesty, gross
negligence, breach of fiduciary duty to CCAA, or gross misconduct
toward any employee of CCAA;”

March 12, 2021
2 | Page

Breach of Agreement: Preliminary investigation demonstrates prima facie evidence to support
termination of the contract for a “breach of fiduciary duty to CCAA.” This is predicated upon the
documentation received from the City of Punta Gorda and numerous public statements made by
various City of Punta Gorda Council Members and the Punta Gorda City Manager reference Mr.
Vasey’s efforts associated with legislation that would adversely impact Charlotte County Airport
Authority. During my investigation a demand was made upon Vasey Aviation Group, LLC to
provide information associated with those contacts. Mr. Vasey refused to respond.
Additionally, Vasey Aviation Group, LLC breach of Paragraph 7(b) such that the developer
divulged confidential proprietary information to the City of Punta Gorda Manager. It is noted there
was suggestion to have that done to private emails to avoid being part of the public records
Finally, it is noted that in Paragraph 7(c), the developer specifically acknowledges that “all
documents received or created by the developer while preforming the services described in this
agreement are and will remain CCAA’s property. Such documents include without limitation to,
files, memorandum, audio, visual communication, correspondence and reports whether written,
electronic, digital or otherwise.” Despite repeated requests Mr. Vasey has failed and refused to
turn over any communications with the City of Punta Gorda.

Options to Termination: Termination options are enumerated as follows:
1. Terminate “for cause”, pay nothing and await Vasey action. CCAA relying on the
prim facia evidence and other breaches could terminate the Development Agreement.
If Mr. Vasey initiates litigation CCAA may file responsive process that include a)
answer/affirmative defenses associated with all breach of the Agreement and if directed
b) counterclaim for damages. The scope and extent of the direction associated with the
answer and affirmative defenses and if directed counterclaim would drive the legal the
expense. Additionally, there are Board Members who believe that a full investigation
could be completed using interrogatories, request for production and subpoenas to
determine the full measure and scope of Mr. Vasey’s interaction with the City of Punta

March 12, 2021
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Gorda and others. Obviously, the more vigorous the response and comprehensive
investigation I am directed to take more the expense will be incurred. Jurisdiction and
venue are both stipulated in Charlotte County, Florida. The parties waived a jury trial.
The Agreement does not have an attorney’s fee provision recovery provision.
Jurisdiction and venue are both stipulated in Charlotte County, Florida. The parties also
waived a jury trial. The Agreement does not have an attorney’s fee provision recovery
provision.
2. Terminate but Pay the monthly $5,000.00: terminate in writing any authority for
Vasey Aviation Group, LLC to actively represent of the CCAA for the balance of the
contract term and specifically place on notice no renewal. Continue the monthly
payment for 10 months remaining under the contract and retain all rights that would be
waived or released in a settlement agreement.
3. Negotiate a lump sum payout and voluntary separation: Mr. Vasey did not respond
to legal counsel initial inquiry associated with settlement. On January 21, 2021 Mr.
Vasey forwarded an email to Mr. Parish and Chairman Herston stating that if there was
a unilateral termination it would result in “immediate commencement of litigation by
Vasey Aviation.” On January 25, 2021, Mr. Parish made a monetary proposal of
$20,000. On March 1, 2021, Mr. Vasey responded, “offer does not work for us” and
requested a meeting including current and former Commissioners. I advised Mr. Parish
against any Commissioners, former or present, being engaged in a non-privileged
negotiation. Mr. Parish followed up twice in writing for a response. An email thread
documentation of forgoing is attached hereto as Exhibit 2. On March 10, 2021 Mr.
Parish informed me of verbal tentative settlement agreement for $35,000 and requested
a proposed draft Settlement Agreement. A draft is attached as Exhibit 3 and subject to
Board Approval.

James W Parish, P.E.
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

James W Parish, P.E.
Monday, March 8, 2021 3:10 PM
Andrew Vasey (avasey@vaseyaviation.com)
FW: Vasey Aviation contract with the CCAA

I would like to take a proposed resolution to the contract to the Board next week. Currently the board agenda will have
an Item that was requested by several members “Termination of Vasey Aviation Contract” I cant tell you what the terms
will be but that is the current item. If you would like to give me an option to present I will but I need it by Wednesday.

James W Parish, P.E. | CEO
Punta Gorda Airport (PGD)
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, FL 33982
Office: 941.639.1101 ext: 102
Email: jparish@flypgd.com
NOTICE: This communication may contain confidential and privileged information that is for the sole use of the intended recipient. Any viewing,
copying or distribution of, or reliance on this message by unintended recipients is strictly prohibited. If you have received this message in error,
please notify me immediately by phone, fax or e-mail.

From: James W Parish, P.E. <jparish@flypgd.com>
Sent: Monday, March 1, 2021 2:29 PM
To: Andrew Vasey <avasey@vaseyaviation.com>
Subject: RE: Vasey Aviation contract with the CCAA
I have spoken with Commissioner Herston and we see no reason to sit down and discuss the matter. I was asked to
make an offer to end the contract early, which I did so below over 30 days ago. Since that time I have made 2 additional
payments on the contract.
If you have an alternative offer please put it in writing and I will present it to the board. This will be a topic at our next
Board meeting on March, 18th.

James W Parish, P.E. | CEO
Punta Gorda Airport (PGD)
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, FL 33982
Office: 941.639.1101 ext: 102
Email: jparish@flypgd.com
NOTICE: This communication may contain confidential and privileged information that is for the sole use of the intended recipient. Any viewing,
copying or distribution of, or reliance on this message by unintended recipients is strictly prohibited. If you have received this message in error,
please notify me immediately by phone, fax or e-mail.

From: Andrew Vasey <avasey@vaseyaviation.com>
Sent: Monday, March 1, 2021 12:22 PM
To: James W Parish, P.E. <jparish@flypgd.com>; James Herston <jherston@flypgd.com>
Cc: jherston@herstonengineering.com
Subject: RE: Vasey Aviation contract with the CCAA
1

James,
The below offer doesn’t work for us. That said, given the long relationship Vasey Aviation has had at PGD going back to
2006, and our personal relationship as well, I think we should sit down and work this out. I propose a meeting in Punta
Gorda early next week with you, me, Jim and Pam. All principals, no attorneys. Please confirm by COB tomorrow if
possible.
Andy
From: James W Parish, P.E. <jparish@flypgd.com>
Sent: Monday, January 25, 2021 1:22 PM
To: Andrew Vasey <avasey@vaseyaviation.com>; James Herston <jherston@flypgd.com>
Cc: jherston@herstonengineering.com
Subject: RE: Vasey Aviation contract with the CCAA
Andy
Since the working relationship seems to be at an end on this and any other projects at CCAA. I would like to come to an
amicable end to our contract with you.
I would offer a one-time final payment of $20,000 Payable in January. This would serve as the final invoice and close the
current contract that you have with CCAA.
If you concur please let me know by e-mail as soon as possible.

James W Parish, P.E. |

CEO

Punta Gorda Airport (PGD)
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, FL 33982
Office: 941.639.1101 ext: 102
Email: jparish@flypgd.com
NOTICE: This communication may contain confidential and privileged information that is for the sole use of the intended recipient. Any viewing,
copying or distribution of, or reliance on this message by unintended recipients is strictly prohibited. If you have received this message in error,
please notify me immediately by phone, fax or e-mail.

From: Andrew Vasey <avasey@vaseyaviation.com>
Sent: Thursday, January 21, 2021 1:43 AM
To: James W Parish, P.E. <jparish@flypgd.com>; James Herston <jherston@flypgd.com>
Cc: jherston@herstonengineering.com
Subject: Vasey Aviation contract with the CCAA
Gentlemen,
2

Vasey Aviation has a Development Agreement in place with the CCAA through 12/18/21. We expect the CCAA to abide
by this Agreement for the full term unless changes are made by mutual agreement among principals of the CCAA and
Vasey Aviation.
Short of the above, please be advised that any unilateral actions taken by the CCAA that are adverse to Vasey Aviation
with regard to the existing Development Agreement prior to any changes agreed to among principals will result in the
immediate commencement of litigation by Vasey Aviation.
Hopefully we can avoid this kind of situation.
Regards,
Andrew Vasey
President
Vasey Aviation Group LLC
12400 North Meridian Street
Suite 150
Carmel, Indiana 46032
631-707-4991
avasey@vaseyaviation.com
vaseyaviation.com

3

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND RELEASE
This Settlement Agreement and Release is entered into by and between Charlotte County
Airport Authority (hereinafter CCAA) and Vasey Aviation Group, LLC and Andrew Vasey,
individually (hereinafter sometimes collectively referred to as VASEY).
RECITALS
WHEREAS, Parties entered a Development Agreement under date of December 19, 2019
that automatically renewed on December 19, 2020 with termination on November 30, 2021; and
WHEREAS, Parties deny any liability or wrongdoing whatsoever, and the Parties and their
counsel believe that the claims , potential causes of action and defenses asserted by the other Party
are without merit and that each side has complete defenses to the allegations asserted against them;
and
WHEREAS, Parties have each considered the uncertainties of litigation, the benefits to be
obtained by amicable resolution and settlement, and the costs, risks, and delays associated with
the continued investigation of associated matters and potential litigation and the appeals of any
rulings in favor of either party; and
WHEREAS, accordingly, it is now the intention of the Parties and the purpose of this
Agreement to avoid the costs of litigation and settle and dispose of, fully and completely and
forever, any and all claims that are alleged to exist or potentially exist as of the execution of this
Settlement Agreement and Release.
DEFINITIONS
Unless otherwise indicated above, the following shall be defined terms for purposes of this
Agreement. Some of the definitions in this section use terms that are defined later in the section:
A.
As used herein, the term “Development Agreement” means the agreement entered
into by CCAA and VASEY under date of December 19, 2019.
B.
Release.
C.

As used herein, the term “Agreement” means this Settlement Agreement and
As used herein, the term “Parties” means CCAA and VASEY.
SETTLEMENT TERMS AND RELEASE

1. SETTLEMENT TERMS.
1.1
Monetary Consideration. CCAA shall pay the Thirty-Five Thousand Dollars
($35,000.00) to VASEY.
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1.2
Sufficiency of Consideration. The Parties agree that the consideration set forth
above is sufficient to resolve any and all claims.
1.3
Development Agreement Termination:
The Development Agreement is
terminated effective immediately upon the signing of this Agreement. VASEY shall cease and
desist from any further acts or actions in representation of CCAA and PGD.
1.4
Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and
shall be deemed duly given (a) on the date of delivery if delivered personally, or if delivered via
e-mail upon written confirmation of receipt by e-mail from the recipient, (b) on the first business
day following the date of dispatch if delivered utilizing a next-day service by a recognized nextday courier or (c) on the earlier of confirmed receipt or the fifth business day following the date of
mailing if delivered by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid. All
notices hereunder shall be delivered to the addresses set forth below, or pursuant to such other
instructions as may be designated in writing by the party to receive such notice:
If to CCAA,
James W. Parish, CEO
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, FL 33982
and to its legal counsel:
Darol H. M. Carr, Esquire
Fla. Bar #371203
dcarr@farr.com
thummel@farr.com
Farr, Farr, Emerich, Hackett, Carr and Holmes, P.A.
99 Nesbit Street
Punta Gorda, FL 33950
Telephone: 941-639-1158
Facsimile: 941-639-0028
If to Vasey Aviation Group, LLC:
Andrew Vasey. President
12400 North Meridian Street, Suite 150
Carmel, IN 46032
2. DISMISSAL, RELEASES AND INDEMNIFICATION.
2.1
Dismissal. There is no disclosed pending legal cause of action. The Parties agree
that upon execution of the Agreement and receipt of the monetary consideration, the Parties will
dismiss any undisclosed pending legal action with prejudice.
2.1.1 Mutual Release: Parties hereby mutually release each other and their respective
agents, attorneys, insurers, heirs, executors, representatives, predecessors, successors and assigns
from and against all claims, rights, and/or causes of action for monetary, injunctive, or other
equitable relief, asserted or unasserted, known or unknown, arising directly or indirectly from the

Page 2 of 5

Development Agreement or in connection therewith or that arise out of or relate in any manner
whatsoever, in whole or in part, to the Development Agreement, or claims asserted as part of or
related to the Development Agreement, or any acts, omissions, transactions or occurrences alleged
or otherwise asserted as a result of the Development Agreement.
2.1.2 Indemnification: VASEY shall be responsible to satisfy all claims arising from
any persons or entity it hired or directed to perform work for CCAA. Vasey shall indemnify and
hold CCAA harmless of any claims including the legal fees for defense against claims by such
persons or entities.
3. ADDITIONAL TERMS
3.1
Execution Date. This Agreement shall be deemed executed upon the last date of
execution by all of the undersigned.
3.2
Real Parties in Interest. In executing this Agreement, each Party warrants and
represents that they are the only persons having any interest in any of the claims that are described
or referred to herein, or in any of the pleadings, records, and papers in the Action, and, except as
provided herein, neither said claims nor any part thereof have been assigned, granted, or transferred
in any way to any other person, firm, or entity.
3.3
Voluntary Agreement. This Agreement is executed voluntarily in order to avoid
the cost of continued litigation and without duress or undue influence on the part of or on behalf
of the Parties, or of any other person, firm or entity.
3.4
Binding on Successors. This Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the
respective successors, assigns, legatees, heirs, and personal representatives of each of the Parties.
3.5
Parties Represented by Counsel. Each Party hereby acknowledges that they are
represented by independent counsel in negotiations for, and in the preparation of, this Agreement
or waive independent legal counsel of their own choosing. Each Party has read this Agreement
and had it fully explained to them by legal counsel or they waived independent legal counsel, and
that they are fully aware of the contents of this Agreement and of its legal effect.
3.6
Authorization. Each Party warrants and represents that there are no liens or claims
of lien or assignments in law or equity or otherwise of or against any of the claims or causes of
action released herein and, further, that each Party is fully entitled and duly authorized to give this
complete and final release and discharge. Specifically, if applicable, each of Parties has the power
and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and
thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. This Agreement
constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligations of such Party, enforceable against such party in
accordance with its respective terms.
3.7
Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the
Parties and constitutes the complete, final, and exclusive embodiment of their agreement with
respect to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement is executed without reliance upon any
promise, representation, or warranty by any Party or any representative of a Party, other than those
expressly set forth herein.

Page 3 of 5

3.8
Construction and Interpretation. No Party, nor any of the Parties’ respective
attorneys, shall be deemed the drafter of this Agreement for purposes of interpreting any provision
hereof in any judicial or other proceeding that may arise between or among them. This Agreement
is, and shall be construed to be, drafted by all the Parties to it, so that any rule that construes
ambiguities against the drafter shall have no force or effect.
3.9
Headings. The various headings used in this Agreement are solely for the
convenience of the Parties and shall not be used to interpret this Agreement and are inserted only
as a manner of convenience and in no way define, limit, extend or describe the scope of this
Agreement or the intent of any provision thereof.
3.10 Incorporation of Recitals and Definitions. The recitals set forth above, in the
Recitals section, and the definitions set forth above, in the Definitions section, are, by this
reference, both incorporated into and deemed a part of this Agreement.
3.11 Modifications and Amendments. No amendment, change, or modification of this
Agreement or any part thereof shall be valid unless in writing signed by the Parties or their counsel.
3.12 Governing Law. This Agreement is entered into in accordance with the laws of the
State of Florida and shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with those laws, and
without regard to the conflict of laws principles thereof. Venue for any claims arising out of this
Agreement shall be exclusively in the state courts of Charlotte County Florida.
3.13 Further Assurances. Each of the Parties hereto shall execute and deliver any and
all additional papers, documents and other assurances and shall do any and all acts or things
reasonably necessary in connection with the performance of her or its obligations hereunder to
carry out the express intent of the Parties hereto.
3.14 Agreement Constitutes a Complete Defense. To the extent permitted by law, this
Agreement may be pleaded as a full and complete defense to, and may be used as the basis for an
injunction against, any action, suit or other proceedings that may be instituted, prosecuted, or
attempted in breach of or contrary to this Agreement.
3.15 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is declared by any court to be
invalid, void, or unenforceable, the remaining provisions of this Settlement will continue in full
force and effect, unless the provision declared to be invalid, void, or unenforceable is material, at
which point the Parties shall attempt to renegotiate the Settlement or, if that proves unavailing, any
Party can terminate the Settlement without prejudice to any other Party.
3.16 Inadmissibility. This Agreement, whether approved or not approved, revoked, or
made ineffective for any reason, and any proceedings related to this Agreement and any
discussions relating thereto shall be inadmissible as evidence of any liability or wrongdoing
whatsoever and shall not be offered as evidence of any liability or wrongdoing in any Court or
other tribunal in any state, territory, or jurisdiction, or in any manner whatsoever other than
enforcement of the Agreement as provided herein.
3.17 Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts,
each of which constitutes an original, but all of which together constitutes one and the same
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instrument. Several signature pages may be collected and annexed to one or more documents to
form a complete counterpart. Each Party agrees that a facsimile copy or a digitally scanned copy
of a signature shall be binding, and agrees that a Party may make delivery of its executed
Agreement by (i) transmitting a copy of the executed Agreement by facsimile transmission to the
other Party’s counsel, or (ii) by transmitting a digitally scanned copy of the executed Agreement,
saved as a .PDF file, to the other Party’s counsel by email.
3.18 Waiver of Terms. No term or provision of this Agreement will be waived and
excused, unless such waiver or consent is in writing. Any single consent or waiver of a breach by
the other party will not constitute a waiver or consent to any subsequent or different breach. Failure
or delay of either party to exercise any right, power, or privilege under this Agreement shall not
constitute waiver of the party's right, power, or privilege. No single or partial exercise of any right,
power or privilege shall preclude any other or future exercise thereof, or the existence of any other
right, power or privilege.
3.19 NON-DISPARAGEMENT. Parties mutually agree they will not, directly or indirectly,
make any negative or disparaging statements against the other Party maligning, ridiculing,
defaming, or otherwise speaking ill of a Party, and their business affairs, practices or policies,
standards, or reputation (including but not limited to statements or postings harmful to business
interests, reputation or good will) in any form (including but not limited to orally, in writing, on
social media, internet, to the media, persons and entities engaged in radio, television or Internet
broadcasting, or to persons and entities that gather or report information on trade and business
practices or reliability) that relate to this Agreement, the Development Agreement and the factual
allegations made or any matter covered by the release within this Agreement. Nothing in the
Agreement shall, however, be deemed to interfere with each party’s obligation to report
transactions with appropriate governmental, taxing and/or registering agencies. Nothing in this
Agreement is intended to preclude compliance by CCAA with any legal requirements under
Florida Public Records Law.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have so AGREED.
Dated:__________________

____________________________
By: Vasey Aviation Group, LLC

Dated:____________

____________________________
By: Andrew Vasey, Individually
Charlotte County Airport Authority

Dated:_________________

By: James W. Parish, CEO
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C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A R C H 2021
PROJECT REPORT

In Development
CIP No.
0106
0113
0112
0092

Project Title
New Box Hangars
In-Line Baggage System
FBO Hangar
Wetland Mitigation Phase 2 of 2

Planning
CIP No.
N/A

Project Title
PFC Application No. 3

Design
CIP No.
0107

Project Title
Runway 4-22 Rehabilitation / Reconstruction

Design Completed - Secure Funding
CIP No.
0095
0098

Project Title
Roadway Network Improvements
Terminal Curbside Traffic Improvements

Bidding
0101
0106

Construct Replacement Hangar for Building 207
T-hangar Development

Construction
CIP No.
0103
0104
0104
0105
0096

Project Title
Long-Term Passenger Parking Expansion
New General Aviation Center P1– Civil Airside (Apron, Taxiway and Taxilanes)
New General Aviation Center P2 – New GA Terminal (Terminal, Parking and Access Road)
Administration Building Expansion
Woodlawn Relocation

Closeout Phase
CIP No.
0108
0096
0092

Project Title
Runway 22 RPZ Security Fencing
Runway 15-33 Rehabilitation and Extension
Wetland Mitigation Phase 1

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A R C H 2021
PROJECT REPORT

In Development
PROJECT TITLE
New Box Hangars - CIP No. 0106

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project includes design, permitting and construction services required to construct five new 50’ x 50’ aircraft box hangars located north
of the 600 series T-hangars. Once the design and permitting have been completed, a change order will be negotiated with the contractor
of the Building 207 Replacement Hangar and T-hangar projects.

STATUS OF PROJECT
The project is in the design phase. Concept drawing were submitted on March 3, 2021 and approved by Airport Staff on March 8. 2021. As a
result the consultant will continue with the design process. Final plans and specifications are scheduled to be completed in July 2021.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design and Permitting
Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
$75,130
TBD
TBD

FAA

Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Approve Scope of Work
Complete Design and Permitting
Negotiate Change Order
CCAA Change Order Approval
Construction
Closeout

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
02/03/21
02/18/21
Jul-21
Aug 21
Sep-21
Apr-22
May-22

Completed
✓
✓

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
AECOM
Engineering Design
TBD
Construction

PFC

CCAA
100%
100%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT

Fee
$75,130

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A R C H 2021
PROJECT REPORT

In Development
PROJECT TITLE
In-Line Baggage System - CIP No. 0113

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project provides design services for a new In-Line Baggage Handling System located at the south end of the commercial terminal
building as part of a future expansion. The design includes new expanded baggage screening and make-up areas and utilize the current
version of the TSA guidelines and standards.

STATUS OF PROJECT
The scope of work, fee and schedule has been submitted to TSA for review. Currently, the consultant is responding to minor TSA
comments. Once the scope of work, fee and schedule have been finalized, TSA will begin the process to review and issue a grant. If the
grant is offered, it and the consultant’s scope of work, fee and schedule will be presented to the CCAA for acceptance and approvals at a
future meeting.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design

Estimated Cost
TBD

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description
TA Accept Scope of
Work/Fee/Schedule
TSA Review
TSA Grant Offer
CCAA Accept Grant and Approve
Consultant Agreement

TSA
95%

PFC
5%

CONTRACTS
Completion
Date
Mar-21
TBD
TBD
TBD

Completed

Firm Name
Services Provided
AECOM - Design

Fee
TBD

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A R C H 2021
PROJECT REPORT

In Development
PROJECT TITLE
FBO Hangar - CIP No. 0112

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project will construct a new FBO Hangar east of the new General Aviation Terminal.

STATUS OF PROJECT
Airport Staff is developing the Request for Qualifications solicitation package to select a design-build firm. The advertisement requesting
submittals is scheduled to be published late March or early April 2021.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design and Construction

Estimated Cost
TBD

FAA

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description
Develop RFQ
Advertise RFQ

Completion
Date
Mar-21
Mar/Apr-21

Completed

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
TBD
Design-Build Services

Fee
TBD

FDOT

PFC

CCAA
100%

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A R C H 2021
PROJECT REPORT

In Development
PROJECT TITLE
Wetland Mitigation Phase 2 of 2 – CIP No. 0092

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This is the second phase of wetland mitigation. This project will fill approximately 35 acres of existing wetlands within the airport
operations area. WL ID’s B2, B3, I, I1, I2, I3 and I4. This project also includes the purchase of required wetland mitigation credits. These
wetlands were identified in the Airport’s 2016 Wildlife Hazard Management Plan as having the potential to attract hazardous wildlife.

STATUS OF PROJECT
The scope of work and fee have been negotiated with the consultant and will be presented to the CCAA for approval at the March 2021
meeting.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design
Construction

Estimated Cost
$141,327

FAA

Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Approve Scope of Work
Design and Permitting
Advertise for Construction Bids
Begin Construction
End Construction
Closeout

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
01/18/18
Mar-21
Mar-21
Jul-21
Jul-21

Completed
✓
✓

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
EG Solutions, Inc. – Design, Permitting, Bidding,
Construction, Closeout
Wetland Mitigation Bank
Wetland Mitigation Fees
TBD
Construction

PFC

CCAA
100%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT

Fee
$141,327
TBD
TBD

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A R C H 2021
PROJECT REPORT

Planning
PROJECT TITLE
PFC Application No. 3 – CIP No. Professional Services

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
Develop, submit, and obtain FAA approval for PFC Application No. 3 to begin collection for future project. In addition, applicable
amendments to PFC Application 2 are included with this project.

STATUS OF PROJECT
A final draft PFC application package is scheduled to be submitted to FAA mid-March 2021. The consultant will incorporate any comments
received and submit the formal final PFC application package in April 2021.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Planning Services

Estimated Cost
$80,900

FAA

FDOT

Completion Date
08/20/20
09/30/20
01/08/21
01/08/21
01/26/21

Completed
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

02/18/21
03/03/21
Mar-21

✓
✓

Apr-21
TBD
TBD

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
AECOM
Planning Services

CCAA
100%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description
CCAA Approve Contract/Agreement
Data Collection
Develop Project Narratives
FAA Pre-Submittal Meeting
Finalize Draft PFC Applications / Air Carrier and
Public Notice
CCAA Resolution
Air Carrier Consultation Meeting
Prepare Final Draft PFC Application / Submit draft to
FAA
Address FAA Comments / Submit Formal Final PFC
Application to FAA
FAA Deem Application Complete
FAA Approve PFC Application

PFC

Fee
$80,900

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A R C H 2021
PROJECT REPORT

Design
PROJECT TITLE
Runway 4-22 Rehabilitation / Reconstruction - CIP No. 0107

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
Rehabilitate the existing Runway 4-22 pavement, reconstruct applicable portions of the existing base and electrical improvements. The last
rehabilitation (mill and overlay – no base reconstruction) was completed in 1999. The pavement and original 1940’s base have reached
their design life. To meet safety and usability standards the runway will require reconstruction and/or rehabilitation to provide adequate
pavement strength for the existing aircraft fleet operating at PGD, as well as to conform to FAA and FDOT minimum standards for
pavement condition.

STATUS OF PROJECT
The additional topographical survey has been collected and is currently being process and compared against FAA RSA Grading standards.
The formal FAA Modification to Standards is planned to be submitted in mid-March 2021.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design Only
Construction
Total

Estimated
Cost
424,175
16.0M
16,424,175

FAA
100%
90%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description
Select Consultant
Submit FAA & FDOT Pre Application
(Design)
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
Complete IFE Process
Submit FAA & FDOT Application
(Design)
Secure FAA Funding
(Design)
Begin Design
Secure FAA RSA Grading Approval
End Design / Advertise for
Construction Bids
Submit FAA & FDOT Application
(Construction)
Secure FAA & FDOT Funding
(Construction)
CCAA Accept Grants / Approve
Construction Contract
Begin Construction – Mobilization
Begin Construction – Field

PFC

5%

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
08/02/18
11/01/19

Completed

Dec-19

✓

Jan-20

✓

08/12/20

✓

07/31/20
Apr-21
Jul-21

✓

✓
✓

Aug-21
Oct-21
Oct-21
Nov-21
Dec-21

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
Kimley-Horn - Design and Construction
TBD - Construction

FDOT

Fee
$617,663
TBD

CCAA

5%

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A R C H 2021
PROJECT REPORT

Design Completed – Secure Funding
PROJECT TITLE
Roadway Network Improvements – CIP No. 0095

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project will construct; A right turn lane on Piper Road at Viking Avenue, one additional lane on Viking Avenue between Piper Road and
Golf Course Blvd. and one additional lane on Airport Road between Piper Road and Golf Course Blvd.

STATUS OF PROJECT
No Change from Previous Report - On August 20, 2020 FDOT informed the Airport that FDOT FY 2021 SIS funding is not available. Airport
staff to evaluate the future funding and schedule for this project. This project is being evaluated to be included in PFC Application No. 3.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design, Permitting, Bidding,
Construction Services, Closeout
Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
78,990 Actual

FAA

330,000
578,990

Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Approve Scope of Work
Issue Notice to Proceed
Submit FDOT Grant Application
Design and Permitting (100%)
FDOT SIS Funding Not Available
Finalize Bid Documents and
Advertise for Construction Bids
Begin Construction
End Construction
Closeout

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
05/17/18
05/17/18
05/17/18
05/29/18
7/8/19
10/23/19
08/20/20
TBD

Completed
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

TBD
TBD
TBD

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
Southwest Engineering and Design
Engineering Design, Permitting, Bidding,
Construction Services, Closeout
TBD
Construction

PFC

CCAA
100%
100%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT SIS

Fee
$78,990

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A R C H 2021
PROJECT REPORT

Design Completed – Secure Funding
PROJECT TITLE
Terminal Curbside Traffic Improvements – CIP No. 0098

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project will add a fourth lane to the terminal curbside pick-up and drop-off lanes. It includes slight modifications to the short-term
parking lot. This project is planned to be constructed as part of the Roadway Network Improvements project.

STATUS OF PROJECT
No Change from Previous Report - On August 20, 2020 FDOT informed the Airport that FDOT FY 2021 SIS funding is not available. Airport
Staff to evaluate the future funding and schedule for this project. This project is being evaluated to be included in PFC Application No. 3.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design, Permitting
Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
34,600
175,000
234,600

FAA

50%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description
Select Consultant & Approve Scope
and Fee
Issue Notice to Proceed
Submit FDOT Grant Application
Design and Permitting (100%)
FDOT SIS Funding Not Available
Finalize Bid Documents and
Advertise for Construction Bids
Begin Construction
End Construction
Closeout

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
08/02/18

Completed

08/10/18
7/8/19
10/28/19
08/20/20
TBD

✓
✓
✓
✓

✓

TBD
TBD
TBD

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
Southwest Engineering and Design
Engineering Design, Permitting
TBD
Construction

FDOT

Fee
$34,600
TBD

CFC

CCAA
100%
50%

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A R C H 2021
PROJECT REPORT

Bidding
PROJECT TITLE
Construct Replacement Hangar for Building Number 207 – CIP No. 0101

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project consists of the construction of six (6) new replacement hangars for tenants located in Building 207, and four (4) additional
hangars (all 60’x60’). Building 207 will need to be demolished when the terminal access road is expanded to the north or if this area is
designated for expansion of rental car parking. The replacement hangars will be located west of the New GA Terminal Facility.

STATUS OF PROJECT
As reported previously, this project will be combined with the T-hangar Development project (additional 600 series T-hangars). These
projects were advertised for construction bids on March 1, 2021. The pre-bid meeting was held on March 11, 2021. Bids are scheduled to
be opened on April 5, 2021.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Building 207 Replacement Hangar
Design and Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
3.2M

FAA

Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Approve Consultant Fee
Issue Notice to Proceed
Design and Permitting
Advertise for Construction Bids
Bid Canceled – GAC was not
funded
Submit FDOT SIB Loan Application
Secure FDOT SIB Loan
Design Updates to Bid with THangars
Advertise for Construction Bids
Construction
Closeout

3.2M

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
08/02/18
09/27/18
10/23/18
10/23/18
05/01/19
05/07/19
5/17/19

Completed

06/19/19
Jul-20
Feb 20

✓
✓
✓

03/01/21
TBD
TBD

✓

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
AECOM
Engineering Design, Bidding, Construction Services,
Closeout
TBD
Construction

CFC

CCAA
100%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT

Fee
$145,910

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A R C H 2021
PROJECT REPORT

Bidding
PROJECT TITLE
T-hangar Development – CIP No. 0106

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project includes design and permitting services for the preparation of construction plans and specifications for 24 aircraft T-hangar
units adjacent to the existing 600 series T-hangar units. Door openings are to be 42 feet wide, depth is to be 34 feet and door height is to
be 12 feet.

STATUS OF PROJECT
This project will be combined with the Building 207 Replacement project. These projects were advertised for construction bids on March 1,
2021. The pre-bid meeting was held on March 11, 2021. Bids are scheduled to be opened on April 5, 2021.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design and Permitting Only
Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
$110,589
3,339,395
TBD

FAA

CCAA Request Project
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Approve Scope of Work
Issue Notice to Proceed
50% / 60% Design
Secure FDOT SIB Loan
Design Updates to Bid with 207
Advertise for Construction Bids
Construction
Closeout

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
05/16/19
06/13/19
06/20/19
06/20/19
10/31/19
Jul-20
Feb 20
03/01/21
TBD
TBD

Completed
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
AECOM
Engineering Design
TBD
Construction

PFC
TBD

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT

Fee
$110,589

CCAA
100%
100%

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A R C H 2021
PROJECT REPORT

Construction
PROJECT TITLE
Long-Term Passenger Parking Expansion - CIP No. 0103

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
The project consists of design and permitting for approximately 2,500 long term parking spaces and a site grading plan for a future 2-acre
site. The project construction will be phased. Phase 1 is planned to construct approximately 1,000 spaces. The lot will have its own
separate entrance and exits, and provisions will be made for bus shelters and bus access and egress.

STATUS OF PROJECT
No Change for Previous Report - Construction operations continue. The project was delayed due to weather and is now scheduled to be
completed in late March or early April 2021.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design, Permitting, Bidding
Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
268,511
3,335,230
3,603,741

FAA

Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Approve Consultant Fee
Issue Notice to Proceed
Complete Design
Advertise for Construction Bids
Open Bids
Award Contract
COVID-19 Hold Released
Begin Construction
End Construction
Closeout

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
11/15/18
12/10/18
12/20/18
01/02/19
Dec-19
01/29/20
02/26/20
03/18/20
06/30/20
07/20/20
Mar/Apr-21
Apr/May-21

Completed
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
AECOM
Design, Permitting, Bidding
Pavement Maintenance, LLC.
Construction

CFC

CCAA
50%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT

Fee
$268,511
$3,335,230

100%
50%

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A R C H 2021
PROJECT REPORT

Construction
PROJECT TITLE
New General Aviation Center P1 – Civil Airside (Apron, Taxiways and Taxilanes) – CIP No. 0104

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project consists of the design, permitting and construction of a new General Aviation Center Facility on the north side of the Airport,
east of the 600 series T-hangars. This phase of the project includes Apron, Taxiway and Taxilane improvements.

STATUS OF PROJECT
Construction continues. The Golf Course Blvd. culvert crossing is scheduled to begin near the end of March 2021. Golf Course Blvd. will be
closed between Henry Street and Challenger Blvd. Embankment placement continues for the new apron footprint. Construction is
scheduled to be substantially completed in September 2021.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design
Apron, Taxilane, Taxiway
Construction and Engineering

Estimated Cost
0.6M
8.7M
Total

FAA
6.0M

Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Accept FDOT Funding &
Approve Consultant Fee
Secure FDOT Funding
Submit FAA Grant Pre-Application
Issue Notice to Proceed
Stakeholder Presentation
Design
Advertise for Construction Bids
Canceled – No FAA Funding
Submit FDOT SIB Loan Application
Submit FDOT SIS Grant Application
Advertise for Construction Bids
Apron, Taxiways
Secure FAA Grant
Begin Construction
End Construction
Closeout

1.2M Special Legislation
FDOT SIB Loan (TBD)

9.3M

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
08/16/18
10/17/18
10/23/18

Completed

10/30/18
11/02/18
11/05/18
12/13/18
05/01/19
05/07/19

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

06/19/19
12/30/19
01/31/20

✓
✓
✓

06/17/20
Nov-20
Sep-21
Oct-21

✓
✓

✓
✓
✓

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
Michael Baker International, Inc.
Engineering Design, Permitting, Bidding,
Construction Services, Closeout
Ajax Paving Industries
Construction

Fee
$1,088,435

$8,190,868

PFC

CCAA
100%
1.5M

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A R C H 2021
PROJECT REPORT

Construction
PROJECT TITLE
New General Aviation Center P2 – New GA Terminal (Terminal, Parking and Access Road) - CIP No. 0104

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project consists of the design, permitting and construction of a new General Aviation Center Facility on the north side of the Airport,
east of the 600 series T-hangars. The phase of the project includes GA Terminal, Café, Parking, and Access Road.

STATUS OF PROJECT
Project mobilization and start-up activities continue. Construction activities are scheduled to begin upon receipt of the Building Department
permit. The permit is expected to be issued in March 2021. Construction schedule is 300 calendar days.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Terminal, Café, Parking Lot, Access
Construction and Engineering
Total

Estimated Cost
7.0M

FDOT
1.0 M – FDOT Existing PTGA
2.5 M – FDOT SIB Loan (paid back from future FDOT PTGA)

7.0M

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description
Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Accept FDOT Funding &
Approve Consultant Fee
Secure FDOT Funding
Submit FAA Grant Pre-Application
Issue Notice to Proceed
Stakeholder Presentation
Design
Advertise for Construction Bids
Canceled – No FAA Funding
Submit FDOT SIB Loan Application
Submit FDOT SIS Grant Application
Secure FDOT SIB Loan
Results of SIS Funding
Advertise for Construction Bids
Open Construction Bids
CCAA Approve Construction
Contract
Mobilization and Submittals
Begin Construction – Field
End Construction
Closeout

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
08/16/18
10/17/18
10/23/18

Completed

10/30/18
11/02/18
11/05/18
12/13/18
05/01/19
05/07/19
05/17/19
06/19/19
12/30/19
Jul-20
Aug-20
08/17/20
9/30/20
10/15/20

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
No Funding
✓
✓
✓

Jan-21
Mar-21
Jan-22
Feb-22

✓

✓
✓
✓

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
Avcon
Independent Fee Estimate
Michael Baker International, Inc.
Engineering Design, Permitting, Bidding,
Construction Services, Closeout
Johnson – Laux
Construction

Fee
$1,300
$588,541

$6,367,229

CCAA
3.5M

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A R C H 2021
PROJECT REPORT

Construction
PROJECT TITLE
Administration Building Expansion - CIP No. 0105

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
The project is for the expansion (build-out) of the remaining shell space (approximately 3,600 sf) of the Airport’s Administration Building.

STATUS OF PROJECT
The architect completed updates to the plans to address new Building Department codes. The contractor submitted Building Department
permit application on March 3, 2021.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design
Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
$15,959
$289,943
$305,902

CCAA
100%
100%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description
Select Consultant/Approve Scope
Issue Notice to Proceed
Design and Permitting
Open Bids
CCAA Award Construction Contract
Code Updates and Permitting
Begin Construction
End Construction & Closeout

PROJECT SKETCH

Completion
Date
04/04/19
11/05/18
Jun-19
01/12/21
01/21/21
Apr-21
Apr-21
Jul-21

Completed
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
Suncoast Architect, Inc.
Design
Vantage Construction Services, LLC
Construction

Fee
$15,959
$289,943

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – F E B R U A R Y 2021
PROJECT REPORT

Construction / Closeout
PROJECT TITLE
Runway 15-33 Rehabilitation and Extension / Woodlawn Relocation – CIP No. 0096

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project consists of constructing a 593-foot extension on the south end of Runway 15-33 and rehabilitating the existing runway
pavement. In addition, Woodlawn Drive will be re-aligned to be outside the limits of the new Runway Protection Zone (RPZ) on the south
end of Runway 33 once it is extended to the south. One wetland will be mitigated as part of the re-alignment.

STATUS OF PROJECT
No Change from Previous Report - The Runway 15-33 Rehabilitation and Runway 15-33 Extension are in the closeout phase. Final invoices
and pay applications are in process along with other related closeout documents. Woodlawn Relocation construction continues. Due to
rain, the completion date is delayed. The contractor is updating the schedule. The revised completion date for Woodlawn Relocation is
March 2021.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Rehabilitation of Existing Runway
Design and Construction
Runway 33 End Extension
Design and Construction
Woodland Drive Relocation
Design and Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
5.2M

FAA

Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Accept FDOT Funding &
Approve Consultant Fee
Secure FDOT Funding
Submit FAA Grant Pre-Application
Issue Notice to Proceed
Design and Permitting
Advertise for Construction Bids
Submit FAA Grant Application
Secure FAA Funding
Begin Construction in Field
End Construction/Open Runway
Closeout (FAA Grant)

PFC
5%

4.95M

50%

50%

1.85M

50%

50%

12.0M

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
08/02/18
09/30/18
10/23/18

Completed

10/30/18
11/02/18
11/05/18
4/15/19
04/19/19
06/07/19
08/26/19
11/4/19
10/09/20
Mar-21

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

✓
✓
✓

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
EG Solutions, Inc.
Independent Fee Estimate
Kimley-Horn
Engineering Design, Permitting, Bidding,
Construction Services, Closeout
Wetland Mitigation Bank
Wetland Mitigation Fees
Ajax Paving Industries of Florida, LLC
Construction

CCAA

5%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT
90%

Fee
$3,000
$1.2M

$250,000
$10.5M

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – F E B R U A R Y 2021
PROJECT REPORT

Closeout Phase
PROJECT TITLE
Runway 22 RPZ Security Fencing - CIP No. 0108

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project will construct approximately 6,000 feet of security fencing within the limits of the future Runway 22 End Runway Protection
Zone.

STATUS OF PROJECT
The project is in the closeout phase and expected to be fully closed in April 2021. As a result, this project will be removed from future
reports.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design and Construction
Total

Estimated
Cost
200,000
200,000

FAA

Receive FDOT Grant Offer
CCAA Accept FDOT Grant
Prepare Bidding Documents /
FDOT Approval
Advertise for Bids
COVID 19 Hold Released
Open Bids / Recommendation of
Award submit to FDOT
FDOT Award/Contract Approval
CCAA Contact Approval
Permitting
Begin Construction
End Construction
Closeout

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
12/5/19
12/19/19
Mar-20

Completed

3/13/20
5/15/20
06/02/20

✓
✓
✓

06/09/20
06/18/20
July/August-20
09/21/20
02/09/21
Apr-21

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

✓
✓
✓

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
In-House
Design and Bidding
Environmental (PSA)
Ian Vincent
Aktiv Construction Group
Construction

PFC
50%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT

Fee
PGD Staff
$3,425
$166,560

CCAA
50%

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – F E B R U A R Y 2021
PROJECT REPORT

Closeout
PROJECT TITLE
Wetland Mitigation Phase 1 – CIP No. 0092

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project has been revised due to funding. This project consists of the design, permitting and construction required to fill approximately
14 acres of existing wetlands within the airport operations area. WL ID’s B1, C, F and H. This project also includes the purchase of required
wetland mitigation credits. These wetlands were identified in the Airport’s 2016 Wildlife Hazard Management Plan as having the potential
to attract hazardous wildlife.

STATUS OF PROJECT
No Change from Previous Report - This project is in the closeout phase. Final invoices and pay applications are in process along with other
related closeout documents.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Wetland Mitigation Phase 1

Estimated Cost
1.8M

FAA

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description
Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Approve Scope of Work
(Phase 1)
Amendment 1 – Add Phase 2
(Permitting – No Design)
Submit FAA Grant Pre-Application
Complete Initial Permitting
Issue Amendment 2 - Design
Design and Permitting
Advertise for Construction Bids
Submit FAA Grant Application
Secure FAA Funding
Begin Construction
End Construction in Field
Closeout

FDOT
90%

Completed

09/21/18

✓

11/02/18
11/29/18
01/07/19
04/15/19
04/19/19
06/07/19
08/23/19
Apr-20
Oct-20
Mar-21

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

✓
✓
✓

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
Kimley-Horn
Independent Fee Estimate
EG Solutions, Inc. – Design, Permitting, Bidding,
Construction, Closeout
Wetland Mitigation Bank
Wetland Mitigation Fees
Ajax Paving Industries of Florida, LLC
Construction

Fee
$2,000
$100,000
$775,000
$906,843

CCAA
10%

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
01/18/18
04/05/18
04/19/18

PFC

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM
MASTER FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Last Updated: 2/8/2021

2019
COST
ESTIMATE

Project List
Acquire Property - RW 33 RPZ (MPU #1) - Part of 15-33 Extension
Acquire Property - RW 22 RPZ (MPU #2)
Roadway Network Improvements - Design
Terminal Curbside Improvements - Design
New Long-Term Parking Lot - Phased Project - Design
T-Hangar Development - Design
Wetland Mitigation Phase 1 -Construction
Runway 15-33 - Rehab -Construction
Runway 15-33 - Woodlawn RPZ - Construction
Runway 15-33 - Extension -Construction

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
2019 Totals $

60,000
550,000
28,990
14,600
268,511
99,789
1,763,175
5,730,190
1,900,000
5,100,000
15,515,255

FAA ENTL

FAA DISC

FDOT 5%

FDOT 50%
$

Reserved

CCAA

30,000
$
$
$
$

$
$

$

1,586,858
5,157,171

6,744,029

$

$

-

$

286,510

950,000
2,550,000
3,530,000

$

-

$

30,000
550,000

$
$
$
$
$

176,318
286,510
950,000
2,550,000
4,542,827

CFC

28,990
14,600
268,511
99,789

286,510
$
$
$

PFC
$
$

411,890

$

-

2020
COST
ESTIMATE

Project List
Reconstruct / Rehabilitate Runway 4-22 (MPU #4) Design
New Long-Term Parking Lot - Construction
New GA Facility Apron - Design
New GA Facility Apron - Constuction/FPL
New GA Facility Apron - CEI/RPR/Admin
New GA Facility Taxiway - Design
New GA Facility Taxiway - Construction
New GA Facility Taxiway - CEI/RPR/Admin
New GA Facility - Terminal/Parking/Access -Design/Constuction
Runway 22 RPZ - Security Fencing
Backup Generator for Fuel Farm

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
2020 Totals $

424,175
3,400,000
360,000
6,676,554
340,000
165,000
1,514,314
150,000
7,000,000
200,000
50,000
20,280,043

FAA ENTL
$

FAA DISC

FDOT 5%

FDOT 50%

FDOT Special Leg

CCAA
$

$

$

PFC

CFC

424,175

424,175

$

1,700,000

5,997,000

5,997,000

$

-

$
$
$
$

3,500,000
100,000
25,000
3,625,000

$

1,200,000

$

$
$
$
1,200,000 $

3,500,000
100,000
25,000
5,325,000

$
$
$
$
$
$

360,000
679,554
340,000
165,000
314,314
150,000

$

2,008,868

$

1,700,000

$

1,700,000

2021
COST
ESTIMATE

Project List
Administration Expansion (Buildout) Construction
Construct Replacement Hangar for Building 207 (#37)
Construct New T-Hangars at 600 Series
Construct New Box Hangars at 600 Series
Reconstruct / Rehabilitate Runway 4-22 (MPU #4) Construction
Rehab Runway 9-27 (MPU #5)
Rental Car Parking - Convert GA Ramp (MPU #30)
Rental Car Parking - Building 207 Demo Area (MPU #31)
Roadway Realignment - Airport (Golf Course to Piper) (MPU#27)
Rental Cars - Landscaping
Roadway Network Improvements - Construction
Terminal Curbside Improvements - Construction
In-Line Baggage Handling System - Design

$
$
$

FAA ENTL

FAA DISC

FDOT 5%

290,000
3,200,000
3,300,000

FDOT 50%

$

TSA

CCAA

1,000,000

$

290,000

$

2,300,000

PFC

CFC
$

3,200,000

$
$
$
$

224,650
756,596
673,306
20,000

$

4,874,552

TBD
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

16,000,000
700,000
224,650
756,596
673,306
20,000
330,000
175,000

$

25,669,552

$

7,400,000

$

7,000,000

$

800,000

$
$

800,000
700,000

$
$

330,000
175,000

$

2,005,000

TBD

2021 Totals $

7,400,000

$

7,000,000

$

800,000

$

1,000,000

$

-

$

2,590,000

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM
MASTER FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Last Updated: 2/8/2021

2022
COST
ESTIMATE

Project List
Rehab Taxiway D (MPU #14)
Construct New Taxiway - GA Apron to Taxiway A (MPU #15)
Construct New GA Apron - East of GAC Apron
Wetland Mitigation Phase 2
North Apron Rehab (MPU #23)
Golf Course Blvd. Improvements
FBO Hangar

$
$
$
$
$
$

3,000,000
4,100,000
5,700,000
4,300,000
450,000
1,500,000

FAA ENTL
$
$

FAA DISC

1,044,724
2,250,000

$
$

FDOT 5%

1,655,276
1,440,000

$
$

FDOT 50%

FDOT Job Growth

$

TBD
2022 Totals $

19,050,000 $

3,294,724 $

3,095,276 $

CCAA

PFC

150,000
205,000

355,000 $

-

$

CFC

$
$

150,000
205,000

$
$
$

4,300,000
450,000
1,500,000

5,700,000

$
5,700,000 $

1
1 $

6,605,000 $

-

2023
COST
ESTIMATE

Project List
Terminal Expansion (MPU #22) - Design
Roadway Realignments - Terminal Access/Curbside (MPU#26)
New Maintenance Building

$
$
$
2023 Totals $

1,500,000 $
1,514,055
1,100,000
4,114,055 $

FAA ENTL

FAA DISC

FDOT 5%

FDOT 50%

Reserved

CCAA

PFC

1,350,000

$

1,350,000 $

-

$

-

$
$

550,000
550,000 $

-

$
$

550,000
550,000 $

CFC

150,000
$

1,514,055

150,000 $

1,514,055

2024
COST
ESTIMATE

Project List
Terminal Expansion (MPU #22) - Construction P1
Purchase ARFF Vehicle
Construct Perimeter Road P1 (TW D to Henry) MPU #16
Construct Perimeter Road P2A (South Ramp to East Side) MPU#17
2024 Totals

$
$
$
$
$

10,000,000 $
750,000 $
158,814
3,056,000 $
13,964,814 $

FAA ENTL

FAA DISC

FDOT 5%

FDOT 50%

FDOT

1,000,000
675,000

$

2,750,400
4,425,400 $

-

$

-

$

-

$

CCAA

1,000,000

PFC

$

4,000,000

$

158,814

1,000,000 $

$
$

$
4,158,814 $

CFC

4,000,000
75,000
305,600
4,380,600 $

-

2025
COST
ESTIMATE

Project List
Construct Holding Bay at RW 4 Approach (MPU #12)
Rehab Taxiway A and C (MPU #13)
Airport Safety Complex
Runway 4-22 Extension - EA

$
$
$
$
2025 Totals $

1,100,000 $
7,900,000 $
1,150,000
339,313 $
10,489,313 $

FAA ENTL

FAA DISC

990,000
4,110,000

$

305,382
5,405,382 $

FDOT 5%

3,000,000

$
$

3,000,000 $

FDOT 50%

Reserved

CCAA

PFC

55,000
395,000

$
$

450,000 $

-

$

-

$

1,150,000

$

$
1,150,000 $

CFC

55,000
395,000
33,931
483,931 $

-

2026
COST
ESTIMATE

Project List
Runway 4-22 Extension - Design (MPU #6)
Construct Holding Bay at RW 22 Approach (MPU #11)
Terminal Expanhsion P2 - Construction

$
$
$
2025 Totals $

FAA ENTL

FAA DISC

FDOT 5%

FDOT 50%

Reserved

CCAA

PFC

CFC

500,000
1,100,000
5,000,000
6,600,000 $

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-
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M ARKETING & C OMMUNICATIONS R EPORT | F EBRUARY 2021
BUZZ e‐news, blog page & news releases:
 Straight Talk on Airport’s Future – 2/28/21
 Allegiant Expands New Route to Rapid City, SD – 2/17/21
 Snack Shack, Ultimate Travel Package, Palm Island, Food Trucks
& More ‐ 2/15/21
 Snack Shack Now Open, Vending Options Expanded – 2/10/21
 Allegiant Announces Special Flights, Sturgis Motorcycle Rally –
2/9/21
NOTE – BUZZ subscriber is more than 23K

PGD BUZZ
& E‐News

Four Tenant Touchdown BUZZ editions included advisories and notices:
 TENANT ADVISORY: Proposed Change to Airport Authority Elections – 2/18/21
 TENANT ADVISORY: Feb. 16 Scheduled Power Outage – 2/11/21
 TENANT ADVISORY: Dates for Power Outage & Top‐Off Tuesday – 2/2/21
 TENANT NOTICE: Federal Mask Requirement – 2/2/21

News & Media
Coverage









February’s national news was dominated by
Allegiant’s announcement of seasonal summer
flights to Rapid City, SD
Local news coverage discussed potential legislative
change to Airport Authority elections, passenger
numbers, Aviation Mechanics program and Snack
Shack
Continued to receive great coverage on NBC‐2 and
ABC‐7 with the weather tower camera
Summary of February News Coverage
February news reached 346 million people with estimated advertising value at $3.2 million

FlyPGD.com
Website Reach

 90K total web page views in February, up 17K from January
 Top performing subpages in order: terminal wi‐fi, arrivals/departures, airlines, rental cars,
parking & directions, destinations map, main terminal, dining
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Google Search
Engine

Facebook

 Google rating rose to 4.3 based on 1,081 reviews

 Facebook likes/followers reached 5K by end of February, and organic posts’ reaches ranged
from 3K to 19K
 Facebook posts with the most reactions/engagement were about Allegiant’s summer Rapid
City route, Snack Shack opening, Federal Mask Mandate and job postings
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Twitter

Terminal Updates







Snack Shack: Open and well received by
passengers, employees & visitors
Food Trucks: Continued scheduled service
several times weekly
K‐9 Comfort Crew: Airport Therapy Dogs
visited several times monthly
Flybrary: Stocked by donations from the
public and Friends of the Punta Gorda
Library
Current Advertisers: Peace River Gardens,
Wink TV, Coldwell Banker Sunstar, City of
Punta Gorda, Seminole Casino Hotel,
Babcock Ranch/Table & Tap, CD Real
Estate, City of Ft Myers CRA, Florida Weekly, Rum Bay/Palm Island Resort, Laser Lounge Spa,
Lennar/Heritage Landing, Five Guys Burgers & Fries, Tropical Smoothie Café, Smugglers
Enterprises, Waterman Broadcasting/NBC‐2, Westchester Gold & Diamonds, Wellen Park,
Harpoon Harry's, Table & Tap
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Advertising &
Marketing

Events & Outreach

 Google Ad Words: Received 27 clicks
on www.PGDAviEx.com and 2.4K
impressions in February (at right)
 Suncoast Media: Charlotte Sun digital
ads continue to focus on “Clean &
Safe” messaging; delivered 50K+
impressions and above average click
through rate
 Community Guides: Charlotte County
Chamber, Englewood Chamber, Punta
Gorda Chamber and Tourism Bureau’s
Adventure Journal
 Billboards: WhyFlyPGD message in
Venice and Burnt Store locations

February:
 Added the Air Show to FlyPGD.com calendar and
coordinated future public relations/news release
 Received and answered eight public records requests in
January and February 2021
 Restarted High School Ambassador volunteer program,
oriented new student to assist at the Bailey Terminal
 Various meetings/outreach: Charlotte County Chamber,
Punta Gorda Chamber, Tourism Development Council,
Economic Development, United Way
Future:
 Panelist on national Airport Therapy Dogs program
webinar (Beth Pardal) – March 17
 Punta Gorda Rotary Guest Speaker (Kaley/James) – May
13
 Southwest Florida Inc. Chamber Tour – June 4

Charlotte County Airport Authority
Total Passengers CY 2015 through CY 2021
250,000

200,000
CY 21
CY 20
CY 19
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CY 18
CY 17
CY 16
CY 15

100,000

50,000

0
January
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Total Passengers per year
CY 08
CY 09
CY 10
29,152
9,587
17,283
31,788
9,995
21,991
40,599
15,013
28,534
13,751
19,390
7,759
6,629
9,521
8,238
9,190
10,262
7,652
8,326
5,547
4,830
8,258
7,606
1,077
13,411
17,571
15,180
7,305
19,341
31,763
15180 109,921 129,025 182,423

CY 07
January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December
TOTALS

February

April

CY 11
29,628
34,072
44,449
36,394
13,685
14,130
16,292
12,942
9,409
17,783
27,164
35,678
291,626

May

CY 12
33,988
38,695
26,630
9,343
7,486
10,382
18,652
14,131
10,871
11,690
16,720
20,769
219,357

June

CY 13
19,225
20,939
33,779
28,203
28,479
31,915
32,888
22,377
10,559
15,433
39,040
50,774
333,611

CY 14
47,091
56,001
76,917
71,894
51,752
52,167
53,826
38,744
26,423
37,083
53,126
63,051
628,075

July

CY 15
58,948
66,254
93,171
74,994
65,759
78,276
85,468
60,240
38,693
62,355
71,025
81,289
836,472

August

CY 16
76,538
91,130
121,695
98,101
87,352
98,430
106,142
81,800
64,226
89,084
96,188
107,617
1,118,303

September

CY 17
105,188
109,866
141,802
120,764
97,304
108,502
116,799
88,678
51,836
114,113
110,097
128,388
1,293,337

CY 18
122,901
140,076
192,947
147,871
118,050
135,860
145,426
111,335
74,068
129,086
128,121
131,423
1,577,164

October

November

December

CY 19
CY 20
CY 21
129,315
154,805
98,826
148,118
200,550
128,983
221,326
151,783
172,893
12,030
122,555
63,314
134,598
93,767
146,788
91,437
98,060
60,506
57,069
53,355
117,484
104,770
130,623
95,706
166,087
107,658
1,644,916 1,189,681
227,809
Overall total: 9,796,900

Charlotte County Airport Authority
Avgas Gallons Sold, FY2020 VS FY2021
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Jet A Gallons Sold, FY2020 VS FY2021
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Charlotte County Airport Authority
Airline Gallons Pumped, FY2020 VS FY2021
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1,422,348
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1,240,577
999,276
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January

Operations Reported By Tower
Air Carrier
AirTaxi
GA
Military
Total

December

January

February

910
101
5915
40
6966

721
94
6434
126
7375

989
172
6088
21
7270

1
1

0
1

2
1

Hangars
600 Series
200 Series

119
98

Allegiant Cities Served
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

21
22
23
24
25

Albany, NY
Allentown, PA
Appleton, WI*
Ashville, NC
Belleville, IL
Cedar Rapids, IA
Charleston, SC *
Chicago, IL*
Cincinnati, OH
Cleveland, OH
Columbus, OH
Concord/Charlotte, NC
Dayton, OH *
Des Moines, IA
Elmira, NY *
Flint, MI
Ft. Wayne, IN
Grand Rapids, MI
Harrisburg, PA
Houston, TX
Huntington, WV
Indianapolis, IN
Kansas City, MO
Knoxville, TN
Lexington, KY

26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42

Louisville, KY
Memphis, TN *
Moline, IL *
Nashville, TN
Niagara Falls, NY
Omaha, NB *
Peoria, IL
Pittsburg, PA
Plattsburg, NY *
Portsmouth, NH
Providence, RI
Raleigh/Durham, NC
Rapid City, SD *
Richmond, VA *
Rochester, NY *
Rockford, IL
Saint Cloud, MN *
Sioux Falls, SD *
Southbend, IN
Springfield, IL
Stewart/Newburgh, NY
Syracuse, NY *
Toledo, OH

43
44
45
46
47
48
49 Traverse City, MI *
50 Washington D.C./Baltimore*
* Seasonal City

CONTRACT SUMMARY
Agreement:

Ground Lease for Construction and Operation of a Gas Station and Convenience
Store.

Leased Premises:

Initial leased premises consisting of Parcel (approx. 1.2 acres).

Allowed Use(s):

a A gas station with fueling positions; a convenience store.

Term of Lease:

Initial term will expire on the twenty-five (25) years after the Certificate of
Occupancy ("CO"), or 26 years from initial execution of the lease. Tenant has
two five (25) options to extend by five (5) years each (financing will require 50
years).

Rent:

Construction Period Rent of $800.00 per month, commencing on the earlier of
commencement of construction or 12 months after Board approval of the lease;
and continuing until the day before the CO.
Starting upon CO:
(a) $1500.00 per month$.18 cents per square foot or approximately $11,761.20
annually plus one .5 cents per gallon of fuel dispensed.
(b) Monthly Concession Fee of 2.51.0% of "Gross Revenue" in excess of
$350700,000 per calendar year. For the purpose of this calculation, "Gross
Revenue" will include sales, excluding only fuel and certain other specified
items (such as lottery tickets, ATM fees, and sales tax).

Escalations:

Ground Rents to be adjusted for CPI beginning fifth year, and every five (5)
years thereafter.

Security/Per Guaranty: $50,000 irrevocable letter of credit to be provided to the Authority within 90
days of lease agreement.
Insurance:

Commercial General Liability: $3,000,000
Auto: $2,000,000
Property insurance: full replacement value
Workers' Compensation and Employer's Liability: $500,000/$500,000/$500,000
Environmental: $10,000,000
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Board of Commissioners
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying basic financial statements of the business-type activities of Charlotte
County Airport Authority (the "Authority") as of and for the years ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, and
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority's basic financial
statements as listed in the table of contents.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit
the financial statements of the Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS) or the Health Insurance Subsidy
Pension Plan (HIS) as of and for the years ended June 30, 2020 or 2019. The Authority is required to record its
proportionate share of the FRS and HIS liability in the Authority's government-wide financial statements as of
September 30, 2020 and 2019 and for the years then ended. Those financial statements (FRS & HIS) were
audited by other auditors whose report thereon has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates
to the amounts included for Charlotte County Airport Authority's government-wide financial statements, is
based on the report of the other auditors. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained
in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Authority's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's
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internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the business-type activities of
Charlotte County Airport Authority as of September 30, 2020 and 2019, and the respective changes in financial
position and cash flows thereof, for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
Emphasis of Matters
As discussed in Note A, the basic financial statements present only Charlotte County Airport Authority and
are not intended to present fairly the financial position of Charlotte County, Florida, as of September 30, 2020
and 2019, and the results of its operations and the cash flows of its business type activities for the fiscal years
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis on pages i - xx, Schedule of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension
Liability - Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS), Schedule of Authority Contributions - Florida
Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS), Schedule of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension
Liability - Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS), Schedule of Authority Contributions - Health
Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS), Notes to the Required Supplementary Information and Schedule of
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios - GASB No. 75 and Related Notes to the Schedule, as
listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information,
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements
in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to
the required supplementary information - management's discussion and analysis (MD&A), Schedule of the
Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS),
Schedule of Authority Contributions - Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS), Schedule of the
Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS),
Schedule of Authority Contributions - Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS), Notes to the Required
Supplementary Information and Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios - GASB
No. 75 and Related Notes to the Schedule, as listed in the table of contents, in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on
the required supplementary information - management's discussion and analysis (MD&A), Schedule of the
Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS),
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Schedule of Authority Contributions - Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS), Schedule of the
Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS),
Schedule of Authority Contributions - Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS), Notes to the Required
Supplementary Information and Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios - GASB
No. 75 and Related Notes to the Schedule, as listed in the table of contents, because the limited procedures do
not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Required Supplementary Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise Charlotte County Airport Authority's basic financial statements. The required supplementary
information other than MD&A - budgetary comparison information is presented for purposes of additional
analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.
The required supplementary information other than MD&A - budgetary comparison information is the
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and
other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our opinion, the required supplementary information other than MD&A budgetary comparison
information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.
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Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements of Charlotte
County Airport Authority that collectively comprise the Charlotte County Airport Authority's basic financial
statements. The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and State Financial Assistance
for the year ended September 30, 2020 as required by the Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part
200, "Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards"
and/or the Florida Single Audit Act (Florida Statute 215.97) is presented for purposes of additional analysis
and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and
was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of
the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or
to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the accompanying Schedule of
Expenditures of Federal Awards and State Financial Assistance for the year ended September 30, 2020 is fairly
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.
Other Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the Authority's basic financial statements. The Exhibit - Management's Response to Independent
Auditor's Report to Management is not a required part of the basic financial statements but is required by
Government Auditing Standards. Such information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on it.
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Other Reporting Required by Section 218.415, Florida Statutes
In accordance with Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, we have also issued a report dated January 11, 2021, on
our consideration of Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with provisions of Section 218.415,
Florida Statutes. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of compliance and the
results of that testing, and to provide an opinion on compliance with the aforementioned Statute. That report
is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Sections 218.39 and 218.415, Florida Statutes in
considering Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with Section 218.415, Florida Statutes.
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated January 11, 2021,
on our consideration of the Authority's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contract and grant agreements and other matters. The
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Authority's internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.
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TUSCAN & COMPANY, P.A.
Fort Myers, Florida
January 11, 2021

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS
(MD&A)
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (MD&A)
The following management discussion and analysis of the Charlotte County Airport Authority’s
financial performance provides an overview of the financial activities of the Airport for the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2020. The information contained in this discussion should be
considered in conjunction with the financial results, footnotes, and supplemental information in
the Airport’s basic financial statements.
Mission Statement
The Charlotte County Airport Authority (the “Airport”) is an independent special district pursuant
to the State constitution and the Laws of Florida, particularly Chapter 98-508 (codification) as
amended by Laws of Florida, Chapter 2011-263, Section 4 and by Chapter 2013-254. It is not a
component unit of Charlotte County. The Airport has jurisdiction, control, supervision and
management of the Airport and surrounding land within its legal boundaries, governed by a five
(5) member elected Board of Commissioners. The Airport is self-supporting, generating its
revenues from aviation and non-aviation leases, concessions, airline related revenues and fuel
sales. The Airport facility is located in Charlotte County, Florida and was officially named the
Punta Gorda Airport in 2010.
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The Airport strives to ensure the safety and security of the traveling public. It is dedicated to
maintaining a superior and reliable level of Airport services for local residents and tourists and is
committed to supporting the development of air linkages and facilities, which are integral parts of
its future economic growth as well as that of Southwest Florida.
Punta Gorda Airport is the only public use/public owned facility serving both the general aviation
and commercial aviation needs of the community. The Airport is a hub for Allegiant Airlines, a
low-cost carrier that offers direct flights to over 40 destinations. The Airport is open 24 hours a
day, 7 days a week and serves as a base airport for general aviation aircraft owners and operators
in the surrounding area. The Punta Gorda Airport boasts a strong personal and recreational flying
community.
The Airport occupies approximately 1800 acres of land east of I-75, south of US 17, and
approximately two miles south of the Peace River. It is the highest elevation in Charlotte County,
at 25 feet above sea level. The Airport has within its boundaries a Foreign Trade Zone and three
runways accommodating private and commercial aircraft.
The Airport plays an important role in the enhancement of community services as well. The
Airport is the staging area for the First In Team for disasters and serves the U.S. Forestry Service
as a temporary fire tanker base. The Airport serves as a base of operation for the Charlotte County
Sheriff’s Office and Charlotte County Mosquito Control. The Airport is also home to an active
division of the Civil Air Patrol. The Airport began offering commercial airline passenger service
in 2007.
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GASB 34
The Annual Financial Statement summarizes the activity of all the Airport’s funds. The statements
have changed in format as a result of implementing Governmental Accounting Standards Board
GASB 34 for the year ended September 30, 2004, the year implementation was required. The
discussion on the implications of GASB 34 can be extensive. For the purposes of this report, a
brief overview is included herein.
In June, 1999, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) - which sets accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (Financial reporting rules) for all
state and local governments - established a new framework for the financial reports of state and
local governments. The new framework or financial reporting model represents the biggest single
change in the history of governmental accounting. GASB 34, known as Statement No. 34: Basic
Financial Statements - and Management’s Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local
Governments, represent a fundamental revision of the current financial reporting model, which has
been in place since 1979.
The GASB 34 model includes new features, such as government-wide financial reporting,
narrative overview, analysis (management’s discussion and analysis - MD&A) and infrastructure
reporting.
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Overview of the Financial Statements

The Airport is structured as an enterprise fund. The Airport’s basic financial statements are
prepared on the accrual basis in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB). Therefore, revenues are recognized when earned, not when received. Expenses are
recognized when incurred, not when they are paid. Capital assets are capitalized and (except for
land and construction in progress) are depreciated over their useful lives. Refer to the notes of the
basic financial statements for a summary of the Airport’s significant accounting policies.
Following this Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) are the basic financial
statements and supplemental schedules of the Airport. This information, taken collectively, is
designed to provide readers with an understanding of the Airport’s finances.
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The Statement of Net Position presents information on all the Airport’s assets, deferred
outflows/inflows, and liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as net position.
Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of the Airport’s
financial position. Below is a comparative of the components of the Airport’s net position.

COMPARATIVE NET POSITION
$80,000,000
$70,000,000
$60,000,000
9/30/19

$50,000,000

9/30/20

$40,000,000
$30,000,000
$20,000,000
$10,000,000
$‐
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Net Invest in cap assets

Net position ‐ unrestricted

NET POSITION
9/30/19
Net Invest in cap $
61,709,601
assets
Net
position
12,115,569
unrestricted
Total Net position
$
73,825,170

9/30/20
$ 73,807,620
18,390,691
$ 92,198,311

iii

Increase
% Inc
(Decrease)
(Dec)
$ 12,098,019 19.6%
6,275,122

52%

$ 18,373,141 24.9%

Operating Revenues
The following chart shows major operating revenue sources and the percentage of operating
revenue for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2020.

OPERATING REVENUES BY CATEGORY
YEAR ENDED 9/30/20
Other Revenue, 39,888 ,
.3%

Sales - Jet fuel,
$2,200,170 , 17%
Sales - Avgas fuel,
693,945 , 5%
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Sales - Jet fuel
Sales - Avgas fuel
Industrial park rentals

Industrial park rentals,
1,377,779 , 10%

Airline Related Revenue,
8,161,235 , 62%

Hangar rentals & tiedowns
Concession, vending & Fees
Airline Related Revenue
Other Revenue

Hangar rentals &
tiedowns, 778,616 ,
6%
Concession, vending &
Fees, 19,382 , .1%

iv

In comparison with the previous fiscal year ending September 30, 2019

OPERATING REVENUES BY CATEGORY
YEAR ENDED 9/30/2019
Other Revenue, 49,262 ,
0.3%

Sales - Jet fuel,
$2,247,080 , 14.6%

Sales - Avgas fuel,
782,248 , 5.1%
Sales - Jet fuel
Sales - Avgas fuel
Industrial park rentals

Industrial park rentals,
1,209,715 , 7.9%
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Hangar rentals & tiedowns
Concession, vending & Fees
Airline Related Revenue

Hangar rentals
& tiedowns,
766,498 , 5.0%

Airline Related Revenue,
10,284,754 , 67.0%

Concession, vending &
Fees, 19,424 , 0.1%

v

Other Revenue

The following schedule shows net operating income (loss) before Depreciation for the past five
fiscal years ending September 30, 2020:

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE
DEPRECIATION
$4,500,000.00

$4,000,000.00

$3,500,000.00

$3,000,000.00

$2,500,000.00

$2,000,000.00

$1,500,000.00

$1,000,000.00

$500,000.00
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$2016

2017

2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

2018

$
$
$
$
$

vi

2019

2,595,302
2,681,745
3,966,017
4,058,794
2,144,409

2020

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position presents information
showing how the Airport’s net position changed during the most recent year. All changes in net
assets are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of
the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses for some items are reported in this
Statement that will result in cash flows in future periods.
The Statement of Cash Flows relates to the flow of cash and cash equivalents. Consequently,
only transactions that affect the Airport’s cash accounts are recorded in this statement. The
reconciliation is provided at the bottom of the Statement of Cash Flows to assist in the
understanding of the difference between cash flows from operating activities and operating
income.
Budgetary Highlights
September 30, 2020
For the years ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, the Airport completed its required audit in a
timely manner.
Original Budget to Actual Variance

DRAFT

Total operating revenues were $13,271,015, a variance of $2,644,346 under the original budgeted
amount of $15,915,361. This was largely because of a decrease in Airline Related Revenue due to
the COVID-19 pandemic.
Total operating expenses were $11,126,606, which was $303,639 less than the original budgeted
amount of $11,430,245.
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
GRAPH - COMPARATIVE SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended September 30, 2016-2020
COMPARATIVE OPERATING ACTIVITIES
$18,000,000
$16,000,000
$14,000,000
$12,000,000
$10,000,000
$8,000,000
$6,000,000
$4,000,000
$2,000,000
$$(2,000,000)
$(4,000,000)
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2016

Operating
Revenue
Fiscal
Year
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

$ 8,580,192
$ 9,787,656
$ 12,032,255
$ 14,543,625
$ 15,358,981
$ 13,271,015

2017

2018

2019

2020

Operating
Expenses

Operating Inc
(Loss)

Non-Cash
Depreciation

Operating

Before Depr

Before Depr

Expense

Inc (Loss)

$ 6,534,300
$ 7,192,354
$ 9,350,480
$ 10,577,608
$ 11,300,187
$ 11,126,606

$
$
$
$
$
$

2,045,892
2,595,302
2,681,745
3,966,017
4,058,794
2,144,409
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$
$
$
$
$
$

2,967,210
3,104,269
3,712,009
3,341,419
3,364,989
3,743,983

$
(921,318)
$
(508,967)
$ (1,030,264)
$
624,598
$
693,805
$ (1,599,574)

Non-Capital Assets
The Airport’s non-capital assets as of September 30, 2020, and 2019 amounted to
$25,278,744 and $17,143,614, respectively. This change is largely due to an increase in Cash
and Cash Equivalents of $4,191,737 along with a significant increase in Grants Receivable of
$3,532,243.
COMPARATIVE NON-CAPITAL ASSETS
$25,000,000

$20,000,000

$15,000,000
9/30/2019

$10,000,000

$5,000,000

$-

9/30/2020

DRAFT
9/30/2020

9/30/2019
Cash & cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Grants receivables
Other receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Total Non-Capital Assets

$

15,655,835

$

109,332
563,789
572,804
77,829
164,025
17,143,614

$

19,847,572

$

146,311
4,096,032
665,059
76,698
447,102
25,278,774

ix

Inc(Dec)

% Inc(Dec)

$

4,191,737

27%

$

36,979
3,532,243
92,255
(1,131)
283,077
8,135,160

34%
627%
16%
-1%
173%
47%

Capital Assets
The Airport’s net capital assets as of September 30, 2020, and 2019 amounted to $75,872,034 and
$64,368,593, respectively. This difference of $11,503,441 primarily comes from a $12,870,457
increase in construction in process netted with an increase in accumulated depreciation of
$3,371,552. Additional information on the Airport’s capital asset activity can be found in Note E
of the Financial Statements.
The Airport primarily acquires its capital assets with proceeds from federal and state grants along
with Airport matching funds and more recently with the assistance of PFC’s. Below is the
comparative chart of capital assets as of September 30, 2019 and 2020:
CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
GRAPH-COMPARATIVE CAPITAL ASSETS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2019 and 2020

$120,000,000
$100,000,000
$80,000,000
$60,000,000
$40,000,000
$20,000,000

DRAFT

9/30/19
9/30/20

$Land
$(20,000,000)

Construction in Depreciable
progress
capital assets

Accumulated
depreciation

$(40,000,000)
$(60,000,000)

9/30/20
$
5,533,331
17,335,891
103,801,253
(50,798,441)
$
75,872,034

9/30/19
Land
$
5,533,331
Construction in progress
4,465,434
Depreciable capital assets
101,796,717
Accumulated depreciation
(47,426,889)
Total Capital Assets - Net $
64,368,593
x

Increase
(Decrease)
$
12,870,457
2,004,536
(3,371,552)
$ 11,503,441

% Inc
(Dec)
0.0%
288.2%
2.0%
7.1%
17.9%

Current Liabilities
As of September 30, 2020, the Airport’s current liabilities totaled $4,705,229 compared to
$3,345,370 in the previous fiscal year.
COMPARATIVE CURRENT LIABILITIES

$4,000,000
$3,500,000
$3,000,000
$2,500,000
9/30/19

$2,000,000

9/30/20

$1,500,000
$1,000,000
$500,000
$-
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A/P & accrued Rental & fuel
expenses
advances

Deferred
revenue

Client deposits

State
Infrastructure
Loan (SIB)

CURRENT
LIABILITIES
A/P & accrued expenses
Rental & fuel advances
Deferred revenue
Client deposits
State Infrastructure Loan
(SIB)

9/30/19

9/30/20

INC(DEC)

$

2,329,033
60,176
159,195
202,388
594,578

$

3,611,486
51,705
165,748
265,361
610,929

$

Total

$

3,345,370

$

4,705,229

xi

%
INC(DEC)
1,282,453
55%
(8,471)
-14%
6,553
4%
62,973
31%
16,351
3%

1,359,859

41%

Long-Term Liabilities
As of September 30, 2020, the Airport’s long-term liabilities totaled $5,227,165 compared to
$5,397,081in the previous fiscal year. Significant differences include a 30% decrease in the SIB
loan amount and a 15% increase in Net Pension Liability.
COMPARATIVE LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

$4,000,000
$3,500,000
$3,000,000

9/30/2019

$2,500,000
9/30/2020

$2,000,000
$1,500,000
$1,000,000
$500,000
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Compensated
absences

Net OPEB
Obligation

State
infrastructure
bank loan

Net Pension
Liability

LONG-TERM
LIABILITIES
Compensated absences
Net OPEB Obligation
State infrastructure bank loan
Net Pension Liability

9/30/2019

9/30/2020

INC(DEC)

$
$
$
$

116,004
24,783
2,064,414
3,191,880

$
$
$
$

127,604
34,552
1,453,485
3,661,524

$
$
$
$

11,600
9,769
(610,929)
469,644

%
INC(DEC)
10%
39%
-30%
15%

Subtotal

$

5,397,081

$

5,277,165

$

(119,916)

-2.2%
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Financial Highlights
•

In FY 2020, net position increased by $18,373,141, substantially due to a substantial
increase in total net Capital Assets of $12,098,019 and an increase in unrestricted assets of
$6,275,122.

•

Total operating revenues were $13,271,015, a decrease of $2,087,966 compared to FY
2019. This decrease was related to a significant loss in airline related revenues of
$2,123,519 due to the Covid-19 pandemic.

•

Total operating expenses were $11,126,606, a slight decrease in comparison to FY 2019.
The Airport Authority worked hard to keep expenses minimal in response to the loss of
revenue due to the pandemic.

DRAFT

xiii

The Year 2020 in Review
While FY 2020 started off very strong, the Covid-19 pandemic created a significant loss of
operating revenue for the remainder of the fiscal year. The Board and its staff responded by
minimizing expenses and monitoring trends. As a result of the pandemic, CCAA was awarded
$23.8 million in grant money through the Cares Act Airport Grant Agreement, a 4 year FAA grant
to provide eligible funding to help offset a decline in revenue arising from diminished airport
operations and activities as a result of the Covid-19 public health emergency.

DRAFT
Allegiant Air provides commercial flight service with flights to many Northeast, Midwest, and
Southeast U.S. destinations. In FY 2020, they added 3 new destinations and now provide service
to 48 cities to and from Punta Gorda.

xiv
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Passenger Comparisons for Fiscal Years 2019 & 2020
Fiscal year 2020 recorded a total passenger count of 1,295,741 versus the previous fiscal year of
1,619,532 passengers, a decrease of 5.1%. The Authority anticipates a slow return to normal and
is monitoring passenger loads and making appropriate adjustments to the forecast.
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Charlotte County Airport Authority
Total Enplanements FY 2019 vs 2020
120000
100000
80000
60000

2019

40000

2020

20000
0

2019
October
November
December
January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
Totals

2020
October
November
December
January
February
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Enplaned
Total
61,323
64,128
62,617
65,983
71,628
110,152
94,277
63,269
67,471
74,260
50,549
27,612

813,269

Enplaned
Total
55,560
65,124
78,611
76,696
96,861

Deplaned
Total
67,763
63,993
68,806
63,332
76,490
111,174
78,616
59,286
67,127
72,528
47,511
29,457

806,083

Deplaned
Total
61,924
65,499
87,476
78,109
103,689

Airline
Totals
129,086
128,121
131,423
129,315
148,118
221,326
172,893
122,555
134,598
146,788
98,060
57,069

1,619,352

Airline
Totals
117,484
130,623
166,087
154,805
200,550

xvi

March
April
May
June
July
August
September
Totals

84,761
8,141
33,353
47,846
47,627
30,951
25,591
651,122

67,022
3,889
29,961
45,921
43,810
29,555
27,764
644,619

151,783
12,030
63,314
93,767
91,437
60,506
53,355
1,295,741
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Many things are happening at the Punta Gorda Airport:

xvii

Airport Authority Staff Volunteers for United
Way Day of Caring – October 2019

DRAFT

xviii

Florida International Air Show- November 2019

DRAFT

xix

Welcomed New Allegiant Routes – November
2019

DRAFT

xx

Historic Ford Tri-Motor Flies Public Rides for
EAA – January 2020

DRAFT

xxi

COVID-19 Response – March 2020

DRAFT

xxii

Broke Ground on New Aviation Expansion Area
(PGD AviEx) – September 2020

DRAFT
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget
The Airport is cautiously moving forward in light of the Covid-19 pandemic. The Fiscal Year
2020 Budget was based on the airline schedule and the related revenues and expenses the airport
will collect and incur, with careful consideration of the volatility of the airline industry during
these difficult times.
Future Outlook
The Punta Gorda Airport remains one of the most successful small-hub airports in the Country.
Strong traffic from passengers, more destinations and low fares have resulted from the financial
model the Airport has chosen to follow; a low-cost airport that keeps expenses low and carries
little debt.

xxiii

The growth in passengers year-over-year from 2018 to 2019 was 4.3%, but dropped 27.7% in 2020
due to the impacts of COVID-19. Still, the Punta Gorda Airport remained one of most Allegiant’s
most successful bases due to the resiliency of the leisure travel market and Florida’s natural
attractions.
While we fared much better than most U.S. airports, we expect it will take a couple years to return
to 2019 passenger numbers if indicators continue to progress upward.
In fiscal 2020, we forged ahead to keep airport operations running smoothly and progress on our
Capital Improvement Program. We completed Runway 15-33’s rehabilitation and extension in
2020, along with associated property acquisitions, wetland mitigation and safety improvements.
We made great strides on the new 1,000-spot long-term parking lot and broke ground on the
airport’s Aviation Expansion Area (PGD AviEx) on the north side. PGD AviEx will be home to
the new General Aviation Center and ramp, which is also attracting other aviation-related tenants
and will allow the commercial service area more room to grow.
The Airport is a self-supporting authority that depends on concessions, fuel sale revenues, along
with revenues from rentals of hangars, buildings and land leases to operate the airport. The Airport
hosts approximately 400 based aircraft and has an active general aviation community. Airport
property is home to aviation and non-aviation businesses currently providing employment to
approximately 475 employees.

DRAFT

The Punta Gorda Airport is one of largest generators of economic activity in Charlotte County and
is responsible for more than $1.275 billion in total business sales as measured by the FDOT’s 2018
Statewide Aviation Economic Impact Study. With multiplier impacts, the study attributed 12,392
in total employment and nearly $419 million in labor income to Punta Gorda Airport.
Management will continue to develop strategic partnerships and attract new businesses with the
airport’s great access to air transportation, easy access to Interstate 75 and nearby rail facilities.

Request for Information
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Airport’s finances for all
those with an interest in its finances. Questions concerning any of the information should be
addressed to James W. Parish, Executive Director, Charlotte County Airport Authority, 28000 A1 Airport Road, Punta Gorda, Florida 33982.
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
September 30, 2020 and 2019
2020

2019

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Grant receivables
Other receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses

$

18,988,742
146,311
4,096,032
665,059
76,698
447,102

$ 14,100,769
109,332
563,789
572,804
77,829
164,025

24,419,944

15,588,548

265,361
593,469

202,388
1,352,678

858,830

1,555,066

5,533,331
17,335,891

5,533,331
4,465,434

53,113,985
1,727,490
42,726,818
6,165,660
67,300
(50,798,441)

51,386,723
1,727,490
42,519,813
6,095,391
67,300
(47,426,889)

CAPITAL ASSETS, NET

75,872,034

64,368,593

TOTAL ASSETS

101,150,808

81,512,207

1,255,154

1,335,189

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
RESTRICTED ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents - tenant deposits
Cash and cash equivalents - PFC's

DRAFT
TOTAL RESTRICTED ASSETS

CAPITAL ASSETS
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings
Airport master plan
Capital improvements
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Donated surplus equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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2020

2019

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Rental and fuel advances
Unearned revenue
Tenant deposits
State Infrastructure Bank (SIB) loan, current portion

$

3,611,486
51,705
165,748
265,361
610,929

$ 2,329,033
60,176
159,195
202,388
594,578

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

4,705,229

3,345,370

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
State Infrastructure Bank (SIB) loan,
net of current portion
Estimated liability for compensated absences
Net OPEB liability
Net pension liability
TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

1,453,485
127,604
34,552
3,661,524
5,277,165

2,064,414
116,004
24,783
3,191,880
5,397,081

TOTAL LIABILITIES

9,982,394

8,742,451

225,257

279,775

73,807,620
18,390,691
92,198,311

61,709,601
12,115,569
$ 73,825,170

DRAFT

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted
TOTAL NET POSITION

$

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Years ended September 30, 2020 and 2019
2020
OPERATING REVENUES
Fuel and oil sales
Industrial and commercial park rentals
Hangar rentals and tie downs
General-aviation-related concession, vending and fees
Airline-related revenues:
Car rentals
Parking
Other, including LEO and concessions
Other operating revenues

$

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES
OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and wages
Payroll taxes and retirement
Personnel expenses
Cost of fuel and oil sales
Advertising
Marketing and promotional
Bank charges and credit card fees
Dues and subscriptions
Insurance
Legal and professional
Licenses and permits
Mowing
Postage
Repairs and maintenance and equipment fuel
Computer maintenance and expense
Supplies (including vending purchases)
Telephone and communications
Travel and auto allowance
Utilities
Airline expenses
Security
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES
BEFORE DEPRECIATION
NET OPERATING INCOME
BEFORE DEPRECIATION
Less: Depreciation

2,894,115
1,377,779
778,616
19,382

2019
$

4,702,995
2,415,510
1,042,730
39,888

5,835,310
3,214,062
1,235,382
49,262

13,271,015

15,358,981

3,313,848
1,175,063
914,429
1,427,155
1,232
187,121
39,688
66,757
539,352
346,149
6,398
28,750
4,305
549,086
156,783
215,017
50,174
18,697
382,237
1,660,993
43,372

3,224,665
1,177,628
832,976
1,651,882
2,691
195,518
42,372
47,019
333,877
203,509
28,192
23,400
5,064
591,063
167,253
233,115
43,914
47,452
405,989
2,007,406
35,202

11,126,606

11,300,187

2,144,409
(3,743,983)

4,058,794
(3,364,989)

DRAFT
OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

$

3,029,328
1,209,715
766,498
19,424

(1,599,574)

$

693,805
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2020
OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS)
from previous page

$

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
PFC's
CFC's
Other financial assistance- CARES Act
Interest on investments
Miscellaneous revenue (expense)
Interest expense
Gain (loss) on disposition of capital assets
Insurance premium refund
Post retirement benefit accrual (expense)
Bank fees
Bad debt expense

(1,599,574)

2019
$

2,713,570
1,356,204
7,225,272
149,303
514,120
(73,122)
(16,925)
(5,600)
(9,122)
-

DRAFT

693,805

3,172,184
509,061
145,350
1,255,897
(89,036)
2,850
18,144
(5,222)
(6,730)
(1,000)

NET NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES)

11,853,700

5,001,498

GAIN (LOSS) BEFORE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

10,254,126

5,695,303

8,119,015

2,070,208

TOTAL CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

8,119,015

2,070,208

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION

18,373,141

7,765,511

73,825,170

66,059,659

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
Capital grants and contributions

NET POSITION - Beginning
NET POSITION - End of the year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

$

92,198,311

$

73,825,170

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended September 30, 2020 and 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers
Cash received (paid) from customer deposits
Other income received
Cash payments for goods and services
Cash payments to employees
NET CASH PROVIDED BY
(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Contributions from government agencies
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Principal payments (SIB)
Interest expense on debt (SIB)
Bank fees
Proceeds from disposition of capital assets

2020

2019

$ 13,136,038
66,798
4,583,894
(4,848,223)
(4,734,834)

$ 15,410,791
17,811
3,522,136
(4,429,820)
(4,688,897)

8,203,673

9,832,021

5,207,315

-

DRAFT

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) CAPITAL
AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest earned on investments

6,604,729
(15,335,899)
(594,578)
(73,122)
(9,122)
39,438

1,797,590
(6,897,171)
(578,664)
(89,036)
(6,730)
-

(9,368,554)

(5,774,011)

149,303

145,350

NET CASH PROVIDED BY
(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

149,303

145,350

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

4,191,737

4,203,360

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - BEGINNING

15,655,835

11,452,475

$ 19,847,572

$ 15,655,835

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - ENDING

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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2020

2019

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS) TO
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS)

$ (1,599,574)

$

693,805

Adjustments to reconcile operating revenue (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation

3,743,983

Bad debt expense

-

Plus non-cash CIP determined non-capital

(1,000)

32,112

214,923

4,578,294

3,522,136

DRAFT

Miscellaneous non-operating net revenue

3,364,989

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable

(36,979)

113,028

(Increase) decrease in other receivables

(92,255)

(50,121)

1,131

(28,562)

(Increase) decrease in inventories

(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Increase (decrease) in rental and fuel advances

(283,077)

1,282,453

(44,469)
1,493,488

(8,471)

23,474

6,553

(33,571)

Increase (decrease) in tenant deposits

62,973

17,811

Increase (decrease) in estimated liability
for compensated absences - non cash

11,600

15,556

499,330

537,455

Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue

Net increase (decrease) in pension expense - non cash

(6,921)

Net increase (decrease) in OPEB expense - non cash

5,600

TOTAL ADJUSTMENTS

9,803,247

9,138,216

NET CASH PROVIDED BY
(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

$ 8,203,673

$ 9,832,021

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2020 and 2019
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
Organization and nature of activities
Charlotte County Airport Authority (the "Authority") was authorized under Laws of
Florida, Chapter 65-1357 and Florida Statute, Chapter 332, in 1965. This enabling
act has been amended by subsequent acts of the State of Florida legislature. Two
significant amendments directly affected the operations of the Authority. Laws of
Florida, Chapter 91-399 removed the ability of the Authority to levy ad valorem
taxes. The other, Laws of Florida, Chapter 91-361 had the potential of abolishing
the Authority and transferring its assets and liabilities to Charlotte County. However,
the Charlotte County Board of Commissioners voted on November 12, 1991 to
allow the Authority to remain as an independent elected Authority. Laws of Florida,
Chapter 98-508 codified, reenacted, amended and repealed its prior enabling acts
including a change to its official name to become the Charlotte County Airport
Authority. The Authority was originally known as the Charlotte County
Development Authority. Laws of Florida, Chapter 98-508 (codification) was
amended by Laws of Florida, Chapter 2004-405 to eliminate certain obsolete
requirements and modernize certain other provisions. During July 2010, the
Authority approved a name change of the airport facility (not the Authority itself) to
Punta Gorda Airport. Effective on June 21, 2011, the Authority amended Chapter
98-508, Laws of Florida, via Chapter 2011-263, Laws of Florida, by expanding the
purpose of the Authority to include any airports within the boundaries of Charlotte
County and all facilities, real estate and commerce parks within the Authority's
boundaries. It also revised certain technical definitions and requirements. Chapter
2013-254, Laws of Florida, clarified the manner in which Authority Board Members
are elected. The Authority is governed by an elected five (5) member Board of
Commissioners.

DRAFT

Reporting entity
The Charlotte County Airport Authority is financially independent of all other units of
government. It is responsible for financing its own activities and the payment of its
own debt. The Authority's Board members are elected by the voters of Charlotte
County to serve staggered four (4) year terms. The Board has the responsibility to
employ management that is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Authority. The Board has absolute authority over all funds included in the entity.
The Charlotte County Airport Authority is not a component unit of any other
governmental unit.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2020 and 2019
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Reporting entity, continued
The Authority has adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement
Number 14, "Financial Reporting Entity" (GASB 14), as amended by GASB
Statement Number 39, "Determining Whether Certain Organizations Are Component
Units" and GASB Statement Number 61, "The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus An Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34". These Statements
require the financial statements of the Authority (the primary government) to include
its component units, if any. Component units are legally separate agencies for which
the primary government is financially accountable for organizations whose exclusion
would cause the financial statements to be misleading because of the nature and
significance of their relationship with the primary government. Financial accountability
is determined by the primary government's ability to appoint the voting majority of the
entity's Board, impose its will on the Organization, and the existence of a financial
benefit/burden relationship or fiscal dependency. Based on this criteria, there are no
component units included or required to be included in the Authority's financial
statements.

DRAFT

The Charlotte County Airport Authority adheres to the requirements of Governmental
Accounting Standards Board Statement Number 33 "Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Non-Exchange Transactions." As such, capital grant revenue is
recorded as non-operating revenue and is reflected on the Statements of Revenue,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position. Prior to implementation of this Statement,
these revenues were required to be recorded directly to equity as part of contributed
capital and, as such, had no effect on the Statements of Revenues, Expenses and
Changes in Net Position.
Accordingly, the Authority recorded non-operating revenues as follows: non-capital
and capital grants totaling $15,344,287 and $2,070,208 for the years ended
September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies used in the
preparation of these financial statements:
The Authority adheres to the requirements of Governmental Accounting Standards
Board Statement Number 34, "Basic Financial Statement and Management's
Discussion and Analysis for State and Local Governments" (GASB 34).
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
The government-wide financial statements along with the notes to the financial
statements and the RSI, as noted below comprise the basic financial statements.
The basic financial statements of the Authority are comprised of the following:
- Government-wide financial statements
- Notes to the financial statements
- Required supplementary information other than MD&A
Government-wide financial statements
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the Statement of Net Position and the
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position) report information
on all of the activities of the Authority and do not emphasize fund types. These
business-type activities comprise the primary government. Business-type activities
rely on user fees and charges to support its activities rather than taxes and
intergovernmental revenues. The purpose of the government-wide financial
statements is to allow the user to be able to determine if the Authority is in a better or
worse financial position than the prior year.

DRAFT

Government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of
accounting, revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from
exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized when the exchange takes
place. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from
nonexchange transactions are recognized in accordance with the requirements of
GASB Statement Number 33, "Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Nonexchange Transactions".
Amounts paid to acquire capital assets are capitalized as assets in the
government-wide financial statements, rather than reported as expenditures.
Proceeds of long-term debt are recorded as liabilities in the government-wide
financial statements, rather than as other financing sources. Amounts paid to reduce
long-term indebtedness of the reporting government are reported as a reduction of
the related liability in the government-wide financial statements, rather than as
expenditures.
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Government-wide financial statements, continued
The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Net Position demonstrates
the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function are offset by program
revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific
function or segment. Program revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants
who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a
given function and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the
operational or capital improvements of a particular function.
Program revenues are considered to be revenues generated by such functions as
airline revenue, fuel and oil sales, facility rentals and leases, and concessions.

DRAFT

Budgetary information

As required, the Authority uses only one fund to account for its financial activities.
As such, it is considered a major fund. The Authority has elected to report budgetary
comparison of its major fund as required supplementary information (RSI).
Fund accounting
The Authority's financial practices are based upon fund accounting concepts. A fund
is defined as a fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts
recording cash and other financial resources, together with all related liabilities and
fund equity balances and changes therein.
The accompanying financial statements are classified as a proprietary fund type enterprise fund. This fund accounts for all the revenues and cost of services provided
by the Authority.
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Business-type activities - proprietary fund type
Enterprise Fund - An enterprise fund is used to account for operations (1) that are
financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises where the
intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of
providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or
recovered primarily through user charges; or (2) where the Authority has decided
that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income
is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control,
accountability, or other purposes.
Measurement focus

DRAFT

Proprietary funds are accounted for on a flow of economic resources measurement
focus. With this measurement focus, assets and liabilities associated with the
operation of these funds are included on the Statements of Net Position. Fund equity
is segregated into net investment in capital assets and retained earnings components.
Proprietary fund-type operating statements present increases (i.e. revenues) and
decreases (i.e. expenses) in total net position.
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the
Authority's policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they
are needed.
Basis of accounting
The proprietary fund type is presented on the accrual basis of accounting. Under the
accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded in the period earned and expenses
are recorded in the period the liability is incurred.
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Budgetary process
The Authority operates under a flexible budget for control purposes. The budget and
amendments, if any, are approved by the Board of Commissioners. The budget is
prepared on a Non-GAAP accrual basis, whereby capital expenditures and debt
principal payments are budgeted as operating expenses.
The annual budget serves as the legal authorization for expenditures. Expenditures
cannot legally exceed the total amount budgeted. All budget amendments, which
change the legally adopted total appropriation, are approved by the Board.
The Authority follows these procedures in establishing budgetary data.

DRAFT

1. During the summer of each year, management submits to the Board of
Commissioners a proposed operating budget for the fiscal year commencing on
October 1. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the means
of financing them.
2. Public hearings are conducted to obtain citizen comments.
3. The budget is adopted by approval of the Board of Commissioners.
4. Budget amounts, as shown in these financial statements, are as originally adopted
or as amended by the Board of Commissioners.
5. The budget is adopted on a Non-GAAP basis as reflected in the supplementary
information and as noted above.
6. The level of control for appropriations is exercised at the fund level.
7. Appropriations lapse at year-end.
The Board of Commissioners approved budget amendments during the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2020. The budget amendments increased total budgeted
revenues (operating and non-operating) by $3,986,433 and increased total
budgeted expenses (operating and non-operating) by $3,986,433.
Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, the Authority considers all highly
liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less, when purchased, to be a
cash equivalent, including both restricted and unrestricted cash, in accordance with
Authority policy.
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Accounts receivable
Receivables include fuel sales and rental/lease activities from operations by the
Authority. The Authority places customers that have accounts over 90 days past due
on a cash basis and negotiates payment and/or takes legal action for the past due
amounts. The accounts receivable are recorded net of the estimated allowance for
doubtful accounts.
Grants and contracts receivable
Grants and contracts receivable consist of receivables from expenditure
reimbursements filed with State and/or Federal governments. No allowance for
doubtful accounts has been provided, as management believes the balances to be
fully collectible.

DRAFT

Inventories

Inventories consist of fuel and oil held for resale at year end. The inventories are
valued at cost, which approximates market. The method used to determine the value
of the inventory is the FIFO (first in-first out) method.
Capital assets and depreciation
All capital assets acquired by proprietary funds are reported in those funds at
historical cost or estimated historical cost, if actual historical cost is not available.
Donated assets are reported at estimated fair market value at the time received.
Substantially, all infrastructure type capital assets consisting of certain improvements
such as roads, curbs, gutters, drainage systems and lighting systems have been
capitalized.
The Authority follows a policy which calls for capitalization of all capital assets that
have a cost or donated value of $5,000 or more and have a useful life in excess of
one year.
Maintenance, repairs and minor renovations are not capitalized. The acquisition of
land and construction projects utilizing resources received from Federal and State
agencies are capitalized when the related expenditure is incurred.
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Capital assets and depreciation, continued
For the year ended September 30, 2020, $0 debt-related interest cost was
capitalized as part of the cost of construction. For the year ended September 30,
2019, debt related interest cost of $0 was capitalized as part of the cost of
construction.
Depreciable capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the
following estimated useful lives:
Asset

Years

DRAFT

Buildings
Airport Master Plan
Capital Improvements
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment
Donated Surplus Equipment

10-40
5
3-20
3-20
5-10

Restricted assets

Restricted assets are cash reserves required by the applicable contracts, tenant
deposits, insurance and/or amounts advanced as part of Federal or State Financial
Awards.
Income taxes
The Authority, as a governmental unit, is exempt from income taxes under current
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code.
Sick leave and other compensated absences
Accumulated unpaid sick pay and other compensated absences are accrued when
incurred in the proprietary fund. The method of accrual is in accordance with
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement Number 16, "Accounting for
Compensated Absences" (GASB 16). This Standard provides for the measurement
of accrued vacation leave and other compensated absences using the pay or salary
rates in effect at the balance sheet date. It also requires additional amounts to be
accrued for certain salary related payments associated with the payment of
compensated absences such as FICA.
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Encumbrances
Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts and other
commitments for the expenditure of monies are recorded in order to reserve that
portion of the applicable appropriation, is not employed by the Authority because at
present it is not necessary in order to assure budgetary control or to facilitate
effective cash planning and control.
Capital contributions and restricted net assets
Grants, entitlements or shared revenues which are externally restricted for capital
acquisition or construction are reported as capital contributions on the Statements of
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position. Contributed or donated fixed
assets are also recorded as capital contributions. Restricted net assets represent
those portions of fund equity legally restricted by debt covenants for future debt
service or to fund the cost of capital assets.

DRAFT

Leasing activity

The Authority derives a portion of its operating revenues from the rental and leasing
of land, buildings, and aircraft hangars and tie-down space. The lease agreements
have been determined to be operating leases which are cancellable and substantially,
annually renewable. Therefore, leasing arrangements are reported and reflected in
the financial statements as rental income.
Reclassifications
Certain amounts in the financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the
current presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on the results of
operations or fund equity.
Application of FASB Pronouncements to Proprietary Funds
In accordance with GASB Statement No. 20, "Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Proprietary Funds and Other Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund
Accounting", the Authority has elected not to apply those FASB Statements and
Interpretations issued after November 30, 1989.
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Accounting Pronouncement GASB No. 42
The Authority adheres to Government Accounting Standards Board Statement
Number 42, "Accounting and Financial Reporting for Impairment of Capital Assets
and for Insurance Recoveries" (GASB 42). GASB 42 establishes accounting and
financial reporting standards for impairment of capital assets.
A capital asset is considered impaired when its service utility has declined significantly
and unexpectedly. Governments are required to evaluate prominent events or
changes in circumstances affecting capital assets to determine whether impairment of
a capital asset has occurred. Such events or changes in circumstances that may be
indicative of impairment include evidence of physical damage, enactment or approval
of laws or regulations or other changes in environmental factors, technological
changes or evidence of obsolescence, changes in the manner or duration of a capital
asset, and construction stoppage. A capital asset generally should be considered
impaired if both (a) the decline in service utility of the capital asset is large in
magnitude and (b) the event or change in circumstance is outside the normal life cycle
of the capital asset.

DRAFT

The Authority incurred no capital asset impairment activity for the years ended
September 30, 2020 or 2019.
Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
Operating and non-operating revenues
Operating revenues result from providing private and commercial airline services, and
also from the rental and leasing of land, buildings, and aircraft hangars and tie-down
space. The Authority considers revenues from fuel and oil sales, industrial and
commercial park rentals, hangar rentals and tiedowns, concession and vending, and
airline (primarily car rentals and parking) as operating revenues. All other revenues
are treated as non-operating revenues.
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Pensions
In the Statements of Net Position, liabilities are recognized for the Authority's
proportionate share of each pension plan's net pension liability. For purposes of
measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the
fiduciary net position of the Florida Retirement System (FRS) and the Health
Insurance Subsidy (HIS) defined benefit plans and additions to/deductions from
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported
by the Plans. For this purpose, benefit payments, (including refunds of employees
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit
terms.

DRAFT

The Authority's retirement plans and related amounts are described in a subsequent
note.
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the Statements of Net Position report a separate section for
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred
outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to future
periods and so will not be recognized an as outflow of resources
(expense/expenditure) until then. The deferred amount on pensions and OPEB is
reported in the Statements of Net Position. The deferred outflows of resources
related to pensions are discussed in a subsequent note.
In addition to liabilities, the Statements of Net Position report a separate section for
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred
inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future
period and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that
time. The deferred amount on pension is reported only in the Statements of Net
Position. A deferred amount on pension and OPEB results from the difference in the
expected and actual amounts of expenditures, earnings, and contributions. This
amount is deferred and amortized over the service life of all employees that are
provided with these benefits through the pension and OPEB plans except earnings
which are amortized over five to seven years.
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Subsequent events
Subsequent events have been evaluated through January 11, 2021, which is the date
the basic financial statements were available to be issued.
NOTE B - CASH AND INVESTMENTS
At September 30, 2020 and 2019, cash and cash equivalents were $19,847,572 and
$15,655,835, including cash on hand of $18,371 and $19,118, respectively. The
carrying amount of $19,847,572 at September 30, 2020 was comprised of
unrestricted cash of $18,988,742 and restricted cash of $858,830. At September
30, 2019, the carrying amount of $15,655,835 was comprised of unrestricted cash
of $14,100,769 and restricted cash of $1,555,066.

DRAFT

Deposits

The Authority's deposit policy allows deposits to be held in demand deposits, savings
accounts, certificates of deposit and money market accounts. At September 30,
2020 and 2019, all deposits were held in qualified public depositories pursuant to
Florida Statutes Chapter 280, "Florida Security for Public Deposits Act". The
Authority adheres to the requirements of GASB Statement No. 31, "Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools," in
which all investments are reported at fair value. In addition, the Authority abides by
Florida Statute 218.415(17) as its investment policy. All deposits were fully insured
by Federal Depository Insurance or collateralized, in the Authority's name, as
required by Sections 280.07 and 280.08 of the Florida Statutes.
Deposits were as follows at September 30:
Bank
Balance

September 30, 2020
Unrestricted
Depository accounts

$

Restricted
Depository account - tenant deposits
Depository account - PFC's
September 30, 2019
Unrestricted
Depository accounts

19,231,693

Carrying
Amount
$

265,361
593,469

18,970,371
265,361
593,469

$

20,090,523

$

19,829,201

$

14,197,509

$

14,081,651

Restricted
Depository account - tenant deposits
Depository account - PFC's

202,388
1,352,678
$

15,752,575

202,388
1,352,678
$

15,636,717
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NOTE B - CASH AND INVESTMENTS, CONTINUED
Investments
Florida Statutes and the Authority's investment policy authorize investments in direct
obligations of the U.S. Treasury, Federal agencies and instrumentalities, certificates of
deposit, savings accounts with qualified public depositories and the Florida Municipal
Investment Trust Fund. The Authority held no such investments during the years
September 30, 2020 or 2019 or at the respective year ends.
NOTE C - ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Accounts receivable consists of the following at September 30:
Accounts receivable
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts

$

2020
146,311
-

$

2019
109,332
-

Accounts receivable, net

$

146,311

$

109,332

DRAFT

An allowance for doubtful accounts is recorded in the amounts of $0 and
$0 at September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Bad debt expense for the
years ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 was $0 and $1,000, respectively.
NOTE D - GRANT RECEIVABLES
Grant receivables consist of the following at September 30:
2020
Federal Awards
U.S. Department of Transportation
15-33 & Wetland Mitigation (AIP 37)
Construction New GA Apron (AIP 39)
4-22 Runway Rehabilitation (AIP 38)
CARES Act Airport (AIP 40)
U.S. Department of Homeland Security
Leo Award Program
State Awards
Department of Transportation (FDOT)
Taxiway E. Extension & GA Ramp (G1P20)
Runway 15-33 Rehab & Extension (G0Z65)
New GA Terminal Facility (GOZ64)
Runway 4-22 RPZ Fencing (G1H 56)
$

2019

1,480,701
47,434
32,493
2,017,957

420,599
-

24,165

12,445

6,731
450,121
12,240
24,190
4,096,032

127,174
3,571
563,789

$
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NOTE E - CAPITAL ASSET ACTIVITY
The following is a summary of changes in capital asset activity for the year ended
September 30, 2020:
Balance
October 1
2019

Additions

Adjustments/
Reclasses

Deletions

Balance
September 30
2020

Capital Assets Not
Being Depreciated:
Land

$ 5,533,331

Construction in Progress

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

5,533,331

4,465,434

12,950,155

-

(79,698)

17,335,891

9,998,765

12,950,155

-

(79,698)

22,869,222

Total Capital Assets
Not Being Depreciated

DRAFT

Capital Assets

Being Depreciated:
Buildings

51,386,723

1,727,262

-

-

53,113,985

1,727,490

-

-

-

1,727,490

42,519,813

207,005

-

-

42,726,818

6,095,391

451,477

(418,919)

37,711

6,165,660

67,300

-

-

-

67,300

Total Capital Assets
Being Depreciated 101,796,717

2,385,744

(418,919)

37,711

103,801,253

Airport Master Plan

Capital Improvements

Furniture, Fixtures and
Equipment

Donated Surplus Equip.

Less Accumulated
Depreciation:
Buildings

(17,823,897)

(1,645,769)

-

-

(19,469,666)

(252,985)

(305,070)

-

-

(558,055)

(26,241,242)

(1,239,379)

-

-

(27,480,621)

(3,082,975)

(549,035)

362,556

9,875

(3,259,579)

(25,790)

(4,730)

-

-

(30,520)

Total Accum. Depreciation (47,426,889)

(3,743,983)

362,556

9,875

(50,798,441)

(32,112)

75,872,034

Airport Master Plan
Capital Improvements
Furniture, Fixtures and
Equipment
Donated Surplus Equip.

Capital Assets, Net $ 64,368,593

$ 11,591,916

$

(56,363) $

Related Long Term Debt
Net Investment in Capital Assets

(2,064,414)
$ 73,807,620
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NOTE E - CAPITAL ASSET ACTIVITY, CONTINUED
The depreciation expense for the years ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, was
$3,743,983 and $3,364,989, respectively.
At September 30, 2020 and 2019, the Authority leased to various tenants buildings
with a cost $24,118,539 and $24,118,539 which had accumulated depreciation of
$14,531,572 and $13,632,481 and depreciation expense of $899,091 and
$918,838, respectively, which are included in the totals above.
NOTE F - LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
The following is a summary of the Authority's long-term liabilities for the years ended
September 30:

DRAFT
Accrued

Compensated

Net OPEB

Net Pension

Absences

Liability

Liability

SIB Loan

Balance - Sept. 30, 2018

$

Borrowings/Increase (net)

3,237,656

$

-

Principal retired (net)

Borrowings/Increase (net)
Principal retired/decrease (net)

38,122

$

-

2,584,276

(13,339)

2,658,992

116,004

24,783

3,191,880

-

11,600

9,769

469,644

-

-

-

127,604

34,552

3,661,524

-

-

-

2,064,414

$

607,604

15,556

(594,578)

Balance - Sept. 30, 2020

$

-

(578,664)

Balance - Sept. 30, 2019

100,448

Total

5,960,502
607,604

-

(576,447)

5,991,659
491,013
(594,578)
5,888,094

Principal due within
one (1) year
Long Term Portion

(610,929)
$

1,453,485

$

127,604

$

34,552

$

3,661,524

(610,929)
$

5,277,165
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NOTE F - LONG-TERM LIABILITIES, CONTINUED
Long-term debt is comprised of the following at September 30:
2020
Non-current portion of compensated absences. Employees
of the Authority are entitled to paid scheduled (vacation)
leave based on length of service and job classification.

127,604

$ 116,004

34,552

24,783

Net pension obligation - FRS pension plan. This amount is
actuarially determined through calculation based upon the
audited financial statements of the Florida FRS Plan.

2,649,591

2,227,950

Net pension obligation - HIS plan. This amount is actuarially
determined through calculation based upon the audited
financial statements of the Florida FRS Plan.

1,011,933

963,930

The Authority was approved for a State Infrastructure Bank
Loan (SIB) during the year ended September 30, 2012 in the
amount of $5,800,000 (CFDA 20.205) to finance
improvements and expansion of the airport terminal area
(AIP 32 and 33). This loan was made available as of July 1,
2012 and is collateralized by the revenues of the Authority.
The first draw was received in October 2013. Interest
accrues at 2.75%. The loan requires ten (10) annual
principal plus accrued interest payments beginning on
October 1 following the completion of the project. Loan
payments began on October 1, 2015 and continue until
2024.

2,064,414

2,658,992

5,888,094

5,991,659

Net OPEB liability - GASB No. 75 actuarially determined

$

2019

DRAFT
Total
Less: current portion
Long-term portion

(610,929)
$ 5,277,165

(594,578)
$ 5,397,081
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NOTE F - LONG-TERM LIABILITIES, CONTINUED
The annual debt service requirements at September 30, 2020, were as follows:
Years Ending
September 30
SIB Loan Payable:
2021
2022
2023
2024

Total
Principal
$

Total SIB Loan Payable
Accrued compensated absences
Net OPEB liability
Net pension liability
Total Long-Term Debt

610,929
627,729
644,992
180,764

Total
Interest
$

2,064,414
127,604
34,552
3,661,524
$

5,888,094

56,771
39,971
22,708
4,971

Total
$

124,421
$

124,421

667,700
667,700
667,700
185,735
2,188,835
127,604
34,552
3,661,524

$

DRAFT

6,012,515

Interest costs of $73,122 were expensed during the year ended September 30,
2020. Interest costs in the amount of $89,036 incurred during the year ended
September 30, 2019 were expensed.
Other post employment benefits

The Authority provides post retirement health care benefits to eligible employees.
Upon retirement from the Authority and becoming a recipient of monies from the
State of Florida Retirement Trust Fund (FRS), eligible retired employees are qualified
for continued health insurance benefits. Eligible retired employees have their medical
insurance premiums paid by the Authority, but are required to reimburse the
Authority a portion of the premiums paid by the Authority on their behalf. For further
details of these benefits, reference the OPEB Note.
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN
General Information about the Florida Retirement System
The Florida Retirement System ("FRS") was created in Chapter 121, Florida
Statutes. The FRS was created to provide a defined benefit pension plan ("Pension
Plan") for participating public employees. Substantially, all Authority employees are
participants in the Statewide Florida Retirement System (FRS) under authority of
Article X, Section 14 of the State Constitution and Florida Statutes, Chapters 112
and 121. The FRS was amended in 1998 to add the Deferred Retirement Option
Program ("DROP") under the defined benefit plan and amended in 2000 to provide
an integrated defined contribution plan alternative to the defined benefit plan for FRS
members effective July 1, 2002. This integrated defined contribution pension plan is
the FRS Investment Plan. Chapter 112, Florida Statutes, established the Retiree
Health Insurance Subsidy (HIS) Program, a separate cost-sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan to assist retired members of any State-administered
retirement system in paying the costs of health insurance.
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Essentially all regular employees of the Authority are eligible to enroll as members of
the State-administered FRS. Provisions relating to the FRS are established by
Chapters 121 and 122, Florida Statutes; Chapter 112, Part IV, Florida Statutes;
Chapter 238, Florida Statutes; and Florida Retirement System Rules, Chapter 60S,
Florida Administrative Code; wherein eligibility, contributions, and benefits are
defined and described in detail. Such provisions may be amended at any time by
further action from the Florida Legislature. The FRS is a single retirement system
administered by the Florida Department of Management Services, Division of
Retirement, and consists of two cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit plans
(Pension and HIS Plans) and other nonintegrated programs. A comprehensive
annual financial report of the FRS, which includes its financial statements, required
supplementary information, actuarial report, and other relevant information dated June
30, 2019, is available from the Florida Department of Management Services' Web
site (www.dms.myflorida.com).
The Authority's total pension expense was $799,428, $822,541 and $532,430 for
the years ended September 30, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The Authority's
actual total contributions to the Plan was $300,098 for the year ended September
30, 2020. The Authority contributed 100% of the required contributions.
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED
FRS Pension Plan
Plan Description. The FRS Pension Plan ("Plan") is a cost-sharing multipleemployer defined benefit pension plan, with a Deferred Retirement Option Program
(DROP) for eligible employees. The general classes of membership are as follows:
Regular Class - Members of the FRS who do not qualify for membership in the
other classes.
Senior Management Service Class (SMSC) - Members in senior management
level positions.
Special Risk Class - Members who are employed as law enforcement officers
and meet the criteria to qualify for this class.

DRAFT

Elected Officials - Members who are elected by the voters within the Authority
boundaries.
Employees enrolled in the Plan prior to July 1, 2011, vest at six years of creditable
service and employees enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, vest at eight
years of creditable service. All vested members, enrolled prior to July 1, 2011, are
eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 62 or at any age after 30 years of
service, except for those members classified as special risk who are eligible for
normal retirement benefits at age 55 or at any age after 25 years of service. All
members enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, once vested, are eligible for
normal retirement benefits at age 65 or any time after 33 years of creditable service,
except for members classified as special risk who are eligible for normal retirement
benefits at age 60 or at any age after 30 years of service. Members of both Plans
(Pension and HIS) may include up to 4 years of credit for military service toward
creditable service. The Plan also includes an early retirement provision; however,
there is a benefit reduction for each year a member retires before his or her normal
retirement date. The Plan provides retirement, disability, death benefits, and annual
cost of living adjustments to eligible participants.
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED
FRS Pension Plan, continued
DROP, subject to provisions of Section 121.091, Florida Statutes, permits
employees eligible for normal retirement under the Plan to defer receipt of monthly
benefit payments while continuing employment with an FRS employer. An employee
may participate in DROP for a period not to exceed 60 months after electing to
participate. During the period of DROP participation, deferred monthly benefits are
held in the FRS Trust Fund and accrue interest. The net pension liability does not
include amounts for DROP participants, as these members are considered retired and
are not accruing additional pension benefits.
Benefits Provided. Benefits under the Plan are computed on the basis of age,
and/or years of service, average final compensation, and credit service. Credit for
each year of service is expressed as a percentage of the average final compensation.
For members initially enrolled before July 1, 2011, the average final compensation is
the average of the five highest fiscal years' earnings; for the members initially enrolled
on or after July 1, 2011, the average final compensation is the average of the eight
highest fiscal years' earnings. The total percentage value of the benefit received is
determined by calculating the total value of all service, which is based on retirement
plan and/or the class to which the member belonged when the service credit was
earned. Members are eligible for in-line-of-duty or regular disability and survivors'
benefits. The following chart shows the percentage value of each year of service
credit earned:
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Class, Initial Enrollment, and Retirement Age/Years of Service
Regular Class and elected members initially enrolled before July 1, 2011
Retirement up to age 62, or up to 30 years of service
Retirement at age 63 or with 31 years of service
Retirement at age 64 or with 32 years of service
Retirement at age 65 or with 33 or more years of service

%Value
1.60
1.63
1.65
1.68

Regular Class and elected members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011
Retirement up to age 65 or up to 33 years of service
Retirement at age 66 or with 34 years of service
Retirement at age 67 or with 35 years of service
Retirement at age 68 or with 36 or more years of service

1.60
1.63
1.65
1.68

Special Risk Regular
Service from December 1, 1970 through September 30, 1974
Service on or after October 1, 1974

2.00
3.00

Senior Management Service Class
Elected Officers' Class

2.00
3.00
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED
FRS Pension Plan, continued
As provided in Section 121.101, Florida Statutes, if the member is initially enrolled in
the FRS before July 1, 2011 and all service credit was accrued before July 1, 2011,
the annual cost-of-living adjustment is 3 percent per year. If the member is initially
enrolled before July 1, 2011 and has service credit on or after July 1, 2011, there is
an individually calculated cost-of-living adjustment. The annual cost-of-living
adjustment is a proportion of 3 percent determined by dividing the sum of the
pre-July 2011 service credit by the total service credit at retirement multiplied by 3
percent. Plan members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011 will not have a
cost-of-living adjustment after retirement.
Contributions. The Florida Legislature establishes contribution rates for
participating employers and employees. Contribution rates during the year ended
September 30, 2020 were as follows:

DRAFT
Percent of Gross Salary*

Class

Employee

Employer (1)

Employer (3)

Florida Retirement System, Regular
Florida Retirement System, Senior Management Service
Florida Retirement System, Special Risk
Deferred Retirement Option Program - Applicable
to Members from All of the Above Classes
Florida Retirement System, Reemployed Retiree
Florida Retirement System, Elected Official

3.00
3.00
3.00

8.47
25.41
25.48

10.00
27.29
24.45

0.00
(2)
3.00

14.60
N/A
48.82

16.98
N/A
49.18

Notes:
(1) Employer rates include 1.66 percent for the post employment health insurance subsidy. Also,
employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include .06 percent for administrative costs for
the Investment Plan. Rates for 7/1/19 - 6/30/20.
(2) Contribution rates are dependent upon retirement class in which reemployed.
(3) Employer rates include 1.66 percent for the post employment health insurance subsidy. Also,
employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include .06 percent for administrative costs for
the Investment Plan. Rates for 7/1/20 - 6/30/21.
*

As defined by the Plan.
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED
FRS Pension Plan, continued
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources
and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to the Pension Plan. At
September 30, 2020, the Authority reported an FRS pension liability of $2,649,591
for its proportionate share of the net pension liability. The net pension liability was
measured as of June 30, 2020, and the total pension liability used to calculate
the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2020.
The Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability was based on the
Authority's 2019-20 fiscal year contributions relative to the total 2019-20 fiscal year
contributions of all participating members. At September 30, 2020, the Authority's
proportionate share was .006113293 percent, which was a decrease of
.000356045 percent from its proportionate share measure as of September 30,
2019.

DRAFT

For the year ended September 30, 2020, the Authority recognized FRS pension
expense of $663,515. In addition, the Authority reported deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the pension from the following
sources:
Deferred Outflows

Deferred Inflows

of Resources

of Resources

Description
Differences between expected
and actual experience

$

Change of assumptions

101,405

$

-

479,660

-

157,759

-

137,416

112,971

49,579

-

Net difference between projected and
actual earnings on pension plan investments
Changes in proportion and differences between
Authority contributions and proportionate share
of contributions
Authority contributions subsequent to the
measurement date
Total

$

925,819

$

112,971
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED
FRS Pension Plan, continued
The deferred outflows of resources related to the FRS pension, totaling $49,579
resulting from Authority contributions subsequent to the measurement date, will be
recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended September 30,
2021. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to the pension will be recognized in pension expense over
the remaining service period of 5.9 years as follows:
Fiscal Years Ending
September 30
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

Amount
$

DRAFT
Total

$

163,014
163,014
163,014
163,013
123,574
(12,360)
763,269

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the July 1, 2020, actuarial
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all
periods included in the measurement:
Valuation date
Measurement date
Inflation
Real payroll growth
Salary increases
Investment rate of return
Actuarial cost method

July 1, 2020
June 30, 2020
2.40 percent
0.85 percent
3.25 percent, average, including inflation
6.80 percent, net of pension plan
investment expense, including inflation
Individual entry date

Mortality rates were based on the Generational PUB-2010 with Projection Scale
MP-2018.
The actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2020, valuation were based on the
results of an actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2013 through June 30,
2018.
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED
FRS Pension Plan, continued
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was not based on
historical returns, but instead is based on a forward-looking capital market economic
model. The allocation policy's description of each asset class was used to map the
target allocation to the asset classes shown below. Each asset class assumption is
based on a consistent set of underlying assumptions and includes an adjustment for
the inflation assumption. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic and
geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the
following table:

Target
Allocation (1)
1.00%
19.00%
54.20%
10.30%
11.10%
4.40%

Annual
Arithmetic
Return
2.2%
3.0%
8.0%
6.4%
10.8%
5.5%

Compound
Annual
(Geometric)
Return
2.2%
2.9%
6.7%
5.8%
8.1%
5.3%

DRAFT

Asset Class
Cash
Fixed income
Global equity
Real estate (property)
Private equity
Strategic investments
Total

Standard
Deviation
1.2%
3.5%
17.1%
11.7%
25.7%
6.9%

100.00%

Assumed inflation - Mean

2.40%

1.70%

(1) As outlined in the Plan's investment policy.

Money-Weighted Rate of Return. The annual money-weighted rate of return on
the FRS Pension Plan investements for the Plan year ended June 30, 2020 was
3.35%.
Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability
was 6.80 percent. The Plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to
make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees.
Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total pension liability is equal to the
long-term expected rate of return.
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED
FRS Pension Plan, continued
Sensitivity of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability
to Changes in the Discount Rate. The following presents the Authority's
proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of
6.80 percent, as well as what the Authority's proportionate share of the net pension
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower (5.80 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (7.80 percent) than the current
rate:
1%

Current

1%

Decrease

Discount Rate

Increase

(5.80%)

(6.80%)

(7.80%)

DRAFT

Authority's proportionate share of
the net pension liability

$ 4,230,952

$ 2,649,591

$1,328,832

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position. Detailed information about pension plan's
fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued FRS Pension Plan and Other
State Administered Systems Comprehensive Annual Financial Report ("FRS CAFR")
dated June 30, 2020.
The FRS CAFR and actuarial reports may also be obtained by contacting the
Division of Retirement at:
Department of Management Services
Division of Retirement
Bureau of Research and Member Communications
P.O. Box 9000
Tallahassee, FL 32315-9000
850-488-5706 or toll free at 877-377-1737
http://www.dms.myflorida.com/workforce_operations/retirement/publications
Payables to the Pension Plan. At September 30, 2020, the Authority reported a
payable of $11,212 for the outstanding amount of contributions in the pension plan
required for the year ended September 30, 2020.
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED
Health Insurance Subsidy Plan
Plan Description. The Health Insurance Subsidy Plan ("HIS Plan") is a
cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan established under
section 112.363, Florida Statutes. The benefit is a monthly payment to assist retirees
of State-administered retirement systems in paying their health insurance costs and is
administered by the Division of Retirement within the Florida Department of
Management Services.
Benefits Provided. For the year ended September 30, 2020, eligible retirees
and beneficiaries received a monthly HIS payment equal to the number of years of
creditable service completed at the time of retirement multiplied by $5. The
payments are at least $30 but not more than $150 per month, pursuant to Section
112.363, Florida Statutes. To be eligible to receive a HIS Plan benefit, a retiree
under a State-administered retirement system must provide proof of health insurance
coverage, which can include Medicare.

DRAFT

Contributions. The HIS Plan is funded by required contributions from FRS
participating employers as set by the Florida Legislature. Employer contributions are
a percentage of gross compensation for all active FRS members. For the year ended
September 30, 2020, the contribution rate ranged between 1.66 percent and 1.66
percent of payroll pursuant to Section 112.363, Florida Statutes. The Authority
contributed 100 percent of its statutorily required contributions for the current and
preceding three years. HIS Plan contributions are deposited in a separate trust fund
from which HIS payments are authorized. HIS Plan benefits are not guaranteed and
are subject to annual legislative appropriation. In the event the legislative
appropriation or available funds fail to provide full subsidy benefits to all participants,
benefits may be reduced or cancelled.
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources
and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to the HIS Plan. At September
30, 2020, the Authority reported a HIS liability of $1,011,933 for its proportionate
share of the net HIS Plan's net pension liability. The net pension liability was
measured as of June 30, 2020, and the total pension liability was used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July
1, 2020. The Authority's proportionate share of the net HIS liability was based on
the Authority's 2019-20 fiscal year contributions relative to the total 2019-20 fiscal
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED
HIS Plan, continued
year contributions of all participating members. At September 30, 2020, the
Authority's proportionate share was .008287846 percent, which was a decrease of
.000327134 percent from its proportionate share measured as of September 30,
2019.
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020, the Authority recognized HIS expense
of $135,913. In addition, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:
Deferred Outflows
of Resources
Description
Differences between expected
and actual experience
$
41,394
Change of assumptions
108,812
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on HIS pension plan investments
808
Changes in proportion and differences between
Authority HIS contributions and proportionate
share of HIS contributions
161,687
Authority contributions subsequent to the
measurement date
10,853

Deferred Inflows
of Resources

DRAFT

Total

$

323,554

$

781
58,839
-

38,628
-

$

98,248

The deferred outflows of resources related to HIS, totaling $10,853, resulting from
Authority contributions subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as
a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended September 30, 2021.
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense over the
remaining service period of 7.2 years as follows:
Fiscal Years Ending
September 30
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total

$

$

Amount
34,661
34,661
34,661
34,661
34,459
41,350
214,453
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED
HIS Plan, continued
Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the July 1, 2020, actuarial
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all
periods included in the measurement:
Inflation
Real payroll growth
Salary Increases
Municipal Bond Rate
Actuarial Cost Method

2.40 percent
0.85 percent
3.25 percent, average, including inflation
2.21 percent
Individual entry date

Mortality rates were based on the Generational PUB-2010 with Projected Scale
MP-2018.

DRAFT

Because the HIS program is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, no experience study
has been completed for the program.
Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total HIS liability was
2.21 percent. In general, the discount rate for calculating the total HIS liability is
equal to the single rate equivalent to discounting at the long-term expected rate of
return for benefit payments prior to the projected depletion date. Because the HIS
benefit is essentially funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, the depletion date is
considered to be immediate and the single equivalent discount rate is equal to the
municipal bond rate selected by the plan sponsor. The Bond Buyer General
Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Bond Index was adopted as the applicable municipal
bond index.
Sensitivity of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net HIS Liability
to Changes in the Discount Rate. The following presents the Authority's
proportionate share of the net HIS liability calculated using the discount rate of
2.21 percent, as well as what the Authority's proportionate share of the net HIS
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower (1.21 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (3.21 percent) than the current
rate:

Authority's proportionate share of
the net HIS liability

1%
Decrease
(1.21%)

Current
Discount Rate
(2.21%)

$ 1,169,749

$ 1,011,933

1%
Increase
(3.21%)
$

882,760
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED
HIS Plan, continued
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position. Detailed information about the HIS plan's
fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued FRS Pension Plan and
Other State Administered Comprehensive Annual Financial Report ("FRS CAFR")
dated June 30, 2020.
The FRS CAFR and actuarial reports may also be obtained by contacting the
Division of Retirement at:
Department of Management Services
Division of Retirement
Bureau of Research and Member Communications
P.O. Box 9000
Tallahassee, FL 32315-9000

DRAFT

850-488-5706 or toll free at 877-377-1737

http://www.dms.myflorida.com/workforce_operations/retirement/publications
Payables to the Pension Plan. At September 30, 2020, the Authority reported a
payable of $2,296 for the outstanding amount of contributions to the HIS plan required
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020.
FRS - Defined Contribution Pension Plan
The SBA administers the defined contribution plan officially titled the FRS Investment
Plan (Investment Plan). The Investment Plan is reported in the SBA's annual financial
statements and in the State of Florida Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.
As provided in Section 121.4501, Florida Statutes, eligible FRS members may elect
to participate in the Investment Plan in lieu of the FRS defined benefit plan. Authority
employees participating in DROP are not eligible to participate in the Investment
Plan. Employer and employee contributions, including amounts contributed to
individual member's accounts, are defined by law, but the ultimate benefit depends in
part on the performance of investment funds. Benefit terms, including contribution
requirements, for the Investment Plan are established and may be amended by the
Florida Legislature. The Investment Plan is funded with the same employer and
employee contribution rates that are based on salary and membership class (Regular
Class, Elected County Officers, etc.), as the FRS defined benefit plan. Contributions
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED
FRS - Defined Contribution Pension Plan, continued
are directed to individual member accounts and the individual members allocate
contributions and account balances among various approved investment choices.
Costs of administering plan, including FRS Financial Guidance Program, are funded
through an employer contribution of 0.06 percent of payroll and by forfeited benefits
of plan members. Allocations to the investment member's accounts during the
2019-20 fiscal year were as follows:
Percent of Gross Salary*
Class

Employee

Employer (1)

Employer (3)

Florida Retirement System, Regular
Florida Retirement System, Senior Management Service
Florida Retirement System, Special Risk
Deferred Retirement Option Program - Applicable
to Members from All of the Above Classes
Florida Retirement System, Reemployed Retiree
Florida Retirement System, Elected Official

3.00
3.00
3.00

8.47
25.41
25.48

10.00
27.29
24.45

0.00
(2)
3.00

14.60
N/A
48.82

16.98
N/A
49.18

DRAFT

Notes:
(1) Employer rates include 1.66 percent for the post employment health insurance subsidy. Also,
employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include .06 percent for administrative costs for
the Investment Plan. Rates for 7/1/19 - 6/30/20.
(2) Contribution rates are dependent upon retirement class in which reemployed.
(3) Employer rates include 1.66 percent for the post employment health insurance subsidy. Also,
employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include .06 percent for administrative costs for
the Investment Plan. Rates for 7/1/20 - 6/30/21.
*

As defined by the Plan.

For all membership classes, employees are immediately vested in their own
contributions and are vested after 1 year of service for employer contributions and
investment earnings. If an accumulated benefit obligation for service credit originally
earned under the FRS Pension Plan is transferred to the Investment Plan, the member
must have the years of service required for FRS Pension Plan vesting (including the
service credit represented by the transferred funds) to be vested for these funds and
the earnings on the funds. Nonvested employer contributions are placed in a
suspense account for up to 5 years. If the employee returns to FRS-covered
employment within the 5-year period, the employee will regain control over their
account. If the employee does not return within the 5 year period, the employee will
forfeit the accumulated account balance. For the fiscal year ended September 30,
2020, the information for the amount of forfeitures was unavailable from the SBA;
however, management believes that these amounts, if any, would be immaterial to
the Authority.
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED
FRS - Defined Contribution Pension Plan, continued
After termination and applying to receive benefits, the member may rollover vested
funds to another qualified plan, structure a periodic payment under the Investment
Plan, receive a lump-sum distribution, leave the funds invested for future distribution,
or any combination of these options. Disability coverage is provided; the member
may either transfer the account balance to the FRS Pension Plan when approved for
disability retirement to receive guaranteed lifetime monthly benefits under the FRS
Pension Plan, or remain in the Investment Plan and rely upon that account balance for
retirement income.
The Authority's Investment Plan pension expense which is included in FRS pension
expense totaled $118,017 for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020.
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Payables to the Investment Plan. At September 30, 2020, the Authority reported a
payable of $0 for the outstanding amount of contributions to the Plan required for the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2020.
NOTE H - PENSION PLAN - 457 DEFERRED COMPENSATION

Effective October 1, 2011, the Authority approved an employee benefit plan
whereby, the Authority contributed to the Section 457 Plan on behalf of all Authority
employees. The Authority's required Section 457 contribution for each employee is
equal to the difference between the Authority's FRS contribution rate at June 30,
2011 less the combination of the Authority's FRS contribution rate at July 1, 2011
plus the employee's required FRS three (3) percent contribution rate for each
respective employee. For the years ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, the
Authority contributed $105,059 and $96,549, respectively.
NOTE I - INSURANCE/RISK MANAGEMENT
The Authority directly obtained third party commercial insurance coverage for
property, automobile, general liability, airport liability, directors and officers' and fuel
storage tank insurance and workers' compensation. The Authority paid $403,875
and $321,586 for these coverages (not including claims expense) for the years ended
September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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NOTE I - INSURANCE/RISK MANAGEMENT, CONTINUED
The Authority also retained third party coverage as a group, for health, accidental
death and disability, EAP, vision, and life through Charlotte County. For the years
ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, the Authority paid $841,315 and $753,198,
respectively.
The Authority retains the risk of loss up to a deductible amount with the risk of loss in
excess of this amount transferred to the insurance carrier with limits of liability per
occurrence and in aggregate.
NOTE J - CONTINGENCIES
Litigation

DRAFT

The Authority, from time to time, is involved as a defendant or a plaintiff in certain
litigation and claims arising in the ordinary course of operations. In the opinion of
legal counsel, the range of potential recoveries or liabilities will not materially affect
the financial position of the Authority. At September 30, 2020 and 2019, no liability
had been accrued for such losses, if any. The Authority intends to vigorously pursue
all potential claims.
State and federal grants
Grant monies received by the Authority are for specific purposes and are subject to
review by the grantor agencies. Such audits may result in requests for reimbursement
due to disallowed expenditures. Based upon prior experience, the Authority does
not believe that such disallowances, if any, would have a material effect on the
financial position of the Authority.
The operations of the Authority are dependent upon the condition of the Authority's
facilities. These facilities are currently being rehabilitated and improved substantially
through the receipt of federal and state funding. Loss or reduction of such funding
may have a material effect on the operations of the Authority.
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NOTE K - CONSTRUCTION-RELATED COMMITMENTS
The following is a summary of construction projects contracted by the Authority
and not yet completed at September 30, 2020:
Contract
Price
Wetland Mitigation Phase 1 of 2
Airport Roadway Network Improvements
Runway 15-33 Rehab & Extension
Terminal Curbside
Construct Replacement Hanger for Bldg 207
Long Term Parking Expansion
GA Terminal Design-Construct
Admin Bldg Build Out
600 Series T-Hangars
Runway 4-22 Rehabilitation
Runway 4-22 RPZ Fencing

$

2,565,692
78,990
13,507,406
34,600
145,910
3,603,741
16,278,149
14,824
110,589
640,290
197,966
$ 37,178,157

Amounts Paid
Through
September 30, 2020
$

DRAFT
$

2,551,500
76,990
11,317,494
26,100
47,474
677,999
1,136,797
12,915
75,831
52,520
48,381
16,024,001

NOTE L - UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS

Unrestricted net assets consist of the following at September 30:
2020
Designated for losses, storm, fire
and vandalism
Designated for insurance escrow
Designated for building
Designated for contaminants and
pollutant assessments
Parking lot reserve
T-Hanger reserve
Air Traffic/ Navigation/ Safety
Rental Car Improvement
Total Designated
Undesignated
Total Unrestricted Net Assets

$

32,862
221,183
2,359,816

107,500
1,343,733
135,552
208,038
46,522
4,455,206
13,935,485
$ 18,390,691

2019
$

$

27,862
221,183
1,859,816
107,500
908,942
198,070
46,522
3,369,895
8,745,674
12,115,569
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NOTE M - MINIMUM FUTURE RENTALS
The Authority leases certain facilities (aviation and non-aviation) to vendors and
tenants at Punta Gorda Airport. Such agreements are short-term in nature and
are accounted for as operating leases. The Authority also has entered into lease
agreements with rental car companies that contain contingent rentals. Contingent
rental revenues arise from a percentage of the lessees' gross revenue.
At September 30, 2020, minimum future rentals of operating leases were as follows:
Years Ending
September 30
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026-2030
2031-2035
2036-2038

Amount
$

DRAFT
Total minimum future revenue

$

1,169,819
1,163,219
1,205,849
1,223,474
1,228,355
4,016,173
3,694,071
2,481,738
16,182,698

Substantially all of the Authority's property is used for leasing activities to either
airlines or other tenants/vendors.
NOTE N - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION BENEFITS (OPEB)
In accordance with Section 112.0801, Florida Statutes, the Authority provides
medical health plans to employees of the Authority and their eligible dependents, the
Authority is required to provide retirees the opportunity to participate in the group
employee medical health plan. As such, the Authority elected to participate in the
Charlotte County (the "County") group health, life, vision and dental plan. The
Authority, therefore, must offer such coverage to its retirees. The Charlotte County
plan is a defined benefit cost sharing multi-employer plan which is administered by the
County. The Authority is a participant in the Plan. Although not required by Florida
Law, the Authority has opted to pay a portion of the cost of such participation for
retired Authority employees through a single employer defined benefit plan (the
"Plan").
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NOTE N - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION BENEFITS (OPEB),
CONTINUED
Plan description
The year ended September 30, 2018, was the Authority's required transition year.
As such, the Authority recorded its net OPEB liability of $38,122 at September 30,
2018 due to implementation of GASB No. 75.
Employees of the Authority who retire after 30 years of service, or after attainment of
age 55, with six years of credited service with the Authority and who were
participants in the existing medical plan at the time of retirement, are entitled to
participate in the Plan. Currently, for retired employees who have completed 20
years of service with the Authority and who are collecting FRS monthly retirement
benefit plans, the medical health benefit under the Plan provides for the Authority to
contribute a per month supplement. The monthly supplement for eligible retirees
retired before October 1, 2008, is $5 per year of service up to $150 per month. The
monthly supplement paid by the Authority for eligible retirees retiring on or after
October 1, 2008, is $10 per year of service up to $300 per month. The monthly
supplement is applied to medical health premium costs paid by the Authority. All
supplements cease when the retiree becomes eligible for Medicare. Dependent
coverage is available for purchase by the retiree at full premium cost.

DRAFT

All retirees and dependents may elect coverage in the dental and/or vision plans
offered by the Plan. However, they must contribute 100% of the active premium
rates.
Membership
As of October 1, 2019 (measurement date), the Authority's membership consisted of:
Active Employees, including the Board
Inactives

Amount
32
32
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NOTE N - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION BENEFITS (OPEB),
CONTINUED
Funding policy
Funding for the Plan is on a pay-as-you-go basis from the Authority's assets when
due. There is no separate trust through which benefits for retirees are funded. No
assets are currently accumulated or earmarked for this purpose.
The County had an actuarial valuation performed as of October 1, 2018 using an
October 1, 2019 measurement date, to determine the other postemployment benefits
(OPEB) annual required contribution (ARC) and Plan obligations for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2020.
The Authority subsidizes the premium rates paid by retirees by allowing them to
participate at blended premium rates for both active and retired employees. These
rates provide an implicit subsidy for retirees because, on an actuarial basis, retiree
claims are expected to result in higher costs to the plan on average than those of
active employees.

DRAFT

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

At September 30, 2020, the Authority's net OPEB liability of $34,552 was
measured as of October 1, 2019, and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of
October 1, 2018. The following actuarial assumptions and other inputs were applied
to all periods included in the measurement:
Salary Increases
Discount Rate

3.70% - 7.80%
2.74% (2020) 3.83% (2019) 3.50% (2018) (3.10% in 2016)

Annual healthcare cost trend using the Society of Actuaries Long-Run Medical Cost Trend
Getzen Model baseline assumptions with an initial rate of 6.0% per year trending to 4.40% by
2040.
The discount rate was based on the 20 Year Municipal Bond Rate with AA or higher.
Individual entry age percent of pay actuarial cost method was used.
The FRS salary scale was used as of July 1, 2018.
Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Generational Healthy mortality Table.
The actuarial assumptions used in the September 30, 2020 valuation were based on results of an
actuarial experience study performed for the FRS Retirement Plan for July 1, 2018.
Price inflation rate of 2.60%

The rationales for selecting each of the assumptions used in the financial accounting
valuation and for the assumptions changes summarized above are to best reflect the
current market conditions and recent plan experience.
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NOTE N - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION BENEFITS (OPEB),
CONTINUED
Demographic Assumptions
Rates of participation used: 65% of participants retiring before age 65 who are
eligible for OPEB supplement and 25% for those not eligible. 10% of all participants
are assumed to elect post age 65 coverage.
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability

Amount

Balance at September 30, 2019
Changes for the year:
Service Cost
Interest
Benefit Changes
Difference Between Expected and Actual Experience
Changes in Assumptions
Contributions from Employer
Net Changes
Balance at September 30, 2020

$

24,783
5,813
1,168
3,012
(224)
9,769
34,552

DRAFT
$

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District as well as what the
District's total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that
is 1 percent higher or 1 percent lower than the current discount rate.

OPEB Liability

1% Decrease
1.74%
$
37,407

Current Rate
2.74%
$
34,552

1% Increase
3.74%
$
31,782

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District as well as what the
District's total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare trend
rates that are 1 percent higher or 1 percent lower than the current healthcare trend
rate.

OPEB Liability

1% Decrease
5.0-3.4%
$
29,552

Trend Rate
6.0-4.4%
$
34,552

1% Increase
7.0-5.4%
$
40,741
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NOTE N - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION BENEFITS (OPEB),
CONTINUED
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability, continued
For the year ended September 30, 2020, the District recognized OPEB expense of
$5,824. At September 30, 2020, the District reported deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:
Deferred
Outflows of
Resources
Differences Between Expected and
Actual Experience
Changes in Assumptions
Net difference between projected
and actual earnings
Employer contribution subsequent
to measurement date
Total

$

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources

5,781

$

DRAFT

13,438
600

-

$

5,781

$

14,038

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:
Year Ending September 30:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Total Thereafter

$

$

Amount
1,157
1,157
1,157
1,157
1,157
2,472
8,257

NOTE O - PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGES (PFC)
During the year ended September 30, 2017, the Authority was approved by the
FAA to implement a Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) on commercial airline
passengers using the Authority's facilities at a rate of $2.00 per passenger until such
time that the Authority collects $5,225,793. The PFC application 17-01-C-01-PGD
was implemented in August 2017. On November 1, 2018 the FAA approved
Amendment No. 17-01-C-01-PGD to increase the collection level from $2.00 to
$4.50 per passenger, with total overall collection increasing to $5,298,817 effective
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NOTE O - PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGES (PFC), CONTINUED
January 1, 2019 through July 31, 2020. Collections prior to January 1, 2019
continued at the previously approved level of $2.00.
The Authority was approved for Application 19-02-C-00-PGD for a level of PFC of
$4.50 per passenger effective August 1, 2020 based upon the estimated charge
expiration date for the previously collections in application 17-01-C-00-PGD, as
amended. The total approved revenue to be collected for this application is
$6,804,381 with an overall total of $12,103,198. The total amount approved for use
of PFC revenue in this application is $9,554,381.
NOTE P - 401(a) RETIREMENT PLAN

DRAFT

Plan 3 - Plan description and Provisions - 401(a)

The Board of Commissioners established the 401(a) Retirement Plan for the general
executive level employees. The Plan was effective on November 17, 2016. At
September 30, 2020, the Plan had two (2) active participants.
The Authority's total contributions to the Plan for the years ended September 30,
2020 and 2019, were $38,211 and $30,614, respectively.
NOTE Q - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On May 15, 2020, the Authority was awarded a State Infrastructure Bank (SIB)
Loan in the amount of $9,185,238 effective October 1, 2020. The loan proceeds
are intended to be used toward the cost of building the new general aviation (GA)
facilities. The loan requires interest payments of 2%. The loan is generally to be
repaid over ten (10) years. This loan is considered a parity issue of the existing
$5,800,000 issue.
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NOTE R -COVID 19
In early March 2020, the World Health Organization classified the coronavirus
outbreak "COVID-19" as a global pandemic, and it, unfortunately, continues to
spread. Business continuity, including supply chains and consumer demand across a
broad range of industries and countries, have been severely impacted, as
governments and their citizens take significant and unprecedented measures to
mitigate the consequences of the pandemic. On April 1, 2020, Florida Governor,
Ron DeSantis ordered all Floridians to stay home, to lock down the State against the
Coronavirus. Most commercial airline flights were cancelled and/or severely limited.
The Authority has adapted its operations to accommodate the current environment.
However, the full impact of the COVID-19 outbreak continues to evolve as of the
date of this report. This pandemic has adversely affected global economic activity and
greatly contributed to instability in financial markets. Management is actively
monitoring the local situation on its financial condition, liquidity, operations, donors,
industry, and workforce. Given the daily evolution of COVID-19 and the global and
local responses to curb its spread, the Authority is not able to estimate the future
effects of COVID-19 on its results of operation, financial condition, or liquidity for
fiscal year 2020-21.

DRAFT

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY
INFORMATION
OTHER THAN MD&A

DRAFT
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SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND
ACTUAL WITH RECONCILIATION TO GAAP BASIS
Year ended September 30, 2020
Original
Budget
OPERATING REVENUES
Fuel and oil sales
Industrial and commercial park rentals
Hangar rentals and tie downs
General-aviation-related concession, vending and fees
Airline-related revenues:
Car rentals
Parking
Other, including LEO and concessions
Other operating revenues
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES

$ 2,975,063
1,269,000
799,050
19,440

Final
Budget

Actual

Variance

$ 2,894,115 $
1,377,779
778,616
19,382

2,894,115
1,377,779
778,616
19,382

$

6,286,936
3,303,442
1,262,430
-

4,702,995
2,415,510
1,042,730
39,888

4,702,995
2,415,510
1,042,730
39,888

-

15,915,361

13,271,015

13,271,015

-

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and wages
Payroll taxes and retirement
Personnel expenses
Cost of fuel and oil sales
Advertising
Marketing and promotional
Bank charges and credit card fees
Dues and subscriptions
Insurance
Legal and professional
Licenses and permits
Mowing
Postage
Repairs and maintenance and equipment fuel
Computer maintenance and expense
Supplies (including vending purchases)
Telephone and communications
Travel and auto allowance
Utilities
Airline expenses
Security
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES
BEFORE DEPRECIATION

3,449,440
699,182
995,026
1,624,790
2,000
215,000
42,000
47,600
400,000
226,100
22,000
28,500
5,500
561,530
199,000
295,710
46,460
67,500
421,080
2,051,827
30,000

3,313,848
675,733
914,429
1,427,155
1,232
187,121
39,688
66,757
539,352
346,149
6,398
28,750
4,305
549,086
156,783
215,017
50,174
18,697
382,237
1,660,993
43,372

3,313,848
1,175,063
914,429
1,427,155
1,232
187,121
39,688
66,757
539,352
346,149
6,398
28,750
4,305
549,086
156,783
215,017
50,174
18,697
382,237
1,660,993
43,372

(499,330)
-

11,430,245

10,627,276

11,126,606

(499,330)

NET OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
BEFORE DEPRECIATION

4,485,116

2,643,739

2,144,409

(499,330)

(3,120,000)

(3,743,983)

(3,743,983)

DRAFT
Less: Depreciation
OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS)

$ 1,365,116

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

-

$ (1,100,244) $ (1,599,574) $ (499,330)
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SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND
ACTUAL WITH RECONCILIATION TO GAAP BASIS - CONTINUED
Year ended September 30, 2020
Original
Budget
OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS),
BROUGHT FORWARD
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
PFC's
CFC's
Other financial assistance- CARES
Grant receipts (contributed capital)
SIB loan proceeds
Interest on investments
Construction in progress
Miscellaneous revenue (expense)
Interest expense
Gain (loss) on disposition of capital assets
Insurance premium refund
Reserves
Net assets carryforward
Capital expenditures
SIB loan principal retirement
Post retirement benefit accrual
Bank fees
Bad debt expense
NET NON-OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS)

Final
Budget

$ 1,365,116

3,803,800
1,380,744
6,736,323
198,000
(10,749,425)
(73,122)
(1,287,922)
1,327,838
(2,093,425)
(594,578)
(6,449)
(6,900)
(1,365,116)

Actual

$ (1,100,244) $ (1,599,574) $ (499,330)

2,713,570
1,356,204
7,225,272
8,119,015
149,303
(12,950,155)
514,120
(73,122)
(16,925)
(1,085,311)
(1,857,061)
(2,385,744)
(594,578)
(5,222)
(9,122)
1,100,244

DRAFT
NET INCOME (LOSS)

$

-

Variance

$

-

2,713,570
1,356,204
7,225,272
8,119,015
149,303
(12,950,155)
514,120
(73,122)
(16,925)
(2,385,744)
(594,578)
(5,600)
(9,122)
4,042,238

$

2,442,664

$

2,442,664

Reconciliation:
Net income (loss) (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis)
Add: Capital outlay (expenditures)
Construction in progress
SIB Loan principal retirement
Less: SIB loan proceeds
Net change to net pension expense
Increase in Net Position (GAAP Basis)
Net Position - beginning of the year, as restated
Net Position - end of the year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

12,950,155
2,385,744
594,578
18,373,141
73,825,170
$ 92,198,311

1,085,311
1,857,061
(378)
2,941,994
$ 2,442,664

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
AND STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
Year ended September 30, 2020
Federal Agency/Pass Through
State Agency/Program Title

Grantor's
Contract
Number

CFDA#
CSFA #

Grant AIP/Financial
Project Number

FEDERAL AWARDS
U.S. Department of Transportation - Federal Aviation Administration
MAJOR (TYPE A) - FEDERAL AWARDS
Wetland Mitigation/ Rehab Runway 15/33
Runway 4-22 Rehabilitation
Construct New GA Aviation Apron
CARES Act Airport Grant

20.106
20.106
20.106
20.106

NON-MAJOR (TYPE B) - FEDERAL AWARDS
Passed through State of Florida Department of Transportation
SIB Loan
20.205
SIB Loan
20.205

AIP37 (GOZ65)
AIP 38
AIP 39 (GOZ64)
AIP40

DRAFT

NON-MAJOR (TYPE B) - FEDERAL AWARDS
U.S. Department of Homeland Security
LEO Award Program
TOTAL FEDERAL FINANCIAL AWARDS
STATE AWARDS
State of Florida Department of Transportation
MAJOR (TYPE A) - STATE AWARDS
Runway 15-33 Rehab & Extension
Punta Gorda Airport GA Terminal
Runway 4-22 RPZ Fencing
PGD Back-up Generator for Fuel Farm
NON-MAJOR (TYPE B) - STATE AWARDS
Punta Gorda Airport Taxiway E Ext & GA Ramp
TOTAL STATE FINANCIAL AWARDS

97.090

N/A

3-12-0067-037-2019
3-12-0067-038-2020
3-12-0067-039-2020
3-12-0067-040-2020

FM #431903-1
G1L26

HSTS0216HSLR766 P00005/P00006/P00007

55.004
55.004
55.004
55.004

GOZ 65
GOZ 64
G1H 56
G1I 14

441867-1-94-01
444091-1-94-01
446976-1-94-01
447004-1-94-01

55.039

G1P 20

447298-1-94-01

Note: See Note D for related receivables
(1) Outstanding SIB loan balance at 9/30/20 was $2,064,414. Principal was repaid in the amount of $594,578 during the year ended 9/30/20.
(2) SIB loan was approved on May 15, 2020. At fiscal year end 9/30/20 no amounts were drawn on the loan.
(C) Capital Grant (L) Loan Proceeds (O) Operating Grant
Note: The Authority records the Federal LEO grant revenue of $98,680 as airline operating revenue.
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Program/
Award
Amount

$

Receipts/
Revenue
Recognized

6,354,839
424,175
5,997,000
23,846,735

$

5,719,987
32,493
47,434
7,225,272

14,985,238

$

5,719,987
32,493
47,434
7,225,272

Pass Through to
Subrecipients

$

13,025,186

-

DRAFT

5,800,000
9,185,238

$

(C) $
(C)
(C)
(O)

13,025,186

36,622,749

$

Disbursements/
Expenditures

98,680
51,706,667

2,430,157
1,200,000
100,000
25,000
3,755,157
1,200,000
4,955,157

$

- (1) (L)
- (2) (L)

-

-

-

-

-

98,680
13,123,866

$

$

(O)

$

98,680
13,123,866

$

-

2,225,494
37,686
24,190
25,000
2,312,370

(C) $
(C)
(C)
(C)

2,225,494
37,686
24,190
25,000
2,312,370

-

6,731
2,319,101

(C)

6,731
2,319,101

-

$

Reconciliation to Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position:
Revenue
Federal Grants
LEO Award (Operating)
Federal - CARES Act
State Financial Assistance

$

13,123,866
(98,680)
(7,225,272)
2,319,101

Capital Grants and Contributions

$

8,119,015

$

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL
AWARDS AND STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
Year ended September 30, 2020
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NOTE A - BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and State Financial Assistance has
been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America and is in accordance
with the provisions of OMB Uniform Guidance , "Audits of States, Local
Governments and Non-Profit Organizations", the Florida Single Audit Act (FS
215.97) and the State of Florida, Rules of the Auditor General 10.550.
Expenditures reported on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and
State Financial Assistance include cash disbursements, whether capitalized or
expensed, during the fiscal year as well as grant related amounts recorded as
payable at year end. Revenues reported on the Schedule of Expenditures of
Federal Awards and State Financial Assistance include cash receipts, whether
recognized or deferred, as well as grant receivables recorded at year end.

DRAFT

NOTE B - INDIRECT COSTS

The Authority did not routinely allocate costs to Federal Awards and State Financial
Assistance programs. Costs charged to such programs were direct costs unless
specifically incurred for the program and allowed and indicated as such.
The Authority has elected not to use the 10% de minimus indirect cost rate allowed
under OMB Uniform Guidance.
NOTE C - MATCH/PARTICIPATION REQUIREMENTS
The Authority received financial assistance under several grants and contracts
requiring local match/participation in the form of cash. A maximum
match/participation amount is established at the time the financial assistance is
awarded. However, revenue is earned on the reimbursement basis and can only be
recognized to the extent of applicable, eligible, and allowable disbursement. The
match/participation requirement is therefore based on a contracted portion of
allowable disbursements.
For the year ended September 30, 2020, the Authority had met its
match/participation requirements.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF AUTHORITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET
PENSION LIABILITY - FLORIDA RETIREMENT SYSTEM (FRS) PENSION
PLAN (1)
2020
Authority's proportion of the net pension liability

2019

0.006113293%

2018

0.006469338%

2017

0.005815680%

0.005315291%

Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability

$

2,649,591

$

2,227,950

$

1,751,713

$

1,837,767

Authority's covered-employee payroll

$

3,313,848

$

3,224,665

$

2,980,168

$

2,665,302

Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability
as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll

79.96%

69.09%

58.78%

68.95%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability

78.85%

82.61%

84.26%

83.89%

Notes: (1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of September 30.

DRAFT

SCHEDULE OF AUTHORITY CONTRIBUTIONS FLORIDA RETIREMENT SYSTEM (FRS) PENSION PLAN (1)
2020

Contractually required contribution

$

Contributions in relation to the contractually
required contribution

2019

249,081

$

249,081

2018

228,069

$

228,069

2017

215,433

$

215,433

173,651
173,651

Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

Authority's covered-employee payroll

$

3,313,848

$

3,224,665

$

2,980,168

$

2,665,302

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee
payroll

7.52%

7.07%

7.23%

6.52%

Notes: (1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of September 30.
GASB 68 requires information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled,
governments should present information for only those years for which information is available.
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2016

2015

0.005782606%

2014

0.005315291%

0.004310256%

$

1,460,113

$

686,541

$

262,989

$

2,292,120

$

1,743,026

$

1,493,081

63.70%

39.39%

17.61%

84.88%

92.00%

96.09%

DRAFT
2015

2016
$

177,006

$

2014

128,840

$

128,840

177,006

120,539

120,539

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

2,292,170

$

1,743,069

$

1,493,081

7.72%

7.39%

8.07%

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF AUTHORITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET
PENSION LIABILITY - HEALTH INSURANCE SUBSIDY (HIS) PENSION
PLAN (1)
2020
Authority's proportion of the net pension liability

2019

0.008287846%

2018

0.008614980%

2017

0.007866159%

0.008010789%

Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability

$

1,011,933

$

963,930

$

832,563

$

856,551

Authority's covered-employee payroll

$

3,313,848

$

3,224,665

$

2,980,168

$

2,665,302

Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability
as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll

30.54%

29.89%

27.94%

32.14%

3.00%

2.63%

2.15%

1.64%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability

Notes: (1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of September 30.
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SCHEDULE OF AUTHORITY CONTRIBUTIONS HEALTH INSURANCE SUBSIDY (HIS) PENSION PLAN (1)
2020

Contractually required contribution

$

Contributions in relation to the contractually
required contribution

2019

51,017

$

51,017

2018

57,017

$

57,017

2017

53,858

$

46,161

53,858

46,161

Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

Authority's covered-employee payroll

$

3,313,848

$

3,224,665

$

2,980,168

$

2,655,302

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee
payroll

1.54%

1.77%

1.81%

1.73%

Notes: (1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of September 30.
GASB 68 requires information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled,
governments should present information for only those years for which information is available.
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2016

2015

0.006683273%

2014

0.005513890%

0.004675696%

$

778,908

$

562,330

$

437,189

$

2,292,170

$

1,743,069

$

1,493,081

33.98%

32.26%

29.28%

0.97%

0.50%

0.99%

$

DRAFT
2015

2016
50,129

$

2014

59,064

$

59,064

50,129

27,119

27,119

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

2,292,170

$

1,743,069

$

1,493,081

2.19%

3.39%

1.82%

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
September 30, 2020
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Changes of Assumptions
Actuarial assumptions for both cost-sharing defined benefit plans are reviewed
annually by the Florida Retirement System Actuarial Assumptions Conference. The
FRS Pension Plan has a valuation performed annually. The HIS Program has a
valuation performed biennially that is updated for GASB reporting in the year a
valuation is not performed. The most recent experience study for the FRS Pension
Plan was completed in 2019 for the period July 1, 2013, through June 30, 2018.
Because the HIS Program is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, no experience study
has been completed for that program. The actuarial assumptions that determined the
total pension liability for the HIS Program were based on certain results of the most
recent experience study for the FRS Pension Plan.
The total pension liability for each cost-sharing defined benefit plan was determined
using the individual entry age actuarial cost method. Inflation increases for both plans
is assumed at 2.4%. Payroll growth, including inflation, for both plans is assumed at
3.25%. Both the discount rate and the long-term expected rate of return used for
FRS Pension Plan investments was reduced from 6.90% to 6.80%. The Plan's
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future
benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the discount
rate for calculating the total pension liability is equal to the long-term expected rate of
return.
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Because the HIS Program uses a pay-as-you-go funding structure, a municipal bond
rate of 2.21% was used to determine the total pension liability for the program (Bond
Buyer General Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Bond Index). Mortality assumptions
for both plans were based on the Generational PUB-2010 with Projection Scale
MP-2018.
Florida Retirement System Pension Plan
There were changes in actuarial assumptions. As of June 30, 2020, the inflation rate
assumption remained at 2.4 percent, the real payroll growth assumption was
increassed to .85 percent, and the overall payroll growth rate assumption remained
at 3.25 percent. The long-term expected rate of return was reduced from 6.90
percent to 6.80 percent.
Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan
The municipal rate used to determine total pension liability decreased from 3.50
percent to 2.21 percent.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
September 30, 2020
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Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources
In accordance with GASB 68, paragraphs 54 and 71, changes in the net pension
liability are recognized in pension expense in the current measurement period, except
as indicated below. For each of the following, a portion is recognized in pension
expense in the current reporting period, and the balance is amortized as deferred
outflows or deferred inflows of resources using a systematic and rational method over
a closed period, as defined below:
• Differences between expected and actual experience with regard to economic
and demographic factors - amortized over the average expected remaining
service life of all employees that are provided with pensions through the
pension plan (active and inactive employees)
• Changes of assumptions or other inputs - amortized over the average
expected remaining service life of all employees that are provided with
pensions through the pension plan (active and inactive employees)

DRAFT

• Changes in proportion and differences between contributions and
proportionate share of contributions - amortized over the average expected
remaining service life of all employees that are provided with pensions through
the pension plan (active and inactive employees)
• Differences between expected and actual earnings on pension plan investments
- amortized over five years
Employer contributions to the pension plans from employers are not included in
collective pension expense. However, employee contributions are used to reduce
pension expense.
The average expected remaining service life of all employees provided with pensions
through the pension plans at June 30, 2020, was 5.9 years for FRS (6.4 years in FY
19) and 7.2 years (7.2 for FY 19) for HIS.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET OPEB LIABILITY AND
RELATED RATIOS GASB 75
September 30, 2020
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Changes in Employer's Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios as of September 30:
Net OPEB Liability
Service Cost
Interest Cost
Changes in Benefit Terms
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience
Changes in Assumptions
Benefit Payments
Net Change in total OPEB Liability
Net OPEB Liability - Beginning of Year
Net OPEB Liability - End of Year

$

$

2020
5,813 $
1,168
3,012
(224)
9,769
24,783
34,552 $

2019
5,265 $
1,398
(16,928)
3,847
(6,921)
(13,339)
38,122
24,783 $

2018
5,300
1,258
(879)
(5,651)
28
38,094
38,122

NOTE: Information for FY 2017 and earlier is not available.

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as of September 30:

DRAFT
2020

Contributions - Employer
Net Investment Income
Benefit Payments
Administrative Expense
Net Change in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning of Year
Fiduciary Net Position - End of Year

2019

$

-

$

$

$

2018
-

$

$

-

Net OPEB Liability
Fiduciary Net Position as a % of Total OPEB Liability

$

34,552 $
0.00%

24,783 $
0.00%

38,122
0.00%

Covered-Employee Payroll
Net OPEB Liability as a % of Payroll

$

1,864,910 $
1.85%

1,778,338 $
1.39%

1,634,957
2.33%

Expected Average Remaining Service Years of All Participants

10.6

NOTE: Information for FY 2017 and earlier is not available.

Notes to the Schedule:
Benefit Changes
Changes of Assumptions
9/30/17
9/30/18
9/30/19
9/30/20

None
The discount rate was changed as follows:
4.00%
3.50%
3.83%
2.74%

Population covered by Plan: 32 active 0 inactive
Plan has no specific trust established and no assets were assigned for OPEB by the Authority.
Decrease in interest cost from 3.83% to 2.74%.

9.7

9.5

ADDITIONAL REPORTS

DRAFT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND
OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF BASIC FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Board of Commissioners
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982

DRAFT

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America, the basic financial
statements of the business-type activities of Charlotte County Airport Authority (the "Authority")
which comprise the statement of net position as of September 30, 2020, and the related
statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position and cash flows for the year then
ended and the related notes to the financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated
January 11, 2021.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Charlotte County
Airport Authority's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on
the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
Charlotte County Airport Authority's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Charlotte County Airport Authority's internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent,
or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the basic financial statements will not be prevented or detected and
corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of
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deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough
to merit attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses, as
defined previously. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Charlotte County Airport Authority's
financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grants, noncompliance with which could have
a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However,
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and,
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no
noncompliance that is required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

DRAFT

Purpose of This Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Authority's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Authority's internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

TUSCAN & COMPANY, P.A.
Fort Myers, Florida
January 11, 2021
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Independent Auditor's Report on Compliance on Each Major
Federal Program and Each Major State Project and on
Internal Control Over Compliance in Accordance with the Uniform
Guidance and the Florida Single Audit Act (Florida Statute 215.97)
Board of Commissioners
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982
Report on Compliance For Each Major Federal Program and Each Major State Project
We have audited Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement and the Florida Department of
Financial Services "State Projects Compliance Supplement" that could have a direct and material
effect on each of Charlotte County Airport Authority's major federal programs and major state
projects for the year ended September 30, 2020. Charlotte County Airport Authority's major
federal programs and major state projects are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section
of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

DRAFT

Management’s Responsibility
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts,
and grants applicable to its major federal programs and its major state projects.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of Charlotte County Airport
Authority's major federal programs and its major state projects based on our audit of the types of
compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States of America; and audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code
of Federal Regulations Part 200, "Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards" ("Uniform Guidance") and the Florida Single Audit Act
(Florida Statute 215.97) and the Auditor General Rule 10.550. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the
types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on
a major federal program and/or major state project occurred. An audit includes examining, on a
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test basis, evidence about Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with those
requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each
major federal program and/or major state project occurred. However, our audit does not provide
a legal determination of Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with those requirements.
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program and Each Major State Project
In our opinion, Charlotte County Airport Authority complied, in all material respects, with the
types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on
each of its major federal programs and its major state projects for the year ended September 30,
2020.
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance
Management of Charlotte County Airport Authority is responsible for establishing and maintaining
effective internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to
above. In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered Charlotte County
Airport Authority's internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have
a direct and material effect on each major federal program and each major state project to
determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and each major state project
and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform
Guidance and the Florida Single Audit Act, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion
on the effectiveness of Charlotte County Airport Authority's internal control over compliance.
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A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct noncompliance with a type of
compliance requirement of a federal program and/or state project on a timely basis. A material
weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program and/or state project
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program and/or state project
that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.
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Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the
first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
over compliance that might be deficiencies, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did
not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material
weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
Purpose of the Report
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the
requirements of OMB Uniform Guidance the Florida Single Audit Act (Florida Statute 215.97)
and the State of Florida, Rules of the Auditor General 10.550. Accordingly, this report is not
suitable for any other purpose.
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TUSCAN & COMPANY, P.A.
Fort Myers, Florida
January 11, 2021

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - FEDERAL
AWARDS AND STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
Year ended September 30, 2020
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Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results
Financial Statements
Type of auditor's report issued
Internal control over financial reporting:
Control deficiency(ies) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?
Material weakness(es) identified?
Noncompliance material to financial statements
noted?

Unmodified
Yes
Yes
Yes

X
X
X

No
No
None reported

Yes

X

No

Yes
Yes
Yes

X
X
X

No
No
None reported

Yes

X

No

Federal Awards
Internal control over major programs:
Control deficiency(ies) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?
Material weakness(es) identified?
Type of auditors report issued on compliance for
major programs
Unmodified
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with 2 CFR,
Section 200.516(a)?
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Identification of major federal programs (Type A):
CFDA
Number(s)
20.106
20.106
20.106
20.106

Name of Federal Program or Cluster
U.S. Department of Transportation
Federal Aviation Administration - AIP 40
Federal Aviation Administration - AIP 39
Federal Aviation Administration - AIP 38
Federal Aviation Administration - AIP 37

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A and Type B programs
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

Threshold used was $750,000.
X

Yes

No

Listing of Subrecipients and matching amounts passed-through:
None - not applicable
Section II- Financial Statement Findings
There were no deficiencies, material weaknesses, or instances of noncompliance related to
the financial statements.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - FEDERAL
AWARDS AND STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE, CONTINUED
Year ended September 30, 2020
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Section III- Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs
There were no audit findings related to Federal Awards required to be reported by 2 CFR,
Section 200.516(a).
Section IV- Status of Federal Prior Year Findings
There were no prior year findings.
State Financial Assistance
Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results
Internal control over major projects:
Control deficiency(ies) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?
Material weakness(es) identified?
Type of auditors report issued on compliance for
major projects
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with Rules of the Auditor
General 10.557

Yes
Yes
Yes

X
X
X

No
No
None Reported
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Unmodified

Yes

X

No

Identification of major state projects:
CSFA
Number(s)
55.004
55.004
55.004
55.004

Name of State Project
Runway 15-33 Rehab & Extension
Punta Gorda Airport GA Terminal
Runway 4-22 RPZ Fencing
PGD Back-up Generator for Fuel Farm

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A and Type B projects:

Threshold used was $695,730

Listing of Subrecipients and matching amounts passed-through:
None - not applicable
Section II- Financial Statement Findings
There were no deficiencies, material weaknesses, or instances of noncompliance related to
the financial statements.
Section III- State Financial Assistance Findings and Questioned Costs - Rule 10.554(1)(i)4
There were no current year findings related to State Financial Assistance noted.
Section IV - Status of State Financial Assistance Prior Year Findings
There were no prior year findings.
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE
WITH SECTION 218.415, FLORIDA STATUTES
Board of Commissioners
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982
We have examined Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with Section 218.415,
Florida Statutes, regarding the investment of public funds during the year ended September 30,
2020. Management is responsible for Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with those
requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on Charlotte County Airport Authority's
compliance based on our examination.

DRAFT

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and, accordingly, included examining, on a test
basis, evidence about Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with those requirements
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our examination does
not provide a legal determination on Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with
specified requirements.
In our opinion, Charlotte County Airport Authority complied, in all material respects, with the
aforementioned requirements for the year ended September 30, 2020.
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Charlotte County Airport Authority
and the Auditor General, State of Florida, and is not intended to be and should not be used by
anyone other than these specified parties.

TUSCAN & COMPANY, P.A.
Fort Myers, Florida
January 11, 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO MANAGEMENT
Board of Commissioners
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982
We have audited the accompanying basic financial statements of Charlotte County Airport
Authority (the "Authority") as of and for the year ended September 30, 2020 and have issued our
report thereon dated January 11, 2021.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America and Chapter
10.550, Rules of the Florida Auditor General. We have issued our Independent Auditor's Report
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and Compliance and Other Matters based on an
Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards.
Disclosures in that report, which is dated January 11, 2021, should be considered in conjunction
with this report to management.
Additionally, our audit was conducted in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor
General, which governs the conduct of local governmental entity audits performed in the State of
Florida. This letter included the following information, which is not included in the aforementioned
auditor's report:
∙ Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether
or not corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations
made in the preceding annual financial audit report. The prior year comment appears to
have been resolved.
∙ Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address in the
management letter any recommendations to improve financial management. No such
recommendations were noted to improve financial management.
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∙ Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address
noncompliance with provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have an
effect on the financial statements that is less than material but more than inconsequential.
In connection with our audit, we did not have any such findings.
∙ Section 10.554(1)(i)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official
title and legal authority for the primary government and each component unit of the
reporting entity be disclosed in the management letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements. The Authority discloses this information in the notes to the financial
statements.
∙ Section 10.554(1)(i)5.a., Rules of the Auditor General, requires a statement be included
as to whether or not the local government entity has met one or more of the conditions
described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and identification of the specific
condition(s) met. In connection with our audit, we determined that the Authority did not
meet any of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes.
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∙ Pursuant to Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.b. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, we
have applied financial condition assessment procedures pursuant to Rule 10.556(8). It is
management's responsibility to monitor the Authority's financial condition, and our
financial condition assessment was based in part on representations made by
management and the review of financial information provided by same. In connection
with our audit, we determined that the Authority did not meet any of the criteria of a
deteriorating financial condition described in Auditor General Rule Section
10.554(1)(i)(6).c.
∙ Pursuant to Section 10.554(1)(i)5.b.2, Rules of the Auditor General, if a deteriorating
financial condition(s) is noted then a statement is so required along with the conditions
causing the auditor to make such a conclusion. No such conditions were noted.
∙ Pursuant to Section 10.554(1)(i)5.c., Rules of the Auditor General, requires a statement
indicating a failure, if any, of a component unit special district to provide financial
information necessary to a proper reporting of the component unit within the audited
financial statements of this entity (F.S. Section 218.39(3)(b)). There are no known
component special districts required to report within these financial statements.
∙ Section 10.556(10)(a), Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the scope of our audit
to determine the entity's compliance with the provisions of Section 218.415, Florida
Statutes, regarding the investment of public funds. In connection with our audit, we
determined that the Authority complied with Section 218.415, Florida Statutes as
reported in our Independent Accountant's Report on Compliance with Section 218.415,
Florida Statutes dated January 11, 2021, included herein.
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PRIOR YEAR COMMENT:
The prior year comment appears to have been properly resolved.
CURRENT YEAR COMMENTS:
There are no current year financially significant comments.
Pursuant to Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, this management letter is a public record and its
distribution is not limited. Auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
require us to indicate that this letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of
Commissioners, management, the Auditor General of the State of Florida and other Federal and
State agencies. This report is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than
these specified parties.
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TUSCAN & COMPANY, P.A.
Fort Myers, Florida
January 11, 2021

EXHIBIT
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF PASSENGER FACILITY
CHARGES COLLECTED AND EXPENDED
TOGETHER WITH ADDITIONAL REPORTS
YEAR ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30, 2020
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Board of Commissioners
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982
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Report on Compliance for the Passenger Facility Charge Program
We have audited Charlotte County Airport Authority's (the "Authority") compliance with
the types of compliance requirements described in the Passenger Facility Charge Audit
Guide for Public Agencies (the "Guide"), issued by the Federal Aviation Administration
that could have a direct and material effect on the Authority's passenger facility charge
program for the year ended September 30, 2020.
Management's Responsibility
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grants applicable to the passenger facility charge program.
Auditors' Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Authority's compliance based on our
audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our
audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States;
and the Guide. Those standards and the Guide require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on
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the passenger facility charge program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence about the Authority's compliance with those requirements and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance with
the passenger facility charge program. However, our audit does not provide a legal
determination of the Authority's compliance.
Opinion on Passenger Facility Charge Program
In our opinion, the Authority complied, in all material respects, with the compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on its
passenger facility charge program for the year ended September 30, 2020.

DRAFT

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance
Management of the Authority is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective
internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to
above. In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered the
Authority's internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could
have a direct and material effect on the passenger facility charge program to determine
the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on compliance for the passenger facility charge program and to test
and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Guide, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Authority's internal control over compliance.
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a
control over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course
of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance
with a type of compliance requirement of the passenger facility charge program on a
timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement
of the passenger facility charge program will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance
is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a
type of compliance requirement of the passenger facility charge program that is less
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severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose
described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses
may exist that have not been identified.
Report on Schedule of Passenger Facility Charges Collected and Expended
We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities of the Charlotte
County Airport Authority as of and for the year ended September 30, 2020, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Charlotte County
Airport Authority's basic financial statements. We issued our report thereon dated
January 11, 2021, which contained an unmodified opinion on those financial statements.
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial
statements that collectively comprise the basic financial statements. The accompanying
schedule of passenger facility charges collected and expended for the year ended
September 30, 2020 (cash basis) is presented for purposes of additional analysis as
required by the Federal Aviation Administration, and is not a required part of the basic
financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or
to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
In our opinion, the schedule of passenger facility charges collected and expended (cash
basis) reported is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial
statements as a whole.

DRAFT
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Matter of Emphasis
The accompanying schedule of passenger facility charges collected and expended is
presented using the cash basis of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the
scope of our testing of internal control over compliance and the result of that testing
based on the requirements of the Guide. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any
other purpose.

DRAFT

TUSCAN & COMPANY, P.A.
Fort Myers, Florida
January 11, 2021

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGES (PFC) COLLECTED
AND EXPENDED (AS REPORTED TO FAA) - CASH BASIS
Year ended September 30, 2020

Collections
PFCs Collected
Interest Earned

Quarter
Ended
December 31,
2019
$
616,417
5,674

Quarter
Ended
March 31,
2020
$
1,619,819
3,220

Total Collection

$

622,091

$

1,623,039

$

32,150

$

320,120

Expenditures on
Approved PFC Projects
Included in
Application No. 1
17-01-C-00-PGD

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

Quarter
Ended
June 30,
2020
31,224
926

Quarter
Ended
September 30,
2020
$
319,642
478

17-01-C-01-PGD

-

-

-

-

Application No. 2
19-02-C-00-PGD

862,236

1,853,556

215,788

425,031

DRAFT
$

862,236

$

1,853,556

$

215,788

$

425,031

Notes to the Schedule of Passengers Facility Charges Collected and Expended are an integral part of this schedule.
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Totals for
the Year Ended
September 30,
2020
$
2,587,102
10,298

Cumulative Totals
for the Year Ended
September 30,
2019
$
4,675,064
9,509

$

2,597,400

$

4,684,573

$

-

$

2,475,793

$

Cumulative Totals
for the Year Ended
September 30,
2020
$
7,262,166
19,807
0
$
7,281,973

$

2,475,793

-

73,024

73,024

3,356,611

783,076

4,139,687

DRAFT

3,356,611

$

3,331,893

$

6,688,504

Notes to the Schedule of Passengers Facility Charges Collected and Expended are an integral part of this schedule.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF PASSENGER FACILITY
CHARGES (PFC) COLLECTED AND EXPENDED - CASH BASIS
Year ended September 30, 2020
General
The accompanying schedule of passenger facility charges (PFC) collected and
expended presents the activity of all passenger facility charges of Charlotte
County Airport Authority pursuant to application 17-01-C-00-PGD. The
Charlotte County Airport Authority is approved for a level of PFC of $2.00
per passenger to a total revenue of $5,225,793 beginning August 1, 2017, and
approved for use of $2,475,793. On November 1, 2018 the FAA approved
Amendment No. 17-01-C-01-PGD to increase the collection level from $2.00
to $4.50 per passenger, with an overall increase in collections and use of
$73,024 with total approved collection increasing to $5,298,817 effective
January 1, 2019. Expiration date of this amendment is August 1, 2020.
Collections prior to January 1, 2019 continued at the previously approved level
of $2.00 per passenger.

DRAFT

The Authority was approved for Application 19-02-C-00-PGD for a level of
PFC of $4.50 per passenger effective August 1, 2020 based upon the
estimated charge expiration date for the previously collections in application
17-01-C-00-PGD, as amended. The total approved revenue to be collected
for this application is $6,804,381 and the total amount approved for use of
PFC revenue in this application is $9,554,381. The approval of this application
brings the total approved PFC collection and use amount to $12,103,198.
This application is anticipated to expire on June 1, 2023.
Basis of Accounting
The accompanying schedule of passenger facility charges collected and
expended is presented using the cash basis of accounting, which is a basis of
accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGE PROGRAM
Year ended September 30, 2020
Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results
Financial Statements
Type of auditor's report issued
Internal control over financial reporting:
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?
Material weakness(es) identified?
Noncompliance material to financial statements
noted?

Passenger Facility Charge Program Section
Internal control over program:
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?
Material weakness(es) identified?
Type of auditors report issued on compliance for
the passenger facility charge program?
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with the Passenger Facility
Charge Audit Guide for Public Agencies?

Unmodified
Yes
Yes

X
X

Yes

X

DRAFT
Yes
Yes

X
X

No

No
None reported

Unmodified

Yes

X

This Schedule encompasses the Charlotte County Airport Authority only, and
is provided as required by the Passenger Facility Charge Program

Section II- Financial Statement Findings
There were no deficiencies, material weaknesses, or instances of
noncompliance related to the financial statements.
Section III- Findings and Questioned Costs - Passenger Facility Charge Program
There were no such findings required to be reported related to the audit of the
Passenger Facility Charge Program.
Section IV- Status of Prior Year Findings
There were no prior year findings.

No
None reported

No

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
LICENSE AGREEMENT
FOR USE OF AIRPORT AUTHORITY REAL PROPERTY
AIRSHOW 2021, 2022 and 2023
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––
PUNTA GORDA AIRPORT (PGD)
THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT (hereinafter “License”) is made and entered into as of the date last written
below (hereinafter “Effective Date”) by and between the CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY,
a Florida political subdivision, whose mailing address is 28000 A-1 Airport Road, Punta Gorda, Florida 33982
(hereinafter “Authority”), and FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL AIRSHOW INC., whose mailing address is P.O.
Box 512366 Punta Gorda, Florida 33951 (hereinafter collectively "Licensee"). Authority and Licensee may also
be referred to herein individually as a “party” or collectively as the “parties.”
WITNESSETH: That for and in consideration of the full, faithful, and timely performance of and compliance
with all terms and conditions stated herein, the Authority does hereby license to Licensee temporary use of the
Authority real property described as follows:
Punta Gorda Airport (“Airport”) real property, not leased to others, as more fully
designated and depicted on the map attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and
incorporated herein (hereinafter “Premises”).
TO HAVE THE USE OF Premises during the Term as described below unless terminated earlier pursuant to
the provisions of this License. The terms and conditions on and for which this License is granted are as follows:
1. USE OF PREMISES: Licensee is hereby authorized to occupy, utilize, and maintain the Premises for the
express limited purpose of producing and conducting an air shows scheduled for the Fall of 2021, 2022 and 2023
including all phases provided for herein, so long as such occupation and use of the Premises meets the conditions
of this License and all regulatory requirements of Charlotte County, and the State of Florida and the United States
government and their agencies having jurisdiction. All the foregoing shall be subject to all terms and conditions
of this License. The Authority retains the sole and absolute right to determine whether any proposed or actual use
of the Premises is within the permission granted and the uses contemplated and allowed under this License.
2. TERM: The parties recognize the projected dates are to be in the Fall of 2021, 2022 and 2023 subject to
performers availability. The actual dates of each Airshow shall be agreed to by the FIAS and CCAA CEO based
upon reasonable scheduling to accommodate high performance teams or military jet team(s). ALL dates are strictly
contingent on construction activities at PGD. Parties project the term of License shall commence at 7:00 A.M. on
Saturday, 2021, 2022 and 2023 of projected date, and continue until 5:00 P.M. on Tuesday, 2021, 2022 and 2023
of projected date, (hereinafter the “Term”). The parties agree to the following projected schedule, subject to
modification and approval of the parties documented in writing:
(a) Layout Phase

Saturday through Tuesday (prior to Airshow weekend)

(b) Set-Up Phase

Tuesday through Friday (prior to Airshow weekend)

(c) Practice Phase

Thursday and Friday

(d) Event Phase

Friday, Saturday and Sunday

(e) Clean-up Phase
Show”)

Monday through Tuesday (Collectively phases (a) through (e) “Air
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(f) The allowable hours for each phase shall be coordinated with and be approved by the
Authority’s Chief Executive Officer (hereinafter “CEO”). The Term may be extended with
written approval of the CEO for the clean-up phase if needed, provided Licensee is progressing
in good faith to remove all Air Show aircraft, vehicles, equipment, and materials from the
Premises and any other areas of the Airport and such aircraft, vehicles, equipment, or materials
are not interfering with Airport operations.
(g) Additional dates and hours may be granted with prior written approval of the Authority’s CEO
for Air Show performers that may request practice time in addition to the time provided prior
to the Event dependent upon Federal Aviation Administration (hereinafter “FAA”) and other
governmental approvals and insurance coverage being provided and in force.
(h) This agreement may be renewed for succeeding years at the mutual agreement of the parties
under terms and conditions set forth herein provided neither party is in substantial breach of
the terms and conditions from the preceding year.
3. LICENSE AND USE FEES: Authority fees for granting of this License and occupation and use of the
Premises are waived by the Authority subject to Licensee’s compliance with all terms and conditions of this
License. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Licensee shall be solely responsible for any and all expenses associated
with or arising from Licensee’s compliance with this License and preparation, use, and restoration of the Premises.
If Licensee fails to comply with restoration of the premises after 3 days written notice by the Authority, the
Authority may proceed to complete the restoration and Licensee shall promptly reimburse Authority for any such
expense incurred by the Authority.
4. EXTENT OF USE: The License is granted to Licensee to occupy and use the Premises only for those
activities specified herein and as conditioned by all regulatory entities and agencies, permits, and land use
approvals. The Licensee shall not: (i) change or add to the approved use of the Premises as defined herein or; (ii)
change activities in any manner that may have a land use or an environmental impact that was not considered in
the original authorization or regulatory permits and approvals.
5. SPECIAL LICENSE CONDITIONS: In addition to all other terms and conditions herein, this License
and Licensee’s occupation and use of the Premises are further conditioned as follows:
(a) AIR SHOW ACTIVITIES. The Air Show will be known and generally described and promoted as
the “Florida International Air Show” and may include the following activities:
(1) Display and/or operation of vintage and current military, commercial, and private aircraft,
ground vehicles, and equipment.
(2) Aerial and ground re-enactments of various historical military events with associated
pyrotechnic and sound devices.
(3) Flight exhibitions, including parachute demonstrations, by professional Performers or active
United States armed services aircraft, pilots, and/or teams.
(4) Flight exhibitions by civilian aerobatic and other aircraft, pilots, and/or teams.
(5) Aircraft rides by experienced professional pilots.
(6) Ground demonstrations (e.g., jet truck), including associated pyrotechnics and sound devices.
(7) Concessions and vendors for sale of food, beverages, and memorabilia.
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(8) Carnival or fair-style rides and entertainment that meet FAA height limitations.
(9) Sponsor exhibits and equipment displays
(10) Other special activities as submitted to the Authority and approved by the CEO.
(b) LICENSEE RESPONSIBILITIES.
(1) No later than ninety (90) days prior to the Air Show Term LICENSEE shall submit, in the
form of an electronic file with appropriately-labeled sections and graphics, the following items
to the CEO, for review and approval:
(A) Safety Plan outlining in writing and graphics all arrangements for LICENSEE to provide
adequate command and control, public protection and crowd control, safety of airport
operations, operational and communication procedures, law enforcement, fire, hazardous
materials response, emergency medical services, and aircraft incident response, including
a mass casualty incident response plan.
(i)

The Safety Plan and Traffic and Parking Plan (Section 5(b)(1)(D) below) shall
require final approval by the CEO in accordance with all recommendations of the
Charlotte County Sheriff and other governmental agencies.

(ii) The Safety Plan shall include an organizational chart and communication flow chart
with emergency radio and cell phone contact information for LICENSEE and other
officials responsible for the Air Show.
(B) Site Layout Plan identifying the location of all Air Show amenities, facilities, and
services, including but not limited to, static aircraft and vehicle displays, aircraft rides,
other aircraft and vehicle parking, vendors, concessions, participant and guest vehicle
parking, equipment, tents, exhibits, cranes, and signs.
(C) Improvements and Installations are not permitted except as provided in this Agreement.
No permanent improvements, installations, or equipment of any kind or nature, shall be
constructed or installed on or in the Premises by or for LICENSEE without prior written
approval and appropriate engineering and permitting. Any temporary improvements,
structures, installations, and equipment shall be promptly removed prior to termination
of this License as provided herein at LICENSEE’s sole cost and expense.
(D) Traffic and Parking Plan specifying all arrangements for vehicular traffic control and
parking, including signage, roped-off areas, VIP areas, volunteer areas, and safety of
airport operations.
(E) Request for FAA Certificate of Waiver, to be reviewed by the CEO, signed by the
appropriate Air Show representative, and forwarded to the FAA for approval.
(2) No later than thirty (30) days prior to the Air Show Term, LICENSEE shall submit, in the
same format outlined in Section 5(b)(1) for inclusion in the 3-ring binder or electronic file the
following items:
•

Approved items from Section 5(b)(1)(A-E) above if changed from original
submission, including the approved FAA Certificate of Waiver, if issued.
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•
•
•
•
•

•
•

Alcohol Permit (see Section 5(b)(9)).
Pyrotechnics Permits if any as required.
Insurance Endorsement and Certificates (see Section 19).
Tenant Agreements (see Sections 5(b)(18) and (19)).
Latest Performer Participant List including a proposed schedule and description of all
Air Show aircraft, vehicles, and equipment that are proposed to use Airport pavement,
runways, taxiways, or aprons, whether for operation, display, reenactments, parking,
or any other purpose.
Sequence of Events
All other permits and licenses required to conduct the Air Show.

(3) LICENSEE shall ensure that all Air Show operations and activities are conducted in a safe
and professional manner, in accordance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and
Airport rules and regulations, including but not limited to applicable Airport security
procedures, safety procedures, airport engineer’s approvals, and environmental protection
procedures.
(4) LICENSEE shall provide sufficient information to the CEO such that proper and timely
Notices to Airmen (NOTAMs) may be issued for the Air Show in accordance with FAA
requirements.
(5) LICENSEE shall cooperate with the CEO to coordinate appropriate procedures to be provided
to and followed by Airport tenants and other users regarding safe and proper operations during
all phases of the Air Show.
(6) LICENSEE shall provide the CEO with Air Show schedule changes affecting any time period
during which the Airport is closed to regular aircraft traffic. Coordinate with the CEO the
report of approved schedule revisions to the FAA Air Traffic Control Tower Manager or
his/her representative.
(7) LICENSEE shall provide, at its own expense, sufficient qualified security officers, approved
by the CEO in advance, to provide security for all personal property associated with the Air
Show, including but not limited to aircraft, vehicles, equipment, concessions, and materials,
left or stored on Airport property overnight during phase C of the Air Show and any pre-Air
Show activities that the public is allowed on the premises.
(8) LICENSEE shall provide crowd control and security during all phases of the air show, and
shall be responsible for ensuring that no unauthorized personnel, vehicles, or overnight
campers remain on Airport property after the event. LICENSEE shall be responsible for and
comply with all safety and security provisions or requirements that the Charlotte County
Sheriff deems appropriate for protecting the public health, safety or welfare.
(9) LICENSEE shall be responsible for ensuring that no alcoholic beverages are sold, served,
possessed, or consumed on Airport property except in those areas and at those times
specifically permitted as provided for herein. Special permission is granted to LICENSEE for
the sale, serving, possession and consumption of alcoholic beverages during the Air Show
phase hours. In addition, LICENSEE is granted permission for such activities for an Air Show
performer reception. LICENSEE shall be responsible for insuring compliance with all
applicable County, State, and Federal laws and regulations and to strictly limit the sale,
serving, possession, or consumption of alcoholic beverages to the hours of the Event phase as
approved pursuant to Section 1(c) above and the hours of the Air Show performer reception,
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and to limit such activities to only those areas of the Airport property specifically approved
for such activities on the Authority Approved Site Layout Plan.
(10) LICENSEE shall provide all necessary qualified, bonded, and insured personnel to install,
repair, alter, and remove all equipment, facilities, utilities, and materials used to conduct or
support the Air Show. On request of LICENSEE, the Authority may, in the CEO’s discretion,
make available Authority personnel for certain of the services. Requests for use Authority
personnel shall be submitted to the CEO for consideration and approval with cost estimates to
be provided and approved by LICENSEE before the service is performed. Reimbursement
for provision of Authority personnel shall be made promptly by LICENSEE upon rendering
of an invoice for the services.
(11) LICENSEE shall ensure that no military tanks or other tracked or armored vehicles or other
vehicles or equipment of any kind not having rubber treads or tires are operated or parked on
any asphalt or concrete pavement, runway, taxiway, or apron at any time before, during, or
after any phase of the Air Show.
(12) LICENSEE shall ensure that any use, storage, or disposal of industrial, hazardous, or solid
wastes is strictly in accordance with all applicable federal, state and local laws, rules and
regulations and that there is no improper, illegal, or prohibited discharge of any such materials
or waste on Airport property or any other Authority or public property whatsoever.
(13) LICENSEE shall acquire all other required agreements, permits, licenses, and approvals
necessary to conduct the Air Show and provide copies of each to the CEO. Failure to timely
obtain and provide all such agreements, permits, licenses, and approvals in a timely manner
may be grounds for stopping the Airshow activities.
(14) LICENSEE shall promptly notify the CEO of any damage to Airport property, facilities,
improvements, or equipment resulting directly or indirectly from any Air Show activities or
activities associated with any Air Show phase, and whether occurring before, during, or after
the Air Show, and reimburse the Authority for any such damage promptly after submission of
an invoice for repairs or replacement.
(15) LICENSEE shall be responsible for all Air Show concessions and vendors. Coordinate with
the CEO the location of concessions and vendors as part of the Site Layout Plan.
(16) LICENSEE shall provide an adequate number of portable restrooms and trash receptacles for
the Event, all of which shall be timely removed from the Premises subsequent to the Air Show
during the Clean-Up Phase. LICENSEE shall also provide for maintenance and cleaning of
such restrooms and receptacles as needed before, during, and after the Air Show.
(17) LICENSEE shall provide additional locations on or near the Airport as necessary to minimize
the impacts of the Air Show on normal Airport operations and to avoid closure of the primary
runway except during aerobatic and other Air Show performances. Such requirement may
include, but is not limited to, negotiations for use of ramps owned by tenants at the Airport for
displays, exhibitions, parking, or other Air Show activities.
(18) LICENSEE shall obtain written agreements from all affected Airport tenants to incorporate
portions of their leasehold premises into Air Show exhibition, concession, vender, or parking
areas, and to make accommodation for aviation traffic to and from tenants.
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(19) LICENSEE shall acknowledge that any scheduled commercial airline flights and associated
activities scheduled during the Air Show dates and times take priority over Air Show activities
with the exception of military performers and jet teams.
(20) LICENSEE shall coordinate periodic meetings with the CEO (or his designees) during regular
Airport office hours to review plans for the Air Show.
(21) LICENSEE shall submit to the CEO a certified engineer’s written review and approval for any
request to use the Airport by any aircraft that may exceed the published runway design
standards (shown in Table V-1) or may conceivably damage the airport pavement in any way.
While the CEO will determine whether, in his opinion, these aircraft can be safely
accommodated without damage to the runways, taxiways, or aprons intended to be utilized by
such aircraft, LICENSEE assumes all responsibility for any such damage. Further, LICENSEE
assumes full responsibility for ensuring any required mitigation is in place prior to the aircraft
landing and assumes all responsibility for all costs associated with any repairs to the Airport
caused by use of the Airport by such aircraft.
Table V-1
Runway Design Capacity Standards
Runway Designation

9 - 27

15 - 33

4 – 22

Airplane Design Group

Restricted

A320

A320

Single Gear

6,000#

45,000#

45,000#

Dual Gear

N/A

80,000#

150,000#

Dual tandem Gear

N/A

140,000#

420,000#

(22) LICENSEE shall provide two (2) operable hand-held transceivers (“walkie-talkies”) to be
used by the CEO and/or his designee to aid in communications with LICENSEE personnel.
LICENSEE shall maintain contact with the CEO or his designee during all phases of the Air
Show.
(23) LICENSEE shall provide to the CEO, no later than ninety (90) days after the Air Show, a
financial report that demonstrates sound financial status to complete any further requested
airshows.
(24) LICENSEE shall comply with all laws, rules, ordinances, and regulations of the County, State
and Federal Governments, and agencies thereof. Termination of this Agreement will not occur
if LICENSEE corrects or causes correction of such correctable violation in a prompt and
timely manner to the satisfaction of the CEO.
(c) AUTHORITY RESPONSIBILITIES.
(1) Authority will review, approve, and file with appropriate agencies as necessary as sponsor of
the Airport, all appropriate Air Show documentation and other required submittals prepared
by LICENSEE.
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(2) The CEO, or his designee, will advise LICENSEE whether, in his opinion, the aircraft planned
for the Air Show can be safely accommodated with or without mitigation or whether proposed
participants will be refused access to Airport facilities due to operational requirements.
(3) The CEO, or his designee, will prepare and submit all required NOTAMS to appropriate
agencies with review and input from LICENSEE and provide copies of all submitted
NOTAMS to LICENSEE.
(4) The CEO will review and approve all LICENSEE submittals with written recommendations
of the Charlotte County Sheriff’s Office and Charlotte County authorities as necessary.
(5) The CEO will allow the use of existing and readily accessible Airport electric and water
utilities to the extent such utilities are available.
(6) Authority Staff will work with LICENSEE to make a photo inventory prior to and after each
show.
(7) Airport Security staff will coordinate with FIAS, CCSO, and TSA and will draft and submit the
“Change of Condition Letter” for approval by the TSA.
(8) Airport Operations Staff will review and comment on a Ground Operations Plan submitted to
the Authority no later than 120 days prior to the show and will submit the FAA Ground Operations
plan to the Orlando FAA office for approval.
(9) CEO will sign form DD2535 to request military assets for display or exhibit at the air show
including jet team participation, upon review of completed form submitted to the Authority no later
than 30 days prior to required submission date.
(10) Authority will make a good faith effort to provide required mowing of all spectator and parking
areas as required for show implementation. FIAS shall submit a diagram of areas to be mowed 120
days prior to the show. Airfield mowing areas will be mowed in accordance with the Authority’s
FAA Wildlife Management Plan.
(11) Authority will provide temporary “Airport Access” badges to FIAS personnel, performers,
and vendors deemed to be essential by the Board of Directors of the FIAS and approved by the
Authority.
(12) Authority will allow the use of available Authority facilities by the FIAS as the official pilot
check-in location for the show.
(13) Authority will allow the use of the airport authority commission meeting room for select air
show meetings as well as the pilot briefings for the “event phase” of the event upon Authority
approval.
(14) Authority will allow the use of the existing two end hangars in the 200 series hangar group to
store air show equipment.
(15) Authority will allow the FIAS to store equipment, stanchions and air show tower in the CCAA
maintenance facility as well as allow access to the area during normal business hours. Stored items
shall be palletized and may be moved by the Authority at any time.
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(16) Authority will make a good faith effort to sweep runways as required by any military
performers of jet teams official support manuals.
(17) Authority will provide access to any non-automated gates for any required operation for the
implementation of the FIAS once approved by the TSA change of condition letter. Gates will be
manned by Authority approved FIAS personnel, and in accordance with the Authority’s ASP.
(18) Authority may assign a liaison that will attend the FIAS meetings and act as an “Ex Officio”
member of the FIAS board.
(20) Authority will permit the use of CCAA WIFI network where available for FIAS official use.
6. SUPERVISION OF PREMISES: Licensee shall be responsible for the supervision, operation,
management, and maintenance of Licensee’s operations in use of the Premises pursuant to the terms and
conditions of this License. Licensee shall instruct, monitor, supervise, and manage all Licensee officers,
employees, contractors, subcontractors, agents, guests, and other invitees in the use of the Premises consistent
with the terms and conditions of this License and all limitations, restrictions, laws, and regulations. Licensee shall
have the right and duty to control access to the Premises by such persons during Licensee’s use of the Premises.
7. NUISANCES OR ILLEGAL OPERATIONS: Licensee shall not permit the Premises or any part thereof
to be occupied, used, or maintained for any purpose or business other than herein specified unless such proposed
use and occupancy are consented to by the Authority and this License is modified accordingly, nor shall Licensee
knowingly permit or suffer any nuisances or illegal operations of any kind on or from the Premises.
8. NON-DISCRIMINATION: Licensee expressly agrees that no person, on the grounds of race, color,
religion, national origin, age, marital status, gender identity, sexual orientation, disability, or any other
characteristic protected by Federal or Florida law, will be excluded from participation in, denied benefits of,
denied access to, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination with respect to any activity occurring within the
Premises or upon lands adjacent to and used as an adjunct of the Premises; and that in the furnishing of services
on the Premises, no person, on any of the foregoing grounds, shall be excluded from participation therein, denied
the benefits thereof, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination.
9. APPROVAL OF IMPROVEMENTS AND INSTALLATIONS: No permanent or temporary
improvements, installations, or equipment of any kind or nature, shall be constructed or installed on or in the
Premises without prior review and written approval by the Authority, as well as compliance with all other reviews,
permits, and approvals required by applicable code, ordinance, law, rule, or regulation. Licensee shall be limited
to those improvements, installations, and equipment specifically approved by the Authority in writing. Upon
written notice from the Authority, Licensee shall, at its own cost and expense, immediately remove any permanent
or temporary improvement, installation, or equipment made or installed without first obtaining all required
approvals and permits and repair, clean, and restore the Premises to a reasonably good condition acceptable to the
Authority.
10. PERMITS AND LICENSES: Licensee shall be responsible for obtaining all required governmental,
regulatory, and other approvals, permits, and licenses necessary for Licensee’s occupation, use, and operation of
the Premises and access thereto.
11. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS: On or in conjunction with the use of the Premises, Licensee shall at all
times comply with all Federal and Florida Statutes and all administrative rules promulgated thereunder, as well as
all applicable local laws and regulations.
12. MAINTENANCE; RIGHT TO INSPECT: Licensee shall be solely responsible, at its own expense, for
inspecting the Premises and all permanent and temporary improvements and installations before and during use
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and maintaining the Premises in a safe and presentable condition during Licensee’s occupation and use. The
Authority shall have the right, but not the obligation, to inspect the Premises at any time and otherwise enter the
Premises through its employees and agents in the performance of their duties.
13. UTILITIES AND OTHER SERVICES: Licensee shall be responsible for establishing and maintaining
all utilities and other services needed to serve Licensee’s use of the Premises and for Licensee’s operations and
activities. Licensee shall promptly pay on or before the due date all charges for such utilities and other services,
including but not limited to electric, water, sewer, communications, security, traffic control, sanitation, and solid
waste removal. Licensee shall hold Authority harmless from payment of charges for any and all such utilities and
services and for any interruption in such utilities or services. Except as may be contracted for separately between
Licensee and Authority, the Authority shall have no responsibility or obligation to provide any utilities or services
of any kind for Licensee’s use of the Premises or for Licensee’s operations and activities.
14. REFUSE REMOVAL: Licensee shall be responsible for providing the prompt removal from the
Premises and proper disposal of all refuse, garbage, debris, trash, and other discarded materials and shall not allow
an accumulation thereof on, in, or adjacent to the Premises. Upon expiration or termination of this License,
Licensee shall be responsible for and ensure that the Premises, together with surrounding adjacent properties,
public roadways/rights-of-way, and drainage facilities, shall all be cleaned and left in a condition substantially
similar to their condition prior to Licensee’s use of the Premises and to the satisfaction of the Authority.
15. TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS: Licensee shall be responsible for payment of any liabilities that accrue
against Licensee’s interests hereunder, if any, including any and all taxes and assessments of every kind and
description which are now or may be hereafter lawfully assessed or levied against Licensee’s interests during the
Term. Licensee shall indemnify and hold harmless the Authority for any such claims.
16. PROPERTY RIGHTS: This License provides Licensee with no leasehold or other property interest in
the Premises. The license granted Licensee hereunder is for the occupancy and use of public/government property
and merely provides permission, personal to Licensee, to occupy, use, and maintain the Premises for the limited
purposes specified pursuant to the terms and conditions herein and solely at Licensee’s risk and at the Authority’s
sufferance and convenience.
17. ASSIGNMENT: This License shall not be assigned, transferred, hypothecated, sold, mortgaged, or
otherwise encumbered, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part. Any such assignment or other transfer shall be
null and void and without legal effect. If Licensee is an entity other than a natural person, any stock transfer, asset
transfer, and any other ownership transfer of Licensee that changes the ownership, management, or policy-making
individuals of Licensee shall be deemed an indirect transfer of this License.
18. ASSUMPTION OF RISK; RELEASE AND INDEMNIFICATION: For and in additional consideration
of the granting of this License by the Authority and the additional consideration of the separate sum of Ten Dollars
($10.00) and other good and valuable consideration paid by Authority to Licensee, the receipt and sufficiency of
which is hereby acknowledged by Licensee, Licensee agrees as follows:
(a) Premises “As Is.” Licensee accepts the condition of the Premises as is and recognizes and hereby
expressly and fully assumes all risks, known and unknown, that arise or might arise directly or incidental
to or in any way connected with the condition or use of or access to the Premises. The Authority has
not made and makes no warranty of any kind whatsoever as to the condition of the Premises or its fitness
for any particular purpose. This express assumption of risk by Licensee is made for and on behalf of
Licensee and Licensee’s employees, agents, volunteers, guests, contractors, subcontractors, and all other
invitees of Licensee.
(b) Release and Indemnification (Premises). Licensee hereby releases and forever discharges the
Authority, its elected officials, officers, employees, and agents (collectively “Released Parties”), and
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agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Released Parties from and against any and all liabilities,
claims, demands, damages, actions, lawsuits, costs, and expenses, of any kind or nature, including but
not limited to, costs of investigation and attorneys’ fees, experts’ fees, and costs (including attorneys’
fees, experts’ fees, and costs incurred in litigating entitlement to and the amount of such fees and costs)
through trial and appellate proceedings, arising out of, incidental to, or in any way connected with the
condition or use of, or access to, the Premises, any improvement, installation, or equipment thereon or
therein, or otherwise arising under this License. LICENSEE UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES THAT
THIS RELEASE AND INDEMNIFICATION INCLUDES ANY AND ALL CLAIMS BASED ON
THE NEGLIGENCE, ACTIONS, OR INACTION OF THE AUTHORITY OR ANY OTHER
RELEASED PARTY AND INCLUDES ANY OTHER CAUSE OR CONDITION WHATSOEVER,
AND COVERS, BUT IS NOT LIMITED TO, ANY AND ALL CLAIMS FOR BODILY INJURY,
DEATH, OR PROPERTY DAMAGE.
(c) Indemnification (Use). Licensee shall indemnify and hold the Released Parties harmless from and
against any and all liabilities, claims, demands, damages, actions, lawsuits, judgments, penalties, losses,
costs, or expenses, of any kind or nature, including but not limited to, costs of investigation and
attorneys’ fees, experts’ fees, and costs (including attorneys’ fees, experts’ fees, and costs incurred in
litigating entitlement to and the amount of such fees and costs) through trial and appellate proceedings,
arising out of, incidental to, or in any way connected with: the use, occupancy, maintenance, or
improvement of the Premises or any improvement, installation, or equipment thereon or therein by
Licensee or any employee, representative, agent, volunteer, guest, contractor, sub-contractor, material
supplier, service supplier, or other invitee of Licensee, or of any of the foregoing, and; any act or
omission of Licensee or any employee, representative, agent, volunteer, guest, contractor, subcontractor, material supplier, service supplier, or other invitee of Licensee, or of any of the foregoing,
or otherwise arising under this License. Said indemnification includes any damage of any kind to the
Premises or Authority improvements, structures, installations, or equipment thereon or therein or
adjacent thereto.
(d) Release and Indemnity (Public Improvements and Utilities). Licensee’s release and agreement to
indemnify and hold the Released Parties harmless provided for herein shall also include any claim for
damage suffered by Authority or any other utility, whether publicly or privately owned or operated. In
addition, Licensee waives all claims of any kind or nature whatsoever against the Released Parties for
damages that Licensee may suffer by reason of the installation, construction, reconstruction, operation
and/or maintenance of any public improvement or utility, whether presently in place or that may in the
future be constructed or installed, including but not limited to: any water and/or sewer mains, lines,
pipes, or other facilities or structures; storm water structures, pipes, or other facilities; electric lines,
conduit, or other facilities or structures; roadway or other right-of-way improvements. Said release
includes any damage due to failure of any such utility or installation, natural causes, or from any other
cause of whatsoever kind or nature.
(e) Intent and Effect. It is the intent and effect of the provisions contained in this section, and a condition
in consideration for granting of this License, that Licensee’s release and indemnification shall be and
include a full and total release and indemnification of the Released Parties against any kind or nature of
claim whatsoever that is or may be asserted by reason of or as a consequence of the Authority having
granted permission to Licensee to occupy, use, and maintain the Premises. The provisions of this section
are provided as additional consideration and inducement for grant of the License hereunder and this
License would not have been granted by the Authority absent the giving of such additional consideration
by Licensee. Licensee’s release and indemnification obligations shall survive the termination of the
License for any matter arising or claim accruing prior to the effective date of the termination or the date
Licensee no longer occupies, uses, or maintains the Premises, whichever is later. Nothing in this License
shall be construed as a waiver of sovereign immunity by the Authority whatsoever, whether by contract
or under any law or regulation. Failure of Licensee to promptly provide the indemnification required
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herein will be deemed a material breach of this License which can result in immediate termination
notwithstanding any other provision herein.
19. INSURANCE: Licensee shall, for and during each occurrence of Licensee’s occupation and use of the
Premises, including setup, use, and restoration phases, procure and maintain insurance coverage, at Licensee’s
sole cost and expense, in such amounts and types of insurance which shall conform to the following minimum
requirements:
(a) Combined Single Limit
Bodily Injury & Property Damage
$5,000,000 each occurrence, including:
Medical Payments at $5,000 each person, $30,000 each accident
Host Liquor Liability; Personal Injury Liability
Limited Products Liability at a $1,000,000 aggregate
Limited Vehicle Non-Ownership Liability at a $1,000,000 aggregate
Liquor Legal Liability at a $1,000,000 aggregate
Deductible is NIL ($0)
Optional: TRIA (Terrorism Insurance)
Courtesy Car Coverage up to 49 vehicles
Non-Owned Liability Limit - $1,000,000 each accident
Physical Damage Limit $75,000 each vehicle with a
$100 Comprehensive deductible per vehicle
$500 Collision deductible per vehicle
Accident Coverage for 400 Volunteers with medical expense limit of $25,000
All Risk Property for Rented/Leased equipment up to $400,000 covered
(Deductible of $1,000 per claim)
(b) Certificates of Insurance. In addition to the required policy endorsement(s), Licensee shall cause
a certificate(s) of insurance to be provided to the Authority for all insurance coverage and authority
named as an additional insured. Certificates shall state the types of coverage provided, limits of liability,
and expiration dates, and shall be provided to the Authority at least thirty (30) days before any
occupation and use of the Premises. If an insurance policy expires or will expire prior to the end of
Premises occupation or use, renewal certificates shall be promptly furnished prior to the date of such
expiration.
(c) Licensee Insurance Primary. Licensee’s insurance in all instances shall be primary. Any insurance
that may be maintained by the Authority shall be in excess of and shall not contribute with Licensee’s
insurance.
(d) Insurance Approval. All insurance documents submitted to the Authority are subject to Authority
approval for adequacy and protection. All coverage shall be provided by insurance companies
authorized to do business in the state of Florida and otherwise satisfactory to the Authority.
(e) Failure to Maintain Insurance. The responsibility and obligation to provide and maintain insurance
in the forms, type, and minimum coverage required herein and to maintain effective and proper
Authority additional insured policy endorsements and certificates of insurance is solely Licensee’s,
which responsibility and obligation continues during the entire period of occupation and use of the
Premises, including all phases of the Air Show. Failure of Licensee to provide and maintain all insurance
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coverage and effective and proper endorsements and certificates will be deemed detrimental to the public
interest, an increased and unnecessary risk to the public and the Authority, and a material breach of this
License which can result in immediate termination notwithstanding any other provision herein and in
Licensee being liable for the full amount of any and all claims and losses incurred.
20. COMPLIANCE WITH TERMS AND CONDITIONS: Licensee binds itself, its successors, and assigns
to abide by the terms and conditions herein set forth, and said terms and conditions shall be deemed covenants of
Licensee and Licensee’s successors and assigns. In the event Licensee fails or refuses to comply with the terms
and conditions herein set forth, or in the event Licensee violates any of the terms and conditions, this License may
be immediately terminated by the Authority in its sole discretion.
21. ENFORCEMENT OF PROVISIONS; WAIVER: Any term or condition of this License, compliance
therewith, or breach thereof may be waived by the party that is entitled to the benefit thereof, but no waiver shall
be effective unless set forth in a written instrument duly executed by or on behalf of such waiving party. Any
such waiver by any party of any condition, or of the breach of any provision, term, covenant, representation, or
warranty contained in this License, in any one or more instances, shall not invalidate this License, nor shall such
waiver be deemed to be nor construed as a furthering or continuing waiver of any such condition, or of the breach
of any other provision, term, covenant, representation or warranty of this License. Except as otherwise provided
herein, the failure of a party to assert any of its rights under this License or otherwise shall not constitute a waiver
of such rights. A waiver by a party shall not invalidate this License, nor shall such waiver be construed as a waiver
of any other covenant, condition, representation, or warranty. A waiver by a party of the time for performing any
act shall not constitute a waiver of time for performing any other act or the time for performing an identical act
required to be performed at a later time.
22. TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION OF LICENSE: Either party may terminate this License with cause
with seven (7) days notice to the other party of a material default with cure directives. However, the Authority
may dispense with or reduce the aforesaid notice period should the Authority determine, in its sole and absolute
discretion, that Licensee is in breach of this License in detriment to the public interest or safety and requires
immediate cure and suspension until cured. Such suspension shall remain in effect until the violation is corrected
and compliance is confirmed by the Authority.
23. PERMISSION GRANTED: Upon satisfaction of Premises restoration obligations by Licensee after each
period of use and acceptance of the restored Premises by the Authority, the permission to occupy and use the
Premises in such instance shall cease and terminate. Upon termination of this License all permission granted or
that may be granted hereunder shall cease and terminate.
24. RESTORATION OF PREMISES: Except as otherwise agreed in writing by the parties, within fortyeight (48) hours after each use of the Premises, Licensee shall, at Licensee’s expense, clean, repair, and restore
the Premises to substantially the same or better condition as existed prior to Licensee’s use of the Premises, subject
to approval and acceptance by the Authority, and vacate the Premises. If Licensee does not timely and adequately
clean, repair, and restore the Premises, the Authority shall be automatically deemed authorized to clean, repair,
and restore the Premises at Licensee’s expense. Such remedy shall be in addition to all other remedies available
to the Authority under applicable laws, rules, and regulations, including the right to impose against Licensee all
actual and administrative costs for such cleanup, repair, and restoration. The obligations of Licensee under this
section shall survive termination of this License.
25. AUTHORITY AGENT: The CEO shall be the Authority’s agent and shall have the authority to
administer this License on behalf of the Authority, including but not limited to the authority to: provide notices to
Licensee; enforce, suspend, or terminate this License; and exercise any other right of the Authority hereunder on
its behalf.
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26. NOTICES: Any notice required to be given pursuant to this License shall be in writing and shall be
sufficient if: delivered personally; by courier such as FedEx, UPS, or Priority Mail; by United States First Class
registered or certified mail, return receipt requested; or sent by United States First Class Mail evidenced by a
certificate of mailing and e-mailed to the Licensee. Such notices shall be provided to the respective party at their
address set forth above. Any notice the delivery of which is refused by the recipient shall be deemed given as of
the date it is mailed or sent. Licensee shall notify the Authority of any change to Licensee’s address at least ten
(10) days before the change is effective.
27. LICENSEE ORGANIZATION: If Licensee is an entity other than a natural person, Licensee’s status as
a legal entity shall continuously be in good standing, active, and current with the state of its formation and
registration and with the State of Florida, and Licensee shall keep its status active and current throughout the
Term. Licensee shall keep the Authority apprised of its designated officers, directors, partners, managers, and
other officials, and of any change in the entity’s name or organization.
28. NO JOINT VENTURE OR AGENCY: Nothing in this License or any exhibit or attachment hereto
creates or is intended to create an association, trust, partnership, joint venture, or other entity or similar legal
relationship among or between the parties, or impose a trust, partnership or fiduciary duty, obligation, or liability
on or with respect to the parties. Neither party is nor shall be deemed the agent or representative of the other party
in any instance whatsoever.
29. THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES: The terms and provisions of this License are intended solely for
the benefit of the parties and their respective successors, and it is not the intention of the parties to confer thirdparty beneficiary rights upon any other person or entity.
30. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; CAPTIONS: This License and its exhibits and attachments set forth all the
promises, agreements, conditions, and understandings, either oral or written, between the parties. The captions,
paragraphs, sections, or letters appearing in this License are inserted only as a matter of convenience and in no
way affect, define, limit, expand, construe, or describe the scope or intent of the sections and paragraphs hereof.
31. AMENDMENTS: Except to the extent otherwise provided herein, no subsequent alteration, amendment,
change, or addition to this License or any exhibit or attachment hereto shall be binding on the Authority or
Licensee unless in writing and signed by them and made a part of this License. Except as otherwise provided
herein, any and all amendments to this License and any exhibit or attachment hereto shall require approval of the
Authority’s Board and must comply with all ordinances, rules, regulations, and statutes in existence at the time of
the execution of the modification or amendment.
32. SEVERABILITY: If any provision of this License is held to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable under
any present or future law, and if the rights or obligations of any party under this License will not be materially
and adversely affected thereby, such provision shall be fully severable; this License will be construed and enforced
as if such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision had never comprised a part hereof; the remaining provisions
of this License will remain in full force and effect and will not be affected by the illegal, invalid, or unenforceable
provision; the parties shall negotiate in good faith to restore insofar as practicable the benefits to each party that
were affected by such ruling and to include as a part of this License a legal, valid, and enforceable provision as
similar in terms to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision as possible.
33. GOVERNING LAW; VENUE; WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL: This License shall be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida (without giving effect to conflict of law principles)
as to all matters, including but not limited to matters of validity, construction, effect, performance, and remedies.
Venue for resolution of any dispute arising from or under this License or its performance shall be in Charlotte
County, Florida and all actions and proceedings arising from or under this License or Licensee’s occupation, use,
maintenance, or restoration of the Premises or otherwise related to the subject matter of this License shall be in
the court of the State of Florida in Charlotte County, Florida, which court shall have exclusive jurisdiction for
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such purpose. Each of the parties hereto irrevocably waives its right to a jury trial with respect to any action or
claim arising out of any dispute in connection with this License or Licensee’s occupancy, use, maintenance, or
restoration of the Premises or otherwise related to the subject matter of this License. This provision is a material
inducement for the parties hereto to enter into this License, and shall survive the termination of this License.
34. ATTORNEYS’ FEES: Except as otherwise provided in this License, in the event there arises between
the parties any dispute or litigation, each party shall be responsible for its own attorneys’ fees, experts’ fees, and
costs. However, should any claim or litigation against the Authority arise as to liability for any injury, death, or
property damage due to the condition of the Premises or Licensee’s occupancy, use, operation, maintenance, or
restoration of the Premises or Licensee’s activities, Licensee shall be responsible for and reimburse the Authority
as provided herein for the cost of Authority’s defense, including but not limited to attorneys’ fees, experts’ fees,
and costs (including attorneys’ fees, experts’ fees, and costs incurred in litigating entitlement to and the amount
of such fees and costs), through trial and appellate proceedings.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this License as of the dates entered below and the
respective signatories of the parties whose signatures appear below hereby warrant and represent that they have
been and are on the date of execution of this License duly authorized to execute this License and bind their
respective party.
SIGNATURES PAGES FOLLOW.
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LICENSEE:
FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL
AIRSHOW, INC.

ATTEST:

By:

Dana Carr
Chairman

Stan Smith
President

[SEAL]

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF CHARLOTTE
The foregoing License Agreement for Use of Authority Real Property was acknowledged before me this ___
day of

2021 by Dana Carr, as Chairman, and Stan Smith, President, of Florida International Airshow,

Inc.., Licensee. They

are personally known to me; OR

identification.

NOTARY PUBLIC
Print Name:
Commission No.:
My Commission Expires:
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produced

as

ATTEST:

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

Robert D. Hancik
Secretary/Treasurer

By:
James Herston
Chair

[SEAL]
STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF CHARLOTTE
The foregoing License Agreement for Use of Charlotte County Airport Authority Real Property was
acknowledged before me this

day of

2021 by Robert D. Hancik, Secretary Treasurer, and

attested by Kathleen Coppola, as Assistant Secretary/Treasurer. They are both known to me.

NOTARY PUBLIC
Print name:
Commission No.
My Commission Expires:
ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW
Approved as to form and legal
sufficiency:
______________________________
Darol Carr
Airport Authority Attorney

__________________________________
James W. Parish
CEO
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EXHIBIT “A”
SCOPE OF SERVICES
PUNTA GORDA AIRPORT
WETLAND MITIGATION PHASE 2
Design, Permitting, Bidding, Construction, and Closeout Services
PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project consists of the design, permitting and construction required to fill approximately 35 acres of
existing wetlands on airport property, expand the drainage ditch north of wetland I and the purchase of
required wetland mitigation credits. The wetlands to be mitigated in Phase 2 include B2, B3, I, I1, I2, I3
and I4. Phase 2 of the wetland mitigation work is scheduled to be completed in FY 22. See Exhibit “C”.
The engineering services include: field surveys, design, construction plan preparation, engineering and
wetland mitigation permitting, bidding assistance, construction site visits , engineering construction
services and closeout services as described in detail below. Construction activities will be completed by
a contractor selected as part of the bidding phase.
SCOPE OF SERVICES
BASIC SERVICES
Design
1. Data Collection and Engineering Site Visit
Level of Service:
Members of the project design team will participate in a kick-off meeting and on the same day
conduct a site visit to review and document existing field conditions. . Photographs and notes will
be recorded.
Deliverables:
• Kick-off Meeting agenda notes and electronic PDF versions of the field notes and photographs
from the site visit.
2.

Construction Plans
Level of Service:
Update construction plans depicting the work required to clear and fill the wetlands, following
applicable FAA Advisory Circulars and Specifications. It is noted that under the Phase 1 of this
project, grading, erosion and sedimentation control and cross sections were developed for the
Phase 2 wetlands. These existing plan sheets will be updated. New grading, erosion and
sedimentation control and cross section plan sheets will be developed for Wetland I, I1, I2, I3
and I4 conveyance system to the north for required permitting requirements.
The construction plan set shall include, but not be limited to the following sheets:
 Plan view of each wetland area showing surrounding land features and wetland boundary.
These plans will ultimately portray necessary Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control.
 Cross section view of each wetland ultimately portraying existing and final grades
 Profile of existing open channel drainage and final profile
 Technical specification coordination
 Preparation of preliminary bid quantities
 Secure and manage topographic survey services
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Deliverables:
• Electronic PDF versions of the construction plans.
3.

Construction Safety and Phasing Plan (CSPP)
Level of Service:
Using Task 1 information, prepare the narrative report and phasing plan sheets in accordance with
FAA Advisory Circular 150/5370-2G and the associated FAA Standard Operating Procedure 1.00
and checklist. This effort will be coordinated with the Runway 4-22 Reconstruction project. It is
anticipated that the wetlands project will be incorporated into the Runway 4-22 Reconstruction
project’s CSPP.
Deliverables:
• Electronic PDF version of the stand-alone CSPP narrative report with phasing plan sheets, and
checklist

4. Design Review/Pre-Design Meeting
Level of Service:
Coordinate a pre-design meeting with the Airport, FAA and other stakeholders as applicable.
Prepare meeting agenda at least three (3) days in advance of the meeting along with any handout
documents. Attend meeting, record and prepare meeting notes.
Deliverables:
• Electronic PDF version of the meeting agenda, notes, and handouts.
The deliverables from the above tasks will be submitted to the Airport for review as the Preliminary
Submittal as indicated on the project schedule.
5. Specifications
Level of Service:
Prepare the project specifications using the standard specifications of FAA Advisory Circular
150/5370-10, latest change current as of the date of this task order, adapted to the project including
any proposed modifications to standards. It is noted that under the Phase 1 of this project,
specifications were developed.
Deliverables:
• Electronic PDF versions of the draft project specifications.
6. Engineer’s Report
Level of Service:
Update the existing Engineer’s Report for the project. The report will discuss design criteria, specific
design solutions and proposed modifications to standards. The Table of Contents will include the
following Sections:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.

General Information
Project Data - Includes Opinion of Construction and Wetland Mitigation Costs
Airport Information
Description of Work
Reviews and Permits
Wetland Characterization and Mitigation
Grading Design
Availability of Contractors/DBE Participation Opportunities
Sources of Materials
Work by Others

Punta Gorda Airport
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11. Sequence of Construction
12. Non-AIP Items (if applicable)
13. Modifications to FAA Standards (if applicable)
Deliverables:
• Electronic PDF versions signed and sealed by a Florida Registered Professional Engineer along
with two (2) bound hard copy prints.
The deliverables for the above tasks will be submitted to the Airport for review as the Final Design
Submittal as indicated on the project schedule.
7. Bidding Documents
Level of Service:
Incorporate Airport review comments from the Final Construction plans, specifications
and engineer’s report for bidding.
Deliverables:
• Electronic PDF versions of Bid Documents
Bidding Services
1. Pre-Bid Meeting
Level of Service:
Attend one (1) pre-bid meeting with Airport and contractors. Prepare meeting agenda, sign-in sheet
and meeting notes. The meeting notes and sign-in sheet will be electronically distributed to attendees.
Deliverables:
• Meeting agenda, sign-in sheet and notes distributed to meeting attendees.
2. Addenda Packages and Clarification Letters
Level of Service:
Prepare up to two (2) addenda packages and clarification letters in response to bidder questions
under the direction of the Project Engineers as applicable.
Deliverables:
• Responses to bidder questions and revisions to applicable construction plans and specifications.
3. Bid Opening, Tabulation of Bids and Recommendation of Award Letter
Level of Service:
The letter of recommendation will comment on the responsiveness and regularity of the bidders’
submittal items, and either recommend award to the low responsive and responsible bidder or
rejection of bids if none are acceptable.
Deliverables:
• Certified Bid Tabulation
• Evaluation of responsiveness
• Letter of Recommendation for award or if no bids are acceptable, for rejection.
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Construction Phase Services
1. Conformed Contract Documents
Level of Service:
The project specifications and construction plans, as prepared for bidding, will be updated as
“conformed” to include the items from the Bidding Phase; Pre-Bid meeting notes, bidder submittal
items and construction plans sheets for distribution to the Airport, FAA, FDOT, Contractor and
Engineer.
Deliverables:
•
Electronic PDF versions of conformed contract documents, specifications and construction
plans signed and sealed by a Florida Registered Engineer. Two hard copies of each document
will also be submitted.
2. Pre-Construction Meeting / Construction Progress Meetings / Project Engineer Site Visits
Level of Service:
Attend construction progress meetings/project engineer site visits to participate, discuss and
coordinate project specifics. Meeting topics may include but are not limited to; key contact
personnel, lines of communication, submittals, responses to contractor request for information,
change orders, and review administrative and reporting procedures.
Conduct site visits to observe construction progress, general character, and quality of the work. The
site visits will be scheduled to occur on days where construction progress meetings are held.
In addition to attending the pre-construction meeting, construction progress meetings/engineer site
visits, prepare the meeting agenda, sign-in sheet and meeting notes.
A total of eight (8) meetings and/or site visits are included.
Deliverables:
• Meeting agenda, sign-in sheet and notes will be prepared and distributed in electronic PDF for
each meeting attended.
• Copies of notes from the engineer site visits.
3. Contractor Submittals
Level of Service:
Review contractor submittals for general conformance with the design concept. Each submittal will
be reviewed initially. One subsequent review of a corrected or alternate submittal or required by
non- conformance by the Contractor is included.
Deliverables:
• Returned submittals with action indicated.
4. Contractor Request for Information (RFI)
Level of Service:
Review contractor requests for information and provide clarification of design intent.
Deliverables:
• Returned RFIs with response.
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5. Evaluate Contractor Pay Requests
Level of Services:
Review Contractor pay requests based on test results and periodic on-site observation and
recommend payment, including adjustments in accordance with the contract documents.
Deliverables:
• Copies of approved pay requests along with backup information, as applicable.
6. Change Orders
Level of Service:
Coordinate and prepare change orders as applicable to address changes in work and/or unforeseen
field conditions. This task includes minor revisions to existing drawings.
Deliverables:
• Copies of proposed change orders with minor revisions to existing drawing sheets.
Project Closeout Services
1. Project Closeout
Level of Service:
Completion Site Visits
Conduct one (1) site visit for substantial completion. Prepare a punch list of items to be completed or
corrected prior to the final acceptance. Conduct one (1) site visit for final acceptance to review
contractor’s compliance and corrections of the substantial completion punch list items.
FAA Closeout
Prepare a project closeout book summarizing compliance with FAA and FDOT construction
standards, except approved modifications. Summarize project costs and changes. The expected table
of contents is as follows:
Final Acceptance Letter
Section 1
1.1
1.2
2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5
2.6
Section 3
3.1
Section 4
4.1
4.2
Section 5
5.1
Section 6

Final Inspection/Substantial Completion
Final Acceptance Letter
Certificates of Substantial Completion Section 2
Construction Quantities and Costs
Summary of Construction Costs
Summary of Final Construction Quantities
Final Application for Payment
Final Release Form
Consent of Survey for Final Payment and Power of Attorney
Summary of Contract Time
Construction of Quality Assurance
Material Certifications and Submittals
Engineering Cost Summary
Summary of Engineering Costs
Summary of Resident Project Representative Time
Disadvantage Business Enterprise Participation
DBE Reporting Form
Record Drawings

Deliverables:
• Attendance at the site visits, copies of the punch list report, certification forms and project
closeout book.

Punta Gorda Airport
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Water Management, FDEP and ACOE Closeout
Level of Service:
Prepare the Water Management District, FDEP and ACOE closeout/certification documents.
Record Documents
Prepare record contract documents. These documents will reflect any alterations to the design during
construction as a result of Engineer’s Supplemental Instructions (ESIs), Request for Information (RFIs)
and Change Orders (COs).
Deliverables:
• Electronic PDF versions of Record Documents along with two (2) hard copies will be submitted.
OTHER SERVICES
1. Design Surveys
Level of Service:
Conduct design topographical surveys of the project limits under the direction of a Florida
Registered Surveyor.
Deliverables:
• [to be delivered as part of Kimley Horn contract]
2. Environmental Resource Permitting and Section 404 Permitting
Level of Service:
ESA will support EGS with the Environmental Resource Permitting (ERP) with the Southwest
Florida Water Management District (SWFWMD) and section 404 permit coordination with the
Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP). Because the state assumed authority to
implement federal section 404 permitting (effective December 2020), the assumption is new and
implementation is an evolving process so the specific tasks required within this scope may vary
slightly as FDEP takes over elements of the program. Since ESA secured a section 404 permit
from the USACE under Phase 1 of this project, a new permit should not be required. Rather,
coordination with FDEP and USACE to provide the requisite information and secure the 404
coordination is complete will be the focus of this task.
For the ERP, tasks will include, at a minimum:
 Field delineation to establish SWFWMD wetland jurisdictional limits, record all points
using sub-meter accurate GPS (suitable for permitting) and develop detailed wetland
functional assessments for both agencies pursuant to their specific rules.
 Agency site visit(s) with SWFWMD (and FDEP and / or USACE, if required) to
obtain concurrence on wetland limits and functional assessments.
 Attend pre-application meeting with SWFWMD
 Complete the required data sheets and jurisdictional packages and develop the functional
analyses (UMAM and WRAP, if required) and negotiate the functional value of the
impacted wetlands with the agencies.
 Prepare formal permit application forms and associated exhibits.
 Complete the mitigation planning and assist the airport with securing mitigation credits.
 Responses for up to two Requests for Additional Information, from SWFWMD. There are
no RAIs expected from FDEP or USACE.
 Also includes two meetings either at the airport or the regulatory agency office.

Punta Gorda Airport
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Deliverables:
• Pre-application meeting agenda and notes.
• Permit applications, exhibits to each agency and responses to secure permit from SWFWMD
3. Geotechnical
Level of Service:
Perform auger probes at each wetland location to determine the approximate depth and limits
of unsuitable/sub-soil excavation
Deliverables:
• Results of auger probes
EXCLUDED SERVICES
1. Permit fees.
2. Purchase of mitigation credits.
3. RPR
4. QA assurance and testing
5. Formal listed species surveys – (if species specific surveys are required through permitting, these
would require additional services)
6. Mitigation for listed species impacts, including permitting and relocation of species (i.e. gopher
tortoise, burrowing owl)
7. NEPA compliance or FAA coordination beyond permitting requirements
End of Scope of Services

Punta Gorda Airport
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HOUR AND FEE PROPOSAL
WETLAND MITIGATION, PHASE 2
PUNTA GORDA AIRPORT
Position:
Rate ($/Hour):

PRINCIPAL

PROJECT

QA/QC
$260

MANAGER
$245

labor hours

Cost

labor hours

Cost

labor hours

TOTAL

ADMIN

ENGINEER
$130

$95

Cost

labor hours

Cost

labor hours

Cost

Design
Kick-off Meeting, Data Collection and Engineering Site Visit
Subconsultant Coordination

2

Construction Plans (KH)

$0

4

$980

4

$520

$520

1

$245

2

$260

$0

6

$1,470

20

$2,600

Construction Safety and Phasing Plan

4

$980

8

$1,040

Quality Control

2

$520

2

$490

4

$520

Project Management and Administration

2

$520

8

$1,960

Pre-Design Meeting with FAA

$0

4

$980

Prepare Specifications

$0

8

Prepare Engineer's Report

$0

Bidding Documents
Sub-Total Design

6

8
4

$0

8

$760

13

$1,500
$1,785

$0

26

$4,070

$380

16

$2,400

$0

8

$1,530

$0

8

$760

18

$3,240

4

$520

4

$380

12

$1,880

$1,960

16

$2,080

16

$1,520

40

$5,560

4

$980

12

$1,560

16

$1,520

32

$4,060

$0

4

$980

8

$1,040

8

$760

20

$2,780

$1,560

45

$11,025

78

$10,140

64

$6,080

193

$28,805

Bidding Services
Meeting Prep and Pre Bid Meeting

$0

8

$1,960

$0

4

$380

12

$2,340

Prepare Addenda

$0

4

$980

$0

4

$380

8

$1,360

Evaluation of Bids and Recommendation of Award

$0

4

$980

$0

4

$380

8

$1,360

$0

16

$3,920

$0

12

$1,140

28

$5,060

Sub-Total Bidding Services

0

0

Construction Phase Services
Attend Pre-Construction Meeting

$0

4

$980

4

$520

$0

8

$1,500

Attend Construction Meeting/Site Visits (8 visit)

$0

16

$3,920

32

$4,160

$0

48

$8,080

Review Contractor's Submittals

$0

$0

4

$520

Respond to RFIs

$0

4

$980

8

$1,040

$0

4

$520

Evaluate Monthy Pay Apps

$0

6
8

$0

$570

10

$1,090

$0

12

$2,020

$760

12

$1,280

$0

10

$2,480

Project Management and Administration

2

$520

8

$1,960

Prepare/Manage Change Orders

2

$520

4

$980

8

$1,040

4

$380

18

$2,920

Sub-Total Construction Phase Services

4

$1,040

36

$8,820

60

$7,800

18

$1,710

118

$19,370

FAA Closeout

$0

6

$1,470

8

$1,040

8

$760

22

$3,270

Water Management, FDEP and USCOE Closeout

$0

4

$980

$0

4

$380

8

$1,360

Site Visit and Prepare Punch List

$0

6

$1,470

$0

2

$190

8

$1,660

Site Visit and Final Acceptance

$0

6

$1,470

4

$520

2

$190

12

$2,180

Prepare Record Drawings

$0

$0

2

$260

$0

2

$260

Project Closeout Services

Sub-Total Project Closeout Services

TOTAL ALL LABOR

0

$0

22

$5,390

14

$1,820

16

$1,520

52

$8,730

10

2,600

119

29,155

152

19,760

110

10,450

391

61,965

Direct Expenses:
Travel and Reproduction

$1,000
EGS Lump Sum:

$62,965

Kimley-Horn - Plan Production - Exhibit B

Lump Sum:

$17,277

Hyatt - Design Surveys - Exhibit B1

Lump Sum:

$5,905

ESA - Environmental Permitting - Exhbit D
Maser - Geotechnical

Hourly NTE:

45180

Allowance:

$10,000

Total Fee:

$141,327

CHANGE ORDER
Owner:

Charlotte Co. Airport Authority

Owner’s Address:

28000 A-1 Airport Rd.
Punta Gorda, FL 33982

Name of Airport:

Punta Gorda Airport (PGD)

Location of Airport:

28000 A-1 Airport Rd.
Punta Gorda, FL 33982

Name of Contractor:

Ajax Paving Industries FL, LLC

Address of Contractor:

One Ajax Drive
North Venice, FL 34275

DESCRIPTION OF WORK IN CONTRACT:
New General Aviation Center – Airside Civil Package

Original Contract Time:

New Contract Time:
CHANGES ORDERED:
ITEM

Date Prepared:
Change Order No.:
FAA AIP No.:
FDOT FM No.:
Original Contract Amount:
Current Contract Amount:
Est. Cost This Change:
New Contract Amount:

238 Days

n/a

QUANTITY
UNIT
UNIT PRICE
See attached Exhibit “A”, CP-01, and NOI 1

03/10/21
1
3-12-0067-039-2020
N/A
$8,190,867.92
$8,190,867.92
$108,425.14
$8,299,293.06
EXTENDED
TOTAL

INCREASE/
(DECREASE)

REASON FOR CHANGE ORDER: See attached Exhibit “B”
Subject to the conditions set forth below, an equitable adjustment is established as follows:
Contract Time
Contract Price
X

Not Changed
Increased by: $ 108,425.14
Decreased by: $

X
Dollars
Dollars

Not Changed (calendar days replace completion date)
Increased by:
Days
Decreased by:
Days

The foregoing is in accordance with your contract dated
07/16/2020
and as listed below:
A. The aforementioned change and work affected thereby are subject to all contract stipulations and covenants;
B. The rights of the Owner are not prejudiced; and
C. All claims against the Owner that are incidental to or as a consequence of the aforementioned change are satisfied.
We are sending you five original, signed copies of this Change Order for your acceptance. Please return all five original
copies to us, all bearing your original, dated signature.

Accepted Owner

Title

Date

Accepted Contractor

Title

Date

Approved Engineer

Title

Date

Approved FAA*

Title

Date

Approved FDOT*

Title

Date

*Subject to the Availability of Funds

Exhibit "A"
Changes Ordered - CO# 01
Punta Gorda Airport
General Aviation Center - Airside Civil Package

Construction - New Pay Items
Pay Item No.

Quantity

Unit

D-701-5.99

1

LS

Replacement of 18-Inch D.I.P. Force Main to
Facilitate Drainage Pipe Installation

$

67,223.56 $

67,223.56

D-705-5.4

350

LF

6" PVC SDR 26 Perforated Underdrain Pipe w/
$
Liner, Filter Sand, Filter Fabric, Washed Stone and
Cleanouts

82.61 $

28,913.50

Aircraft Rated Manhole, 6' Dia. Base with Type 3
Top Slab
FDOT Type H Inlets with Steel Reticuline Grates

$

8,340.31 $

16,680.62

$

8,340.31 $

16,680.62

Sub-Total $

129,498.30

D-751-5.9

2

EA

D-751-5.10

2

EA

Description of Work

Unit Cost

Extended Total

Construction - Exisitng Pay Items
Pay Item No.
D-751-5.4

Quantity
(2)

Unit
EA

Description of Work
Aircraft Rated Manhole, 8-Foot Diameter Base with $
Type 2 Top Slab

Unit Cost

Extended Total

10,536.58 $

(21,073.16)

Sub-Total $

(21,073.16)

Total $

108,425.14

Exhibit "B"
Reason for Change Order - CO# 01
Punta Gorda Airport
New General Aviation Center – Airside Civil Package

The reasons for this change order are as follows:
•

It was discovered during construction that the existing force main that crosses above a proposed
drainage culvert crossing is in questionable condition. This is an unforeseen condition. It has
been determined that 100 linear feet of this 18-inch D.I.P force main should be replaced with
new 18-inch C900 PVC pipe to mitigate for the risk of collapse when trenching below it for the
proposed drainage culvert crossing.

•

A side drain system was added to the west side of the Airside Pond to meet the SWFWMD ERP
permit requirements. Final approval of the ERP application happened post-bid.

•

Two (2) aircraft-rated stormwater manhole structures proposed in the aircraft apron were
reduced in diameter from 8-ft to 6-ft.

•

Type H Inlets were originally shown in the General Aviation Center Package 2 – Terminal
Building but are required in Package 1 – Airside Civil as this drainage is required in an early
phase of the overall project.
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NON-AERONAUTICAL

REVENUE
GENERATION
AND
FINANCIAL
RESILIENCY
BY MITCHELL HOOPER

R

evenue diversification is a
critical element of financial
resiliency, and nonaeronautically derived revenues
can help airports weather periods
of uncertainty. Airports of all sizes
are exploring methods to diversify
their revenue streams, and FAA and
industry have guidance to help with
the process.

Resiliency Planning and
Revenue Diversification
Resiliency planning is garnering a
lot of attention in this ever-changing
world. Many airport operators
have resiliency plans that provide
guidance to keep critical aviation
infrastructure running in times
of need. These plans tend to focus
on immediate response — keeping
airfields and roadways clear,
power on, and traffic management
functional. Financial resiliency
— not just to cover the shortterm costs, but to keep the airport
operator financially solvent during
prolonged periods of change and
uncertainty — is another
key element.
Airport operators are wise
not to focus on a single revenue
stream. Many operators are looking
beyond aviation to shore up
their balance sheets and provide
alternative funds. Congress
demonstrated an understanding of
the importance of giving airports
the freedom to diversify their
revenue streams when it passed the
FAA Reauthorization Act of 2018
(the Act). Section 163 of the Act
includes direction for FAA to work
with operators to facilitate airport
property development.

Importance of a Diverse
Revenue Stream
Aeronautically derived revenue
includes revenues that depend on
passengers and aircraft movements,
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such as landing fees, terminal
rents, food and retail sales, and
auto parking. Non-aeronautically
derived revenue does not depend
on airport activity, and may include
commercial and industrial ground
leases, resource extraction, and
power generation. From 2009 to
2018, large and medium hubs
generated an average of around 7
percent of total revenues from nonaeronautically derived sources,
while small hubs generated 11
percent and non-hubs generated 19
percent (FAA Certification Activity
Tracking System (CATS) 2020).
Aeronautically derived sources
are a core part of any airport’s
balance sheet, but economic
declines that have affected air travel
illustrate the risks associated with
a lack of diversification. Following
the recession starting in 2008,
total revenues did not exceed prerecession levels until 2013, and total
enplanements did not recover until
2015 (FAA Terminal Area Forecast
(TAF) 2020). Global projections for
2020, due to impacts of COVID-19,
suggest that airports worldwide
will lose 4.6 billion passengers
and $97 billion in revenues. While
no amount of diversification will
fully shield airports from the
effects of global pandemics, nonaeronautically derived revenue was
the more stable of the two types
following the 2008 recession (FAA
CATS, 2020).
While the growth rates for each
hub class vary (Table 1), nonaeronautical grew faster than
aeronautical across each class
except at non-hubs. Strong growth
at medium and small hubs, which
saw passenger numbers recover
more slowly than large and nonhubs following the 2008 recession
(Figure 1), underscores how revenue
diversification can help mitigate
sluggish passenger growth.
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TABLE 1 AVERAGE ANNUAL GROWTH RATES FOR PASSENGERS AND REVENUES 2009-2018
REVENUES2

PASSENGER
ENPLANEMENTS1

Total

Aero. Derived

Non-Aero. Derived

Large

2.1%

3.4%

3.4%

3.9%

Medium

1.3%

0.5%

0.4%

2.1%

Small

0.5%

5.3%

5.2%

5.9%

Non

0.8%

3.3%

3.4%

2.5%

Total

1.7%

2.1%

3.0%

3.7%

HUB SIZE

Sources: 1 - (FAA TAF, 2020), 2 - (FAA CATS, 2020).
Non-aeronautically derived revenues include “4.1. Land and non-terminal facility leases and revenues” and “4.8 Other” from the CATS. Revenues
for each year adjusted to $2019.

Figure 1 Passenger Enplanement Index 2009-2018
1.30

Enplanement Index (2009=1.00

1.25
1.20
1.15
1.10
1.05
1.00
0.95
0.90
2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

FAA Fiscal Year
2009 Baseline

Large

Medium

Small

Non

Total

Source: (FAA TAF, 2020)
The importance of revenue diversification is illustrated by airport financial reports. The following examples showcase some best practices
being employed by airports across the country.
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Diversify through Planning
and Action
Non-aeronautical land use
development decisions on and
off airport offer one possibility to
diversify revenue on which airports
across the country have successfully
capitalized. The following examples
show different approaches to
meet the end goal of revenue
diversification.

In Planning
Kern County, California, responded
to its emerging reputation as a
distribution hub by planning a
commerce center when Amazon
decided to build its distribution
center near the Meadows Field
Airport. As other large retailers
took notice of the county’s other
desirable commercial traits, the
airport began assessing its ability
to meet market demand. “A ground
logistics opportunity would
complement our connection to

air cargo and create synergies for
Amazon’s supply chain solutions,”
said Mark Witsoe, A.A.E., Kern
County director of airports. The
airport engaged in a due diligence
and feasibility study to identify
surplus airport property primed
for large commercial retailers
and supporting land uses — some
280 acres to support 4 million
square feet of non-aeronautical
development.
Pasco Tri-Cities Airport in
Washington has reserved property
for a business park that supports
the growing local economy and
provides the airport with additional
revenue. Director Buck Taft, C.M.,
engaged FAA with a Section 163
request to release the property
within the business park from
FAA land-use approvals and make
it easier to accommodate future
tenants. “This release means that
the airport can capitalize more
quickly on opportunities as they
come,” explained Taft. “Private

developers do not want to wait for
months and years as they used
to during the previous FAA land
release process.” The airport is
going to work with developers
to design their sites with height
limitations in mind, helping
facilitate FAA airspace review.
Denver International (DEN)
continues the planning and
development of its Global Gateway.
With approximately 53 square
miles of property, the DEN Real
Estate Strategic Development
Plan supports the airport’s core
aviation mission by capitalizing
on DEN’s size and location to
create innovative, sustainable and
economically beneficial commercial
development of the airport’s nonaviation land.

In Operation — Land Lease
Rifle Garfield County Airport,
on the western slope of Colorado,
is putting an embankment along
the runway to use by leasing the
property for development of a
five-acre, 858-kilowatt community
solar garden. The airport generates
revenue through the lease of the
land to a partnership between the
developer, Clean Energy Collective
and Holy Cross Energy. While
the property location and slope
make it unsuitable for traditional
development, the airport created
a use that benefits itself, the
community, and the environment.

In Operation — Land Sale
Horry Country, South Carolina,
was able to work with FAA to sell
property to the U.S. Department
of Veteran’s Affairs (VA) for an
outpatient treatment facility that
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Like all forms of resiliency, financial resiliency
requires planning and action. As with any investment
strategy, diversification stabilizes income when one
sector in the portfolio experiences a downturn.
will benefit the veterans in and
around Myrtle Beach. Originally
acquired as part of a base closure,
close coordination with the
U.S. Air Force was necessary
to address use restrictions and
environmental concerns. The VA
required ownership of the property
compared to a long-term lease,
requiring a full land release request
from FAA. Airport Director Scott
Van Moppes, A.A.E., indicated the
funds from the sale will be used
solely for FAA-approved projects,
primarily to address rehabilitation
of the taxiways and lighting on
the airfield.

Relevant Guidance
There are more options to prepare
property for non-aeronautical
purposes than there used to be. FAA
planners and program managers are
working with sponsors to navigate
the FAA process. The Airport
Cooperative Research Program
(ACRP) has guidance, checklists
and case studies. Just as important
as FAA guidance, local zoning and
planning bodies have procedures
and requirements that must be
met regardless of what sort of
development is planned.

FAA Grant Assurances and
Section 163 of the 2018 FAA
Reauthorization Act
Diversifying an airport’s financial
portfolio through non-aeronautical
development is only advantageous
if it does not produce incompatible
land uses, compete for shared
infrastructure, and conflict with

federal grant assurances. Until
recently, all lands at federal
obligated airports were subject to
regulation by FAA as a condition
of federal grant assurances. The
FAA Reauthorization Act of 2018
included provisions that prohibit
federal regulation of property that
has no prior federal investment
and is not needed for protection
of aviation and aviation purposes.
While guidance is being prepared,
airports already are taking
advantage of this provision and
working cooperatively with FAA
to establish where projects may
proceed with lower levels of FAA
oversight than previously required.

ACRP 176, Revenue
Generation
ACRP Report 176, Generating
Revenue from Commercial
Development on or Adjacent
to Airports, is a resource for
developing airport land for nonaeronautical uses. Report 176
addresses three basic questions:
What do I need to know about this
type of pursuit? What resources
do I have? What do I do next? It
provides self-assessment checklists,
case studies, and marketing and
legal considerations to understand
the opportunities and challenges
for non-aeronautical development of
airport property.

Local Policies and Procedures
Development requires coordination
with local zoning and planning.
Planning bodies across the country
have added revenue generation

potential and financial resiliency
to their traditional focus of airport
land use compatibility. Destination
zoning is one strategy to promote
airport revenue generation by
creating land uses around an airport
that will themselves generate traffic
and new business opportunities.
Airports have a considerable self
interest in promoting certain zoning
and land uses in areas around the
airport that are not only compatible
but also will specifically help
generate airport revenue sources. A
market analysis, which assesses the
economic base, supply and demand,
and buyer profile, can further
inform airports about the land
development opportunities and the
target market for the airport’s nonaeronautical areas.
Like all forms of resiliency,
financial resiliency requires
planning and action. As with any
investment strategy, diversification
stabilizes income when one sector
in the portfolio experiences a
downturn.
Creative problem solving, such
as turning land not suitable for
business or industrial into a
solar farm, or working with local
authorities on rezoning, can
unlock development potential.
Airport sponsors can use industry
publications and case studies of
other airports to show local land
use regulators how non-aeronautical
development on and near airports
can generate jobs and keep a
regional asset financially selfsufficient in uncertain times.
Mitchell Hooper is department manageraviation, Mead & Hunt. He may be reached
at mitchell.hooper@meadhunt.com.
Contributions to this article were made by
Mead & Hunt staff members Brad Rolf, Eric
Laing, Maranda Thompson, Sondra Retzlaf
and Stephanie Ward.
https://www.aaae.org/revenue
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